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FOREWORD

TuouGH the Scottish Highlander is proverbially tenacious
of the memories of his race, and almost invariably well-
informed regarding the descent and relationship of his
clan, there has hitherto been a notorious lack of collected
information regarding the individual histories and tradi-
tions of the Highland tribes. Of several of the clans
there are admirable monographs in existence, and for the
general history of the Gael one may consult books like
Skene’s Celtic Scotland and Browne’s History of
the Highlands; but in the way of a collection of
histories of the separate clans nothing sufficiently detailed
has been available. The present work is designed to
supply in convenient shape information regarding each
clan which is only to be found in widely scattered quarters
elsewhere. On thorny points, like the chiefship of the
MacDonalds, the headship of Clan Chattan, and the
relationship of the MacArthurs and the Campbells, it is
hoped that the facts have been stated without bias. It
is hoped also that, while it would be impossible, within
even a generous compass, to furnish complete narratives
of all that is known of each clan, the net has been cast
sufficiently wide to include all events of real importance,
and to show their relationship, causes, and effects in a
reasoned narrative. \With only a very few alterations the
list of septs put forward by Mr. Frank Adams in his
excellent compendium of the Highland Clans, Septs, and
" Regiments has been adopted, and it is hoped that the
reproduction of the spirited colour prints from Mclan’s
celebrated Clans of the Scottish Highlands, now almost
unobtainable, will add a further feature of interest.

GEORGE EYRE-TODD.
1X
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INTRODUCTION

For some time past there have been signs of a
reawakening of interest in all matters pertaining to the
Highlands, and Mr Eyre-Todd has taken up the task of
meeting a wide demand which has arisen for information
as to the origins and fortunes of the various clans and
their principal families. At present the only book
claiming to give a comprehensive view of this subject is
Mclan’s Clans of the Scottish Highlands, but that
work, published three-quarters of a century ago, is rarely
met with and is valuable mainly on account of its pictures.
Since it appeared the horizon of inquiry has been
considerably widened by the publication of documents
from the national archives and the charter chests of
private families, and many of the spurious pedigrees and
absurdities of earlier writers, such as Douglas in his
Baronage of Scotland, have been swept away, though
they will no doubt continue to be quoted by superficial
writers. In Celtic Scotland (1880) the late Dr W. F.
Skene devoted a chapter and part of the Appendix to the
clans and their genealogies, and his conclusions are often
accepted as final and authoritative; but he is by no means
a safe guide, on account of his fatal propensity for setting
up theories on insufficient foundations, and his blind
devotion to the MS. of 1467. His previous work,
The Highlanders of Scotland (1837), is practically
thrown overboard in Celtic Scotland, and may be
ignored by the modern student (except perhaps with the

notes in Dr Macbain’s edition of 1902). In the present
X1



xii INTRODUCTION

century several books of more or less authority giving
histories of individual clans have appeared, but no
serious attempt had been made to deal with the clans
generally until Mr Eyre-Todd boldly essayed the gigantic
task. He brings to this task an open mind and good
judgment, and the readers of his pages, whether agreeing
with him or not in every detail—and he may expect
considerable disagreement—cannot but feel that he has
been animated by a sincere desire to get at the truth of
things, and that on the whole he has treated his subject
in a fair and sympathetic manner. I wish him every
success.

A. M. MACKINTOSH.

August, 1923.




THE HIGHLAND CLANS

IT is now well understood that the Celts originally came
out of the east. Guest, in his Origines Celticce
describes the routes by which they streamed across Europe
and along the north coast of Africa in a bygone century.
The migration did not stop till it had reached the shores
of the Atlantic. The Celtic flood was followed within the
Christian era by the migrations of succeeding races—
Huns, Goths, Vandals, Franks, these variously called
themselves—and before the successive waves the Celts
were driven against the western coast, like the fringe of foam
driven up by wind and tide upon a beach. This proocess
was seen in our own islands when the British inhabitants
were driven westward by the oncoming waves of Saxons,
Angles, and Danes in the fifth and following centuries.
Thus driven against the western shores these Celts were
known, down to the Norman Conquest, as the Britons or
Welsh of Strathclyde, of Wales, and of West Wales or
Cornwall.

In the north, beyond the Forth and among the
mountain fastnesses, as well as in the south of Galloway,
the Celtic race continued to hold its own. By the Roman
chroniclers the tribes there were known as the Caledonians
or Picts. Between the Forth and the Grampians were the
Southern Picts, north of the Grampians were the Northern
Picts, and in Galloway were the Niduarian Picts. To
which branch of the Celtic race, British or Gaelic, or a
separate branch by themselves, the Picts belonged, is not
now known. From the fact that after the Roman legions
were withdrawn they made fierce war upon the British
tribes south of the Forth, it seems likely that they were
not British. Dr. W. F. Skene, in his Highlanders of
Scotland, took elaborate pains to prove that the Picts were
Gaelic, an earlier wave of the same race as the Gaels or
gcots who then peopled Ireland, at that time known as

cotia.

Exactly how these Scots came into the sister isle is not
now known. According to their own tradition they
derived their name from Scota, daughter of one of the
Pharoahs, whom one of their leaders married as they

passed westward through Egypt, and it is possible they
VoL. I. I A
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may be identified with the division of the Celtic tribes
which passed along the north coast of Africa. According
to Gaelic tradition the Scots migrated from Spain to the
south of Ireland. According to the same tradition they
brought with them the flat brown stone, about nine inches
thick, known as the Lia Fail, or Stone of Destiny, on
which their kings were crowned, and which was said to
have been Jacob’s pillow at Bethel on the plain of Luz.
From Ireland they began to cross into Kintyre—the
¢ Headland ’—in the sixth century. Their three leaders
were Fergus, Lorn, and Angus, sons of Erc, and their
progress was not always a matter of peaceful settlement.
Fergus, for instance, made a landing in Ayrshire, and
defeated and slew Coyle the British king of the district,
whose tumulus is still to be seen at Coylesfield, and whose
name is still commemorated as that of the region, Kyle,
and in popular rhymes about *“ Old King Cole.”

In Kintyre and the adjoining neighbourhood the
invaders established the little Dalriadic kingdom, so
called from their place of origin in the north-east of
Ireland, Dal-Riada, the ‘“ Portion of Riada,’’ conquered
in the third century by Fergus’s ancestor, Cairbre-Riada,
brother of Cormac, an Irish King. They had their first
capital at Dun-add near the present Crinan Canal, and
from their possession the district about Loch Awe took the
name of Oire-Gaidheal, or Argyll, the ¢ Land of the Gael.¥

These settlers were Christian, and the name of their
patron saint, Kiaran, remains in Kilkiaran, the old name
of Campbeltown, Kil-kiaran in Islay, Kilkiaran in Lismore,
and Kilkerran in Carrick, which last, curiously enough,
is a possession of the Fergusons at the present hour. The
invasion, however, received one of its strongest impulses
from a later missionary. Columba crossed from Ireland
and settled in Iona in the year 563, and very soon, with his
followers, began a great campaign of Christian conversion
among the Northern Picts. The Picts and early Britons,
as is shown by their monuments and the folk-customs they
have handed down to us, were worshippers of Baal and
Ashtaroth. Columba’s conversion of Brud, king of the
Northern Picts at his stronghold at Inverness, opened up
the whole country to the Gaelic influence. By and by
marriages took place between the Pictish and the Gaelic
royal houses, and these led, in the ninth century, to dis-
putes over the succession to the Pictish crown. In the
struggle which followed, Alpin, king of the Scots, was
beheaded by the Picts on Dundee Law, in sight of his own
host. But the whole matter was finally decided by the
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victory of Alpin’s son, Kenneth II., over the last Pictish
army, in the year 838, at the spot called Cambuskenneth
after the event, on the bank of the Forth near Stirling.
Six years later Kenneth succeeded to the Pictish throne.

The history of these early centuries is to be gathered
from Adamnan’s Life of Columba, the Annals of Tigher-
nac, the Annals of Ulster, the Albanach Duan, Bede's
Chronicle, and other works.

By that time another warlike race had made its appear-
ance on the western coasts. At their first coming, the
Dalriads or Scots from Ireland had been known as
Gallgael—Gaelic strangers. The new piratical visitors
who now appeared from the eastern shores of the North
Sea, received the name of Fion-gall or °‘fair-haired
strangers.”” 'Worshippers of Woden and Thor, they
proved at first fierce and bitter enemies to the Christian
Picts and Gaels, slaying the monks of Iona on their own
altar, and even penetrating so far as to burn Dunbarton,
the capital of the Britons of Strathclyde, in the year 780.
In the face of this menace, Kenneth, in the year of his
victory over the Picts, removed the Lia Fail from his own
stronghold of Dunstaffnage on Loch Etive, to Scone on
the Tay, transferred the bones of Columba from Iona to
Dunkeld, and fixed his own royal seat at the ancient
capital of the Southern Picts, Forteviot on the Earn.
This remained the capital of the Scoto-Pictish kings for
two centuries, till in 1057 Malcolm Canmore, son of the
‘“ gracious ’> Duncan and the miller’s daughter of
Forteviot, overthrew Macbeth, and set up the capital of
his new dynasty at Dunfermline.

Meanwhile the Norsemen overran not only the Western
Isles but much of the northern part of the country. For
a time it was an even chance whether ancient Caledonia
should become Norseland or Scotland. Under Malcolm
Canmore and his sons, however, the Scots pushed their
conquests south of the Forth, annexed Strathclyde,
Northumberland, and Westmoreland, and became a for-
midable power in the land. David I. fortified his dynasty
against attack by planting the country with Norman and
English barons and introducing the feudal system; and
the final issue with the Norsemen was fought out by the
last of his race, the last of the Celtic line of kings,
Alexander III., at the battle of Largs in 1263.

It is about this period that the traditional history of
most of the Highland clans makes a beginning. It was
long the custom to attribute the origin of all these clans to
a Gaelic source. The late Dr. W. F. Skene wrote his
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book, The Highlanders of Scotland, to show that many of
the clans, particularly in the more eastern and northern
parts of the Highlands, must have been of Pictish origin.
Without going into the somewhat elaborate details of his
evidence and argument, with later modifications in his
Celtic Scotland, it may simply be said that the proposition
appears reasonable. Nor would it appear less honourable
to be descended from the ancient Pictish race of Caledonia
than from the Scottish race which crossed the narrow seas
from Ireland. The record of the Picts includes their
magnificent and victorious struggle against the Roman
legions, their defeat of the British Arthur himself at
Camelon in 537, and the overthrow of Egcfrith of
Northumbria at Nectansmere in Fife in the year 835. But
it must be remembered that the Norse race has also con-
tributed to the origin of the clans. The names of the
ancient MacLeod chiefs—Torquil, Tormod, and the like—
would of themselves be enough to point this out; and it
must be remembered that the wife of the mighty Somerled,
from whom all the Macdonald and several other clans are
descended, was sister of Godred the Norwegian King of
Man. It is equally certain that several clans are of
Anglian and Norman origin. The Murrays claim descent
from Freskin the Fleming. The Gordons, whether
Gordon or Seton, are Norman from the Scottish Border.
And the Macfarlanes, cadets of the older Earls of Lennox,
are of Northumbrian, or Anglian source. Nothing could
be more interesting than the process by which families of
such various origin, in the course of a few generations
became so impregnated with the spirit of their surround-
ings as to be practically indistinguishable in instinct and
characteristics. Sir Walter Scott had the Highlanders as
a whole in view when he framed his famous and apt
description of ‘“ Gentlemen of the north, men of the south,
peo;la‘le of the west, and folk of Fife.”

he clan system no doubt took its origin largely from
the mountainous nature of the country in which the people
found themselves, each family or tribe living in its own
glen, separate from the rest of the world, and too remote
from any capital to be interfered with by a central govern-
ment. In these circumstances, as in similar circumstances
elsewhere, Afghanistan and Arabia, for instance, the
father of the family naturally became the ruler, and when
the family grew into a tribe he became its chief. In later
days, when great combinations of related clans were
formed, the chief of the strongest branch might become
captain of the confederacy, like the Captain of Clanranald
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and the Captain of Clan Chattan. The chiefship was
inherited by the eldest legitimate son, but it must be
remembered that in the Highlands the son of a *‘ hand-
fast ’’ union was considered legitimate, whether his parents
were afterwards married or not. Handfasting was a form
of trial marriage lasting for a year and a day. 1If it proved
unfruitful it could be terminated at the end of that time,
but sometimes a chief might die or be slain before his
handfast union could be regularised, and in this case his
son was still recognised as his heir. The system arose
from the urgent desirability of carrying on the direct line
of the chiefs.

Another outcome of a state of society in which the
rights and property of the tribe had constantly to be
defended by the sword was the custom of tanistry. If the
heir of a chief happened to be too young to rule the clan
or lead it in battle the nearest able-bodied relative might
succeed for the time to the chiefship. This individual was
known as the tanist. A conspicuous example of the work-
ing of the law of tanistry was the succession of Macbeth
to the crown of his uncle, King Duncan, notwithstanding
the fact that Duncan left several sons, legitimate and
illegitimate. By his right as tanist Macbeth ruled
Scotland ably and justly for seventeen years.

By writers on the customs of the clans a good deal has
been made of the so-called law of gavel. It is supposed
that under this *‘ law >’ the whole property of a chief was
divided among his family at his death, and Browne, in his
History of the Highlands, accounts by the action of this
‘“ law ”’ for the impoverishment and loss of influence which
overtook some of the clan chiefs. By this process, he says,
the line of the chiefs gradually became impoverished while
the senior cadet became the most powerful member of the
clan and assumed command as captain. There seems,
however, some misunderstanding here, for the law of gavel
would apply equally to the possessions of the senior cadet.
The *‘ law ** of gavel probably meant no more than this.
A chief portioned out his lands to his sons as tenants.
When his eldest son succeeded as chief, as these tenancies
fell in, he portioned out the lands in turn to his own sons
in the same way. Thus the nearest relatives of the chief
were always the men of highest rank and most influence
in the clan, while the oldest cadets, unless they had secured
their position in time by their own exertions, were apt to
find their way to the ranks of the ordinary clansmen. As
all, however, claimed descent from the house of the chief,
all prided themselves upon the rank of gentlemen, and



6 THE HIGHLAND CLANS

behaved accordingly. To this fact are owed the high and
chivalrous ideas of personal honour which have always
characterised the Scottish Highlander.

As an acknowledgment of his authority all the clansmen
paid calpe or tribute to the chief, and when outsiders—
sometimes inhabitants of a conquered district, or members
of a ‘“ broken '’ clan, a clan without a head—attached
themselves to a tribe, they usually came under a bond of
manrent for offence and defence, and agreed to pay the
calpe to their adopted chief. If a clansman occupied more
than an eighth part of a davach of land, he also paid the
chief a further duty, known as herezeld. The fundamental
difference between the clan system of society and the feudal
system which was destined to supersede it, was that the
authority of the clan chief was based on personal and blood
relationship, while that of the feudal superior is based upon
tenure of land.

Of the origin of the Highland costume not much is
known. The kilt is one of the primitive garments of the
world; it is one of the healthiest and probably the hand-
somest, and there can be no question that for the active
pursuits of the mountaineer it is without a rival. In its
original form, as the belted plaid, it afforded ample
protection in all weathers, while leaving the limbs
absolutely free for the most arduous exertions. The
earliest authentic mention of the kilt appears to be that in
the Norse history of Magnus Barefoot, with whom Malcolm
Canmore made his famous treaty. According to that
document, written about the year 1097, Magnus, on
returning from his conquest of the Hebrides, adopted the
dress in use there, and went about bare-legged, having a
short tunic and also an upper garment, ‘‘ and so men
called him Barefoot.”” Next, in the fifteenth century is
the notice by John Major, the historian, who mentions that
the Highland gentlemen of his day ‘‘ wore no covering
from the middle of the thigh to the foot, clothing them-
selves with a mantle instead of an upper garment, and a
shirt dyed with saffron.”

As for the tartan, in Miss Donaldson’s Wanderings in
the Highlands and Islands, a proposition is made that the
numbers of colours employed had a relation to the rank of
the wearer—that eight colours were accorded to the service
of the altar, seven to the king, and so on in diminishing
number to the single dyed garment of the cumerlach or
serf. In view, however, of the fact that all the members
of a clan wear the same tartan, and that the tartans of
some of the greatest clans contain but a small number of
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colours, such a theory obviously will not bear examination.
The earliest costumes of the clansmen appear to have been
not of tartan at all, but of plain colour, preferably saffron.
Certain early references, like that of Aldhelm, Bishop of
Sherborne in g70, and that of Ossian when describing a
Caledonian woman as appearing in robes ** like the bow
of the shower,”” are by no means conclusive as referring
to tartan. As variety came to be desired, each clan would
use the natural dyes most easily procured in its district,
and the easiest pattern to weave was one of simple warp
and woof. By and by a clansman would come to be
identified by the local pattern he wore, and before long
that pattern would come to be known as the tartan of his
clan. Whether or not this describes the actual origin of
the Highland tartans, there can be no question as to their
suitability for the purposes of the hunter and the warrior,
to whom it was important to be as little conspicuous as
possible on a moor or mountain-side. It was also of value
to the clansmen in battle, who required readily to
distinguish between friend and foe. After the last great
Highland conflict at Culloden, it is said, the dead were
identified by their tartans, the clansmen being buried, each
with his own tribe, in the long sad trenches among the
heather. To the Highlander the garb of his forefathers
has always justly counted for much. Sir Walter Scott
gave immortal expression to the feeling when he made
the Duke of Argyll and Greenwich exclaim to Jeanie
Deans, ‘‘ The heart of MacCailean More will be as cold
as death can make it, when it does not warm to the tartan.”



CLAN BUCHANAN

BADGE : Dearcag monaidh (vaccineum uliginosum) Bilberry.
SLOGAN : Clairinch!

THE name of the Clan Buchanan is almost alone among
those of Highland families in being derived, not from a
personal ancestor, but from the lands on which the Clan
was settled. These lands extended of old along the east
shore of Loch Lomond, from the borders of Drymen parish
northward for some eighteen miles, and included, besides
Ben Lomond itself, as fine a stretch of country—strath and
mountain—as any in the Highlands. Branches of the
Clan also owned lands in the neighbouring parish of
Drymen, and on both sides of the Water of Endrick, which
here enters the Queen of Scottish Lochs, as well as about
Killearn and Balfron and further east at Arnpryor, near
Kippen; so that a good deal more than the actual parish
of Buchanan may be considered as the old Buchanan
country. Strange to say, however, this Buchanan
country does not appear to have been the original territory
owned by the Chiefs of the race in Scotland. According
to the family historian, Buchanan of Auchmar, the
founder of the race was a certain Anselan O’Kyan, of
royal race, like that of the O’Neils in Ireland, who came
over to escape troubles in the sister island about the year
1016, and with his followers took service under Malcolm II.,
at that time engaged in his great struggle against the
invading Danes. For his services in this struggle,
Anselan was granted the lands of Buchanan in Stirling-
shire and of Pitquhonidy and Strathyre in Perthshire.
Anselan further secured his footing in the Buchanan
country. by marrying an heiress of the Dennistoun family,
the lands he got by her including Drumquhassle on the
Water of Endrick.

MacAuslan remained for two centuries and a half the
name of the Chiefs of the family, and it remains, of course,
an independent surname to the present hour. The first
of the race to be styled ‘‘ de Buchanan ’’ was Gillebrid,
who was seneschal to the Earl of Lennox, and flourished
in 1240. Meanwhile, in 1225 Macbeth, the father of
Gillebrid de Buchanan, had obtained from Maelduin, Earl
of Lennox, a charter for the island of Clarinch, near

8
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CLAN BUCHANAN 9

Balmaha, and the name of this island afterwards became
the slogan or battle-cry of the Clan. In 1282 Sir Maurice
de Buchanan received from Donald, the sixth Earl of
Lennox, a charter of the lands of Buchanan themselves,
in which the Chief was granted the privilege of holding
courts of life and limb within his territory, on condition
that everyone sentenced to death should be executed on
the Earl’s gallows at Catter. The charter is printed in
Irving’s History of Dunbartonshire, and the stone in:
which the gallows tree was set is still to be seen beside the
old judgment hill of Catter, on Endrickside. At a later
day Catter was itself for many generations in possession of
a family named Buchanan.

During the wars of succession Maurice, the Chief of
Buchanan, had the distinction of being one of the few
notables of Scotland who would not sign the Ragman
Roll, or swear allegiance to Edward I. of England.
Another of the name, Malcolm de Buchanan, signed the
bond, but the Chief stood firmly for the Independence of
Scotland and the cause of Robert the Bruce. ~Auchmar
records a tradition that, after the defeat at Dalrigh, Bruce
was joyfully received in the Buchanan country by its Chief,
that the King’s Cave, near Inversnaid, takes its name from
this episode, and that Buchanan with the Earl of Lennox
afterwards conveyed the King to safety.

From an early date the family of the Chiefs gave off
branches, many of which remain of note to the present
hour. Thus Allan, second son of Maurice, the ninth
laird, married the heiress of Leny. His line ended in an
heiress, Janet, who married John, son of the eleventh Chief
of Buchanan, and became mother of the twelfth Chief.
The eldest grandson of this pair distinguished himself in
the wars abroad. After the battle of Agincourt, when
France, on the strength of the ‘‘ auld alliance,’”’ asked
help from Scotland, and 7,000 men were sent over, Sir
Alexander Buchanan went at the head of a number of
his clan, and at the battle of Beaugé is said to have
encountered the Duke of Clarence, and, escaping his
thrust, to have pierced him through the left eye, and on his
fall to have carried off his cap or coronet on his spear’s
point. The usual account is that Clarence was slain by
the Earl of Buchan, Constable of France, but in telling
the story, Buchanan of Auchmar quotes the book of
Pluscardine Abbey, and declares that according to the
family tradition it was for this service that the French
King granted the Buchanan Chief the double tressure
flory counterflory, which forms part of the Buchanan arms
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to the present day, and also for crest a hand holding
a ducal cap. Sir Alexander Buchanan was himself
afterwards killed at the battle of Verneuil in 1424.

Sir Alexander’s next brother, Sir Walter, became
thirteenth Laird of Buchanan, while the third brother,
John, inherited his grandmother’s estate of Leny, and
became ancestor of the Buchanans of that branch.

From Thomas, third son of Sir Walter, the thirteenth
Laird, who is stated by Auchmar to have married Isobel,
a daughter of Murdoch Stewart, Duke of Albany, grandson
of King Robert II., came the Buchanans. of Carbeth.
And from Thomas, second son of Patrick, the fourteenth
Laird, came the Buchanans of Drumakil, with its branches,
the Buchanans of The Moss, and others.

An interesting story is told of the founding of the
house of Buchanan of Arnpryor by John, second son of
Walter, the fifteenth Chief, and a daughter of Lord
Graham. In the days of James IV., Arnpryor was in
possession of a laird of the Menzies family. This laird
was childless, and as he began to be oppressed with
years, a neighbour, Forrester of Cardin, on pretence of a
false debt, threatened that, if he did not assign the estate
and castle to him, he would attack and capture them by
force of arms. In his distress Menzies appealed to the
Chief of Buchanan, offering, in return for a guarantee of
protection during his life, to leave his lands and estate to
one of the Chief’s family. The offer was accepted, the
obligation faithfully carried out, and the estate duly left
to the Chief’s second son. ,

Of the descendant of this individual, the Laird of Arn-
pryor in the days of King James V., an amusing story is
told. As the King’s forester was returning to Stirling on
a certain occasion with deer for the royal table, Arnpryor
took the liberty of appropriating the venison for his own
use. He would listen to no remonstrance, declaring with
a laugh that if James was King of Scotland, he, Buchanan,
was King of Kippen. The forester proceeded to Stirling,
and laid his complaint before the King, and forthwith that
monarch, so well known for his exploits in disguise as tfie
Guidman of Ballingeich, betook himself in person to the
gates of Arnpryor. There he was roughly refused
admittance by the porter, who informed him that the laird
was at dinner, and could not be disturbed. James there-
upon ordered the man to inform his master that the King
of Scotland had come to dine with the King of Kippen.
On receipt of the message Buchanan flew to the gate, and
proceeded to make the most profuse and eager apologies.



CLAN BUCHANAN 11

At this, it is said, the King only laughed. He forthwith
joined the laird in partaking of his own royal venison, and
for ever after Buchanan of Arnpryor was known as the
King of Kippen. A signet ring, given by James, is still
in possession of the Chief of Buchanan.

Patrick, the sixteenth Chief of Buchanan, married a
daughter of the Earl of Argyll, while John Buchanan of
Leny married a daughter of the Earl of Menteith, and
both fell at the battle of Flodden in 1513. The clan also
fought bravely for Queen Mary at Pinkie in 1547 and at
Lar:Fside in 1568.

he latter event brought upon the stage of Scottish
history a member of the clan who must always remain
famous as one of the greatest of Scottish scholars and men
of letters. George Buchanan was the third son of Thomas
Buchanan of Mid Leowen, now known as The Moss, on
the water of Blane, some two or three miles south of
Killearn. Thomas Buchanan was the second son of
Buchanan of Drumakil, through whom he had the blood
of a daughter of King Robert III. in his veins. His wife
was Agnes Heriot, of the family of Trabroun in Hadding-
tonshire, and his son George first saw the light in
February, 1506. Thomas Buchanan of Mid Leowen died
early, leaving his widow to struggle valiantly for the
upbringing of her eight children by the frugal cultivation
of the little estate. At the age of fourteen the future
historian was sent by James Heriot, his mother’s brother,
to pursue his studies at Paris University, but two years
later his uncle died, and he was forced to return home.
He next joined the forces of the Duke of Albany, to try a
soldier’s career; but after the hardships of the winter
retreat from Wark Castle suffered a severe illness, and
gave up sword and buckler. He returned to his studies
at St. Andrews and Paris, became preceptor to the young
Earl of Cassillis, and afterwards to a natural son of
James V. Attacking the corruptions of the Greyfriars in
his poem ‘‘ The Franciscan,’”” he was forced to flee to
France in 1539. There he became famous as the greatest
of the Scottish scholars who occupied chairs in the
continental universities. Among those who boasted of
being his pupils was the celebrated Montaigne, while
among his friends were the Scaligers, father and son.
While imprisoned in Portugal by the Inquisition, he
began his famous Latin paraphrase of the Psalms, and he
afterwards gained the notice of Mary Queen of Scots by a
poem on her marriage to the Dauphin. On her return to
Scotland, the Queen chose Buchanan as her Latin tutor,
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and conferred upon him the temporalities of Crossraguel
Abbey, worth 4500 Scots a year. By Mary’s brother, the
Earl of Moray, he was made Principal of St. Leonard’s
College at St. Andrews, and from that time onward he
remained a supporter of that personage. Upon the fall
of the Queen he drew up his notorious ‘‘ Detection *’ of
her doings. Afterwards, under Moray, he was charged
with the education of James VI., and many amusing stories
are told of his discipline of his royal pupil. For a time
he was Keeper of the Privy Seal, and for long he took a
large part in the public affairs of the kingdom; but he is
chiefly remembered now by his two great literary works,
the treatise, De Jure Regni apud Scotos and his Latin
History of Scotland. He died on 28th September, 1582,
and is esteemed as the last and greatest of the Latinists,
and one of the first apostles of modern democracy.

The scholarly tradition of the great Latinist and
historian was followed by the twentieth Chief, Sir John
Buchanan, who in 1618 mortified a sum of 46,000 Soots
for the maintenance of three students of theology in the
University of Edinburgh, and a like sum for the main-
tenance of three students in the University of St. Andrews.
In the records of the Burgh of Dunbarton also, this same
Sir John appears as the donor of various grants for the
erection of a hospital there in 1635 and 1636. His wife
was a daughter of Lord Cambuskenneth, grandson of
the Earl of Mar. Sir George Buchanan, the twenty-first
Chief, commanded the Stirlingshire Regiment in the
Civil Wars of Charles I., fought at the battle of Dunbar,
and was taken prisoner at Inverkeithing.

The reign of John Buchanan, the twenty-second Chief,
proved disastrous to his house. Some of his proceedings,
as narrated by the family historian, possess not a little of
the character of conventional melodrama. On the death
of his first wife, Mary Erskine, daughter of Lord Cardross,
he was left with a daughter, Elizabeth, who appears to
have possessed a will of her own. First he attempted to
make a match for himself with the daughter of Sir John
Colquhoun of Luss, but the young lady jilted him and
married Stirling of Keir, which threw Buchanan into a
palsy that troubled him till his death. He next arranged
a match between his daughter and the son of Buchanan
of Arnpryor, and broke the entail of his estate in order
to leave it to the pair; but the plan was spoilt by the young
lady refusing her consent. To punish her, he made a
disposition of his estate to Arnpryor, but, going to Bath
just then, fell in love with a Miss Jean Pringle, and
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married her. He thereupon cancelled the disposition, and
made an enemy of Arnpryor. He next arranged a
marriage for his daughter with his old friend, Major
Grant, Governor of Dunbarton Castle, to whom he made
a disposition of his estate; but again the girl indignantly
refused. Grant and he thereupon arranged to sell the
Highland part of the estate to clear it of debt. Arnpryor
then, as Buchanan’s man of business, so manipulated
matters that at the death of the Chief in 1682, the whole
estate had to be sold. It was acquired by the third
Marquess of Montrose, grandson of the great Scottish
- general of Charles the First’s time. Buchanan House,
near the mouth of the Endrick, the ancient seat of the
Chiefs, then became the seat of -the Montrose family,
and remained so till about 1870, when it was destroyed by
fire, and was replaced by the present Buchanan Castle.
Parts of the old mansion still remain, and possess
considerable interest of their own.

Elizabeth, daughter of the last Laird of Buchanan, it is
interesting to note, married James Stewart of Ardvorlich,
while her half-sister married Henry Buchanan of Leny.

It was probably owing to the break in the direct line of
the chiefship that the clan took no part in the Jacobite
rebellions of 1715 and 1745, which perhaps was not an
unfortunate circumstance for the bearers of the name.

On the failure of the direct line, the representation of
the ancient race fell to the nearest heir-male of the family.
There is reason to believe that Auchmar’s account of the
clan, published in 1723, had really for its purpose the
advocacy of its author’s own claim to the chiefship as head
of the most recent cadet branch of the family, and there-
fore nearest in blood to the last of the main line.
Nisbet in his Heraldry indicated a different destination.
It was not till a hundred years later, however, that an
authoritative claim was made. In that printed claim it
was declared that the Auchmar branch of the family had
become extinct, and that the chiefship had therefore fallen
to the next nearest cadet branch, that of Buchanan of
Spital or Easter Catter, the old estate of the Knights
Templar in Drymen parish. This family had also come
to possess the lands of an earlier cadet branch, that of
Leny. Thomas Buchanan, tenth laird of Spital, had
married, first, Katherine, ultimate heiress of Henry
Buchanan of Leny, and secondly, Elizabeth, heiress of
John Hamilton of Bardowie. His son, Colonel John
Buchanan of Leny and Spital had, on inheriting the estate
of Bardowie, assumed the name of Hamilton. In 1818
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he was succeeded by his brother, Francis Buchanan,
M.D., an author and man of science, who is said to have
known more about India and its civil and natural history
than any European of his time, and who also assumed
the name Hamilton. On gth July, 1828, Dr. Buchanan
was served heir male to his great-gt.-gt.-gt.-gt.-gt.-gt.-
grandfather, Walter Buchanan of Spital, and established
his claim, the Arnpryor branch being extinct, as Chief of
the Clan Buchanan. The individual through whom he
counted descent was Walter, third son of Walter, the
fifteenth Chief of Buchanan, who became laird of the
property of Spital in 1519, as well as from John, third
son of the twelfth Chief, already mentioned. According
to the tradition of the Leny family, it long held possession
of these lands by the preservation of a small sword with
‘which its ancestor first acquired them. Whoever had the
custody of this weapon and a tooth of St. Fillan was
presumed to have a right to the estate. The sword was
abstracted from Leny in 1745.

The Buchanans of Leny have had an even more
turbulent history than the direct line of their original house
on Loch Lomondside. Qne incident of that history is
recorded on a tombstone still to be seen in the little
kirkyard of Balquhidder, near Strathyre, in what was at
one time the MacLaurin country. At a certain Fair in the
Leny territory, it is said, a MacLaurin ‘‘ innocent '
suffered the indignity of being struck across the face with
the tail of a new-caught salmon. The *‘ innocent *’ could
do little to avenge the insult, but with a loose tongue he
declared that his assailant dared not try the same trick at
the next fair in the MacLaurin country at Balquhidder.
The episode was promptly forgotten by the *‘ innocent,”
but Balquhidder Fair had scarcely begun when a band of
Buchanans was seen coming, fully armed, up the road
from Strathyre. Forthwith the lgiery Cross was sent
round, the MacLaurins mustered, and a battle took place
at Auchinleskine. The MacLaurins were getting the
worst of it when their Chief saw his son cut down. Clay-
more in hand, he shouted his battle-cry, his clan were filled
with the ** miri-cath,’”” or madness of battle, and attacked
so furiously that all the invading Buchanans were slain.
The last two, who tried to escape by swimming the
Balvaig, were shot with arrows, and "the spot is still
Eplgted out as the Linn-nan-Seichachan, the ‘‘ pool of

ight.”

The Buchanans of Loch Lomondside were not, how-
ever, without their feuds and tragedies. Walter, the first
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Laird of Spital, had an illegitimate brother, known as
Mad Robert of Ardwill. This individual got his sobriquet
from a curious incident. He had undertaken, under a
heavy penalty, to secure a certain malefactor for the Laird.
The malefactor died, and Robert’s surety was called upon
to pay up. Mad Robert, however, dug up the corpse,
carried it to the Court, and duly claimed to have performed
his undertaking,

Of the various septs of the Clan, MacAuslans, Mac-
Calmans, and others, many interesting stories might be
told, Chief of these septs probably are the MacMillans,
descended, it is believed, from Methlan, a brother of
Gillebrid de Buchanan, the first of the surname, in the
time of King Alexander II. The MacMillans originally
lived around Loch Tay, with Lawers on the north shore
for their chief seat. From that region, however, they were
driven out by the Chalmerses in the reign of David II.
The MacMile Chief of that time had ten sons, who
settled in various parts of the country. The Chief was
MacMillan of Knapdale in Argylishire, who, it is said,
had a charter from the Lord of the Isles engraved on the
top of a rock; and at the chapel of Kilmory, which was
built by the family, is still to be seen the finely carved
MacMillan’s Cross. For the slaughter of an overbearing
incomer, Marallach Mor, a son of MacMillan of Knapdale,
had to leave the country, and settled beside Loch Arkaig
in Lochaber, where, under the name of MacGille Veol, he
and his descendants performed many doughty deeds as
supporters of Lochiel. They could raise no fewer than a
hundred fighting men to support that Chief’s cause, and
proved themselves ever ready to take part in the most
desperate enterprises. The MacMillans are said to have
lost their Knapdale estate by taking part with their
superior, MacDonald of the Isles, in the cause of the rebel
Ear] of Douglas against King James II. in 1455.

The MacCalmans derive their descent from a brother
of Gillebrid and Methlan, who settled on Loch Etive side
in the time of Alexander III., and there is evidence that
John Ruskin, the famous writer, was one of the race.

Another interesting branch of the Clan is that of
Buchanan of Drumakil, now represented by Sir Alexander
Leith Buchanan of The Ross on Loch Lomondside. This
latter property was acquired in 1624 by Walter Buchanan
of Drumakil, uncle or cousin of George Buchanan the
historian, and it was within the walls of the mansion that,
after the rebellion of 1745, the Marquis of Tullibardine,
elder brother of the second Duke of Athol, was taken
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prisoner. On being seized, he is said to have uttered the
prophecy, ‘‘ There will be Murrays on the Braes of Atholl
when there is never a Buchanan at The Ross!’’ And,
sure enough, the male line of the Buchanans of The Ross
presently came to an end. The heiress, Jean Buchanan of
The Ross, married Hector, son of Colin MacDonald of
Boisdale, who reunited by purchase different properties
which had been alienated from the family estate. At his
seat of Ross Priory, he frequently entertained his brother
Clerk of Session, Sir Walter Scott, and the present laird
is the grandson of his second daughter.

Among more modern members of the Clan who have
attained distinction are Douglas Buchanan, the Gaelic
Cowper, who was a catechist at Kinloch Rannoch in 1755;
Dr. Claudius Buchanan, who died in 1815, famous among
the first of those who induced the British nation to
send the blessings of education and religion to our Indian
empire; Sir George Buchanan, the famous physician and
scientist, whose reports are among the classics of sanitary
literature; and Robert Buchanan, the famous poet and
novelist of our own time.

Still another chapter of the Clan’s history may be said
to have been begun by a holder of the name who left his
native strath at the end of the seventeenth century.
George Buchanan was the younger son of Andrew
Buchanan, Laird of Gartacharan, near Drymen. Migrat-
ing to Glasgow to push his fortune, he took part with the
Covenanters at the battle of Bothwell Bridge, and had a
reward set upon his head. After the Revolution,
however, he appeared as a prosperous maltster in the
town, and was second Deacon-Convener of the Trades’
House, in the time of William and Mary. The old
maltster had four sons, all of whom played a striking part
in the foundation of Glasgow’s prosperity. They were
George Buchanan of Moss and Auchintoshan, Andrew
Buchanan of Drumpellier, Archibald Buchanan of Silver-
banks or Auchintorlie, and Neil Buchanan of Hillington.
All four brothers became great Glasgow merchants, and
built splendid mansions in the city. George was City
Treasurer in 1726, Andrew became Dean of Guild and
Lord Provost, and in 1725 the four brothers founded the
Buchanan Society, now the oldest charitable institution in
Glasgow, with the exception of Hutchesons’ Hospital.
The Society has a handsome income from funds of its own.
It has supported many a promising youth of the Buchanan
Clan or its septs through college to a useful career in the
world, and the amount of solid good that it has done in
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the couple of centuries since it was founded must remain
beyond computation. At the present hour the Society is
a large and thriving brotherhood, and its annals, begun
by the late Mr. Gray Buchanan, and now on the eve of
publication under the editorship of Dr. R. M. Buchanan,
are certain to excite wide interest, as they will form the
latest chapter in the long history of this ancient Clan.

SEPTS OF CLAN BUCHANAN

Colman Dove
Donlevy Dowe

Dow Gilson

Gibb Harper
Gilbertson Lennie
Harperson Macaldonich
Macandeoir MacAuslan
MacCalman MacCalmont
MacCammond MacChruiter
MacColman MacCormack
Macdonleavy MacGibbon
MacGilbert Macgreusich
Macinally Macindoer
Macindoe MacMaster
MacMaurice MacMurchie
MacMurchy Macnuyer
MacWattie MacWhirter
Masterson Murchie
Murchison Risk

Ruskin Spittal
Spittel ‘Watson
Watt Yuill
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CLAN CAMERON

BADGE : Dearcag fithich (empitium nigrum) crowberry.
SLOGAN : Chlanna nan con thigibh a so ’s gheibh sibh feoil.
PiBrocH : Locheil’s March, also Ceann na drochait mohr.

IN all the Highlands there is no clan mare famous at ance
for valour and chivalry than Clan Cameron. Their deeds
of bravery in the Great Glen and out of it are not marked
by the bloody ruthlessness which characterises so much
West Highland story, and alike for the chivalry with

which he took up the cause of Prince Charles Edward

when it seemed a forlorn hope, and for the influence which
he exercised on the Highlanders during the entire
rebellion, the Gentle Lochiel, as he was called, of that
time remains on the page of history a type of his family
and race.

The name Cameron signifies Crooked Nose, and the
story of the founder of the race remains embedded in the
traditions of the West Highlands. In a corrupted form
that story may be found in the opening chapter of James
Ray’s Compleat History of the Rebellion of 1745, and the
present writer has heard it direct from the shepherds’
firesides in Lochaber. The tradition runs that the first-of
the Camerons was not a Gael, but of British or Cymric
race, and came originally from Dunbartonshire. Being a
‘“ bonnie fechter’ he was engaged in many quarrels,
and in one of these suffered the disfigurement which gave
him the name which he handed on to his descendants.
Dunbartonshire having become too hot for him, he made
his way to far Lochaber. There the Chief of the
MacFhearguises was at the time in danger of béing over-
come by a neighbouring clan with which he was at feud.
He welcomed the stranger, and made him the offer of his
daughter’s hand and a fair estate for his assistance. This

offer Cameron accepted, and, having vanquished his |

host’s enemies, found a settlement in the neighbourhood

which his descendants have retained to the present day.

A quaint part of the tradition as detailed by Ray is that,

at a critical stage of his adventure, Cameron betook

himself to his old nurse at Dunbarton. This dame, who
18
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was a noted witch, furnished her foster-son with a parcel
of thongs, which she told him to tie to a fox’s tail. This
fox he was to let loose, and all the land it should run over
on its escape should become his. Further, it would be
converted to the same sort of territory as the last which
the thongs touched on his father-in-law’s estate. The
sequel may be given in Ray’s own words. ‘¢ That
Cameron might have a good estate as well as a large one
he let the fox loose upon a fine meadow just bordering
upon MacDonald of Glengarry’s estate, expecting to have
all the promised land and that it would consist of fine
meadows. The charms were performed with great
ceremony, and the fox turned out as the old woman
directed; and, that he might travel the faster and take
the course they desired, they set dogs after him. The
creature, glad of his liberty, and willing to preserve his
life, endeavoured to elude their chase by running into a
little brook which passed through the meadow where he
was set at liberty. The dogs then entirely lost him, and
he kept along the channel till he came to the estate of
Glengarry. Water being the last thing the enchanted
thongs touched, as fast as the fox ran the land was over-
flowed, so that in the space of a few hours all the country
for several miles together became one continued loch.
The MacDonalds, affrighted at this sudden inundation,
such of them as had time to escape removed their habita-
tions higher up into the mountains, and left the lake and
the adjacent hills to be peaceably enjoyed by Cameron and
his followers. What became of the fox, or where he
stopped, history does not relate, but from this origin it is
called Lochiel, or the Lake of Thongs, from which the
Chief of the Camerons takes his title.”

According to Ray, the founder of the name was Sir
Hugh Cameron, and the chronicler is good enough, not-
withstanding his strong prejudice against everything
Jacobite, to say that there had been ‘‘ a constant succession
of great men down from Sir Hugh, Knight of the Wry
Nose, to the present Lochiel, famous in the late Rebellion.”
From a later warrior, Donald Dhu, who flourished in the
end of the fifteenth century, the Clan has also been known
as the Race of Donald the Black, and it is from this
ancestor that the usual Christian name of the chiefs of the
present day is derived. There is also a tradition that
Lochiel is not the eldest branch of the family, this having
been known as the Clan MacGillean Obhi, an heroic tribe
mentioned in some of the early poetic fragments ascribed
to Ossian. According to this tradition, Lochiel acquired
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the family property in Lochaber by marriage with the Mac-
Martins of Letterfinlay. _The family genealogies assert,
that the actual ancestor of the Cameron chiefs was_Angus
_who marxxed.a.sxsteaoi.Banun..Than&,quoch&bﬁh.Jﬁln
"_by Macbeth-in-the-eleventh.century,.and.present.a.long
line of chiefs. descended.from this_ worthy, who dis-
tinguished themselves.highly-in-the wars-and.other historic
events of the country.

One of the most famous and desperate of the feuds in
which the Camerons were engaged was that with Clan
Chattan in the end of the fourteenth century, concerning
the lands of Glenluie and Loch Arkaig, to which
Maclntosh, the chief of Clan Chattan, laid claim. In the
course of this feud the Camerons penetrated as far as
Invernahaven at the junction of the Truim and the Spey.
There they were met by Maclntosh at the head of a force
of Maclntoshes, MacPhersons, and Davidsons. Just
before the battle a dispute took place between the
Davidsons and MacPhersons, who each claimed the post
of honour, the right to lead the host. Maclntosh decided
the delicate question in favour of the Davidsons, and as a
result Cluny MacPherson in indignation withdrew his
men. Thus weakened, Clan Chattan was defeated by the
Camerons. That night, however, Maclntosh sent to the
camp of the MacPhersons one of his bards, who treated
the sullen clansmen to a poem in which their conduct in
retiring from the fight was attributed, not to their sense of
honour, but to their cowardice. This so infuriated the
MacPhersons that they made a surprise attack upon the
Camerons, whom they defeated and pursued with great
slaughter to the confines of Lochaber. One of ‘the results
of this encounter remains among the most famous episodes
in Scottish history. The MacPhersons and the Davidsons
proceeded to fight out their claims to precedence with cold
steel, and presently the uproar among the clans became
so great that the King sent the Earls of Crawford and
Dunbar to quell it. In the end it was agreed that the
matter should be decided by a combat between thirty men
on each side, and the upshot was the famous battle within
barriers on the North Inch of Perth, fought before King
Robert I1I. in 1396.

Among those who fought on the side of Donald, Lord
of the Isles, at the battle of Harlaw in 1411, was John
Cameron of Lochiel. The Camerons, however, afterwards
found themselves at feud with the Island Lords and in
this feud suffered most severely, and were broucrht almost
to extinction. It was in this emergency that the famous
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Chief, Donald Dhu, already referred to, achieved fame.
Along with his son, the still more famous Alan Cameron,
he restored the clan to a state of prosperity. Alan obtained
from the Crown feudal charters of the lands of Loch
Arkaig and Lochiel, to which the MacDonalds of Clan
Ranald had laid claim, and by this means dealt a blow at
these Lords of the Isles which materially helped their
downfall. The same Chief engaged in another feud with
the MacIntoshes. At a later day he supported lan
Mudertach when that warrior assumed the chiefship of Clan
Ranald, and he fought alongside the MacDonalds at Glen
Lochy in 1544, when they defeated and killed Lord Lovat
with nearly all his followers. In consequence of this last
achievement the Earl of Huntly was sent into Lochaber
with an overwhelming force, and, seizing Lochiel and
MacDonald of Keppoch, carried them to Elgin, where
they were both beheaded.

Sixty-seven years later, still another disaster befell the
Camerons. In the course of his mission to carry justice
and pacification into the West Highlands, the Earl of
Huntly had obtained certain rights of superiority over
Lochiel’s lands, and in 1594, when the Earls of Huntly
and Errol, representing the Roman Catholic faction in the
country, were making a stand against the Government,
Lochiel’s forces were ranged upon their side. The
Camerons fought on that side at the battle of Glenlivat,
where the Earl of Argyll, commanding the Protestant
forces, was overthrown. For his distinguished share in
this battle Lochiel was outlawed, and lost_part _of his
estate, whichrwasnever-aftérwards recovered. Nine years
later Argyll aftempted to wrest the superiority of the
Camerons’ lands in Lochaber from Huntly, Lochiel
having agreed to become his vassal. On this occasion
a number of the Camerons threw off their allegiance to
Lochiel and entered into a plot to take his life. The
Chief, however, laid an ambush for the plotters, slew
twenty of them, and captured other eight. Again, for
this, the Cameron Chief was outlawed, and Lord Gordon,
Huntly’s son, invading Lochaber, seized him, and
imprisoned him at Inverness.

Perhaps the most famous of all Highland chiefs was
Sir Ewen Cameron of Lochiel. Born in 1629, and
brought up by the covenanting Marquess of Argyll as a
sort of hostage for his clan, he afterwards took the side of
King Charles I. When Cromwell’s forces overran the
country, after the battle of Dunbar, Lochiel held stoutly
out against them. Twice with greatly inferior forces he

i
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defeated the English invaders, and so continually did he
harass the garrison at Inverlochy that he kept it in a state
of siege till the Governor was glad at last to accept peace
on Lochiel’s own terms. The Chief accordingly marched
to Inverlochy with pipes playing and banners flying. He
was reoeived with a guard of honour, entertained to a
feast, and, on giving his word of honour to live in peace,
was not only granted an indemnity for the crimes and
depredations committed by his clan, but had all the loss
sustained by his tenants' made good, and received payment
for the woods on his property which had been destroyed
by the Inverlochy garrison.

The story is told how in one of these fights Lochiel
found himself in death grips with a gigantic English
officer. They lay on the ground together, neither of them
able to reach his weapon. At last the Englishman saw his
chance, and reached out to recover his sword. As he did
so he exposed his throat, and this the Chief in his
extremity seized with his teeth and held till his opponent’s
life was extinct. 'When upbraided at a later day with the
savage act, he declared it was the sweetest bite he had ever
tasted. It is this Chief who is said to have slain with his
own hand the last wolf ever seen in the Highlands of
Scotland, and his hardihood may be gathered from the
story that on one occasion, when sleeping out in the snow,
having observed that one of his sons had rolled together a
snowball for a pillow, he rose and kicked away the support,
exclaiming, ‘‘ Are you become so womanlike that you

cannot sleep without this luxury? ”” It is told of him that °

on oné occasion at a later day he attended the court of
;?.mes VII. to obtain pardon for one of his clan. The

ing received him with honour, and granted his request;
then, purposing to make him a Knight, asked him for his
own sword in order to give special point to the honour.
But the sword was so rusted with the long rainy journey
from Scotland that Lochiel found it impossible to draw it
from its scabbard, whereupon, overwhelmed with shame
before the courtiers, he burst into tears. The King,
however, with ready tact, consoled him. *‘ Do not regard
it, my faithful friend,” he said, ‘‘ had the Royal cause
required it your sword would have left the scabbard
promptly enough.”” He then gave the Chief the accolade
with his own royal weapon, which he forthwith bestowed
upon him as a gift. A day came when Lochiel had an
opportunity of proving the King’s saying true. At the
Revolution, when the Royal Standard was raised in the
Highlands by Viscount Dundee, he joined the Jacobite
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army with his clan, and fought at Killiecrankie. After
urging Dundee to give battle, with the words, ** Fight,
my lord, fight, if you have only one to three! ’’ he himself
charged bareheaded and barefooted in front of his men,
and contributed largely to the victory. He lived, how-
ever, to see great changes, and died in 1719, at the age of
ninety, never, after all, having lost a drop of blood in any
of the fights in which he had been engaged.

The son of this Chief joined the Earl of Mar’s rising
in 1715, and was forfeited for doing so, and it was his
son again—the grandson of Sir Ewen—who was the Gentle
Lochiel of 1745. But for him it is likely that the clans
would never have risen for Prince Charles Edward.
Courageous and loyal, with the highest sense of honour,
he was held in the greatest esteem in the Highlands.
When he went to meet the Prince at Borrodale he was
determined to have nothing to do with a rising, and it
was upon a generous impulse, touched by the forlornness
of the royal adventurer, that, against his better judgment,
he decided to throw in his lot with Charles. Following
Lochiel’s lead the other chiefs came in, and the standard
was raised at Glenfinan. Throughout the rising it was
his influence which restrained the Highlanders from acts
of plunder and violence. On one occasion during the
march to Derby, an Englishwoman who had hidden her
boy .in terror of the cannibal habits which were attributed
to the Highland army, exclaimed as Lochiel entered her
house, ‘“ Come out, my child, this man is a gentleman ;
he will not eat you! > Among other things it is said
Lochiel prevented the sack of Glasgow, and for this
reason the magistrates ordered that whenever Lochiel
should visit the city he should be greeted by the ringing
of the bells. When the Jacobite cause was finally lost at
Culloden he was severely wounded, but he escaped to
France, where his royal master gave him command of a
Scottish regiment. He died abroad in 1748. The events
of that time are commemorated in the well-known piece of
pipe-music, ‘‘ Lochiel’s away to France.”” It is pathetic
to remember that the last victim of the Jacobite cause was
Lochiel’s brother, Dr. Archibald Cameron, who was
arrested on the shore of Loch Katrine during a mission to
this country when the Rebellion was over, and was tried
and executed as a deterrent. ¥

Another member of the clan who figures scarcely les
notably in the literature of that time is Mistress Jean
Cameron. This lady, as tutor for her nephew, Cameron
of Glendessarie, in person brought a large body of the
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Camerons to join the Prince’s Standard at Glenfinan.
The Hanoverian annalists of the time, like Ray, have
taken outrageous liberties with her reputation. Many
writers, like Fielding in his Tom Jones, make suggestive
references to her career. It is certain, however, that at
least one other individual traded upon and besmirched her
name. This person, according to Chambers’ Traditions
of Edinburgh, represented herself as a cast-off mistress of
the Prince, and after imposing upon the sympathies
and support of Edinburgh Jacobites, died in a stair foot
of the Canongate. She masqueraded in men’s clothes
and had a timber leg. The actual Mistress Jean
Cameron of Glendessarie, however, had a character
above reproach. She was a good deal older than the
Prince. In later life she settled at Mount Cameron
in East Kilbride, and, according to Ure’s History of
that parish, she died and was buried there in all the
odour of respectability.

The grandson of the Gentle Lochiel, another Donald
Cameron, was a Captain in the Guards, and married the
Lady Vere. His descendant again, the father of the
present Chief, married a daughter of the fifth Duke of
Buccleuch. And the present Chief himself, who succeeded
in 1905, married Lady Hermione Graham, daughter of
the fifth Duke of Montrose. Lochiel has had a dis-
tinguished career. He served in South Africa during the
war in 1899 and in 1901-2. In 1901 he was aide-de-camp
to the Governor of Madras; and he was a Captain in the
Grenadier Guards till his marriage in 1906. He has also
essayed politics, having contested Sutherlandshire in the
Unionist interest in 1g910. In all matters in which the
welfare of the Highlands is concerned he takes an active
part, and in the great emergency of the war of 1914 he
came forward in a fashion worthy of his ancestors and
characteristic of the Cameron clan, and raised four
additional battalions of Cameron Highlanders for active
service. One of these he himself commanded, and the
esteem in which he is held was proved by the fact that the
men required came forward to join the colours within a
few days after the announcement that Lochiel had received
the commission. Among other achievements, he led his
Camerons in the tremendous charge at Loos in which his
two brothers and so many clansmen fell. It is amply
evident that the present Cameron Chief is as loyal and as
active in his country’s service as any of his ancestors, and
against his name there falls to be written yet another most
notable chapter in the history of the clan.
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SErTS OF CLAN CAMERON

Chalmers Clarkson
Clarke Kennedy
MacGillonie MacChlery
MacKail Macildowie
MacMartin MacOnie
MacOurlje MacPhail
MacSorley MacUlric
Macvail MacWalrick
Martin Paul

Sorley Taylor



CLAN CAMPBELL

BADGE : Garbhag an t-sleibhe (lycopodium selago) Fir club moss.

SLOGAN : Cruachan.

PiBrRocH : Failte 'Mharcuis, also Baile lonaraora, and Cumha
"Mharcuis.

BEHIND Torrisdale in Kintyre rises a mountain named
Ben an Tuire, the ‘ Hill of the Boar.”” It takes its name
from a famous incident of Celtic legend. There, accord-
ing to tradition, Diarmid O’Duibhne slew the fierce boar
which had ravaged the district. Diarmid was of the time
of the Ossianic heroes. The boar’s bristles were
poisonous, and a rival for his lady’s love induced him to
measure the hide with his naked feet. One of the bristles
pricked him, and in consequence he died.

Diarmid is said to have been the ancestor of the race of
O’Duibhne who owned the shores of Loch Awe, which
were the original Oire Gaidheal, or Argyll, the ‘‘ Land of
the Gael.”” The race is said to have ended in the reign of
Alexander III. in an heiress, Eva, daughter of Paul
O’Duibhne, otherwise Paul of the Sporran, so named
because, as the king’s treasurer, he was supposed to carry
the money-bag. Eva married a certain Archibald or
Gillespie Campbell, to whom she carried the possessions
of her house. This tradition is supported by a charter of
David II. in 1368, which secured to the Archibald
Campbell of that date certain lands on Loch Awe ‘‘ as
freely as these were enjoyed by his ancestor, Duncan
O’Duibhne."”’

‘Who the original Archibald Campbell was remains a
matter of dispute. By some he is said to have been a
Norman knight, by name De Campo Bello. The name
Campo Bello is, however, not Norman but Italian. It is
out of all reason to suppose that an Italian ever made his
way into the Highlands at such a time to secure a footing
as a Highland chief; and the theory is too obviously one
of the common and easy and nearly always wrong deriva-
tions of a name by mere similarity of sound. Much more
probable seems a derivation from a personal characteristic
in the usual Gaelic fashion. In this case the derivation
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would be from cam beul, ‘‘ crooked mouth,”” in the same
way as the name Cameron is derived from cam sron,
‘“ crooked nose.”’

For a century and a half the MacArthurs of Strachur,
on the opposite shore of Loch Fyne, appear to have been
regarded as the senior branch of the clan. They certainly
were the most powerful, and Skene in his Highlanders of
Scotland says it is beyond question that they held the
chiefship. Their claim may have been derived through
marriage with a co-heiress of the O’Duibhnes. But with
the execution of the MacArthur chief by James I. at
Inverness in 1427 the Campbells were left as the chief
family of the race of Diarmid.

Colin Mor Campbell of Lochow was knighted by
Alexander III. in 1380, and it is from him that the suc-
ceeding chiefs of the race to the present day have been
known as *‘ Mac Cailean Mor.”” Colin the Great himself
lies buried in the little kirkyard of Kilchrenan above the
western shore of Loch Awe, where his descendant, a recent
Duke of Argyll, placed over his resting-place a stone
bearing the inscription, ‘“ To the memory of Cailean Mor,
slain on the Sraing of Lorne 13———."" High on the hill
ridge opposite, on the eastern side of the loch, a cairn
marks the spot at which the doughty warrior, in the hour
of victory, pursuing his enemy, MacDougall of Lorne, too
far, was overcome and fell.

It was the son of this chief, Nigel or Neil Campbell,
who, espousing the cause of Robert the Bfuce, brought
his family on to the platform of the great affairs of
Scottish history. He befriended the king in his early
wanderings, accompanied him in his winter’s exile in
Rachryn Island, and fought for him at Bannockburn, and
as a reward he received in marriage Bruce’s sister, the
Princess Mary or Marjorie, while the forfeited lands of
David de Strathbogie, Earl of Atholl, were settled on their
second son. From that hour the fortunes of the
Campbells received hardly a check. Having helped, at
the Bridge of Awe, to overthrow Bruce’s enemies, the
powerful Lords of Lorne and of Argyll, they proceeded
piecemeal to supplant them and their kinsmen, the
MacDonalds, and secure their lands. In some cases they
compelled or induced the owners of these lands to assume
the Campbell name. Thus the Campbells of Craignish,
though stated to be descended from Dougall, an illegiti-
mate son of a Campbell of the twelfth century, are
universally understood to have borne the name Mac-
Eachern, and to have been a branch of the MacDonalds.
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In the reign of Bruce’s son, David II., the next Chief
of the Campbells, Sir Nigel’s son, again played an
important part. It was when the entire country was over-
run by Edward Baliol and his English supporters.
Robert, the young High Stewart, suddenly broke out of
concealment in Bute, and stormed the strong castle of
Dunoon. In this enterprise, which inspired the whole
country to rise and throw off the yoke of the invader, the
Stewart was splendidly helped by Colin Campbell of
Lochow. As a reward the Campbell Chief was made
hereditary governor of the stronghold, with certain lands
to support the dignity. This grant brought the Campbells
into conflict with the Lamonts, who were owners of the
surrounding Cowal district, and in course of time they
supplanted them in considerable possessions—the kirk of
Kilmun, for instance, where they first begged a burial-
place for a son whose body could not be carried through
the deep snows to Inveraray, and which remains the
Argyll burying-place to the present hour; also Strath
Echaig at hand, which was obtained from Robert III. as
a penalty for the sons of the Lamont Chief beating off and
slaying some young gallants from the court at Rothesay,
who were trying to carry away a number of young women
of Cowal.

Colin Campbell’s grandson, another Sir Colin, further
advanced his family by marrying a sister of Annabella
Drummond, the queen of Robert III., and his son, Sir
Dincan, married, first a daughter of Robert, Duke of
Albany, son of Robert II. and Regent of Scotland, and
secondly a daughter of Sir Robert Stewart of Blackhall, a
natural son of Robert III. He was one of the hostages
for the redemption of James I. from his English captivity
in 1424, and at that time his annual revenue was stated to
be fifteen hundred merks, a ‘greater income than that of
any of the other hostages. A further sign of his
importance, he was made by James I. Privy Councillor,
the King’s Justiciary, and Lieutenant of the county of
Argyll, and by James II., in 1445, he was raised to the
dignity of a Lord of Parliament by the title of Lord
Campbell.

It was Lord Campbell’s eldest son, Celestine, for whom
a grave was begged for the Lamont Chief at Kilmun.
iThe second son died before his father, leaving a son,
Colin, who succeeded as second Lord Campbell, and
became first Earl of Argyll, while the third son obtained
the lands of Glenurchy, formerly a possession of the
MacGregors, and founded the great family of the
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Campbells of Glenurchy, Earls and Marquesses of
Breadalbane.

Hitherto the seat of the Campbells of Lochow had been
the stronghold of Inchconnel, which still stands on the
island of that name, amid the waters of the loch; but
Glenurchy built for his nephew the first castle at
Inveraray, which continued to be the headquarters of the
family for four centuries. At the same time, during his
absence abroad, his wife is said to have built for him, on
an islet in the northern part of Loch Awe, the strong castle
of Kilchurn, which remains to the present day one of the
most picturesque features of the Highlands. Thenceforth
the history of the Campbells of Breadalbane forms a
separate and highly interesting chapter by itself.

Meanwhile the younger sons of each generation had
become the founders of other notable families. The
second son of Cailean Mor settling on Loch Tayside had
founded the family of Campbell of Lawers, afterwards
Earls of Loudoun, while the fourth son had been made by
Robert the Bruce, Constable of Dunstaffnage, a post held
by his descendant to the present day, and the fifth son,
Duncan, is believed to have been ancestor of the
Campbells of Inverurie, from whom sprang the families of
Kilmartin, Southall, Lerags, and others. The third son
of Sir Nigel Campbel! had founded the house of Menstric,
near Stirling. The second son of Sir Colin, the hero of
Dunoon, had become ancestor of the families of Barbreck
and Succoth. The second son of Sir Colin, the fifth laird,
and Margaret Drummond, was ancestor of the Campbells of
Ardkinglas and their branches, the houses of Ardentinny,
Dunoon, Skipnish, Blythswood, Shawfield, Dergachie,
and others. And younger sons of Sir Duncan, first Lord
Campbell, became ancestors of the Campbells of Auchen-
breck, Glen Saddell, Eileangreig, Ormidale, and others.

Colin, second Lord Campbell, in view of his power and
importance in the west, was made Earl of Argyll by
James II. in 1457. He was appointed Master of the
Household of James III. in 1464. He acted as ambassador
to England and France, and finally was made Lord High
Chancellor of Scotland. By his marriage also he made
conquest of another great lordship. His wife was the
daughter and co-heir of John Stewart, Lord of Lorne, and
by a forced settlement with the lady’s uncle, Walter
Stewart, he obtained in 1470 a charter of the lands and
title of that lordship. Since that time the Galley of
Lorne has by right of descent from the MacDougalls of
Lorne, figured in the Campbell coat of arms. The Earl’s
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second son founded the house of Campbell of Lundie,
while his seven daughters made alliances with some of
the most powerful nobles and chiefs in the country.

Archibald, second Earl of Argyll, was the leader of
the vanguard of James IV.’s army at the disastrous battle
of Flodden. At the head of the Highland clans and
Islesmen he made the victorious rush with which the
battle opened, but as the clansmen scattered to seize their
plunder, the English cavalry charged on their flank, the
Earl fell, and they were cut to pieces. Most notable of
the families founded by his sons was that of Cawdor,
who are Earls of Cawdor at the present time. As
Justiciar of Scotland the Earl did a service to Rose
of Kilravock, for which he received the custody of
Kilravock’s granddaughter, the infant Muriel, heiress of
the thanedom of Cawdor. The messenger sent to bring
the child south had to fight a battle with her seven Cawdor
uncles. Some suspicion of Campbell methods seems to
have been in the mind of the child’s grandmother, old
Lady Kilravock, for before handing her over to Campbell
of Inverliver she thrust the key of her coffer into the fire
and branded her on the thigh. Afterwards, when
Inverliver was asked what he would think if the child that
had cost him so much trouble should die, ‘he is said to
have replied, ‘‘ Muriel of Cawdor will never die, so long
as there is a red-haired lassie on the shores of Loch Awe.”
The Earl married Muriel to his third son, Sir John,
who acquired Islay and played a considerable part in the
affairs of his time. Among other matters he stabbed in
his bed in Edinburgh, Maclean of Duart, who had exposed
his wife, Cawdor’s sister, on a rock in Loch Linnhe, to
be drowned by the tide. From the second Earl descended
the families of Ardchattan, Airds, Cluny, and others, and
from his brother Donald, Abbot of Cupar, Keeper of the
Privy Seal, came the Campbells of Keithock in Forfar-
shire.

Colin, third Earl of Argyll, was by James V. appointed
Master of the Household, Lieutenant of the Border,
Warden of the Marches, Sheriff of Argyll, and Justice-
General of Scotland. His second son, John Gorm, who
was killed at the battle of Langside, was ancestor of the
families of Lochnell, Barbreck, Balerno, and Stonefield,
and his daughter Elizabeth was the wife of the notorious
IS{egent Earl of Moray, half-brother of Mary Queen of

cots.

Archibald, the fourth Earl, was appointed Justice-
General of Scotland by James V., and was the first person
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| of importance in Scotland to embrace the Protestant faith.

He commanded the Scottish right wing at the battle of

| Pinkie in 1547. The fifth Earl, another Archibald,

married a natural daughter of James V. His countess
was the favourite half-sister of Queen Mary, was one of
the Queen’s supper-party at Holyrood when Rizzio was

| murdered, and acted as proxy for Elizabeth of England at

1

the baptism of James VI. She and the Earl entertained
the Queen at Dunoon Castle, and the Earl was commander
of Mary’s army at the battle of Langside. On that

. occasion, whether by sickness or treachery at the critical

moment, he caused the loss of the battle to the Queen. He
was afterwards appointed one of her lieutenants in
Scotland, was a candidate for the regency, and became
Lord High Chancellor.

His half-brother, Sir Colin Campbell of Boquhan,
who succeeded as sixth Earl, was also, in 1579, appointed
Lord High Chancellor. His son, Archibald, the seventh
Earl, had a curious career. In 1594, at the age of eighteen,
he was sent by James VI. to repress the Roman Catholic
Earls of Errol and Huntly, and at the battle of Glenlivat
was completely defeated by them. He afterwards engaged
in suppressing an insurrection of the MacDonalds, with
whom his family had so long been at enmity, and
distinguished himself by repressive acts against those
other neighbours, the MacGregors, whom his family had
for long been ousting, with the result that he nearly
exterminated them. He is suspected of having instigated
them to attack the Colquhouns, and after the battle of
Glenfruin, it was he who secured the MacGregor Chief by
first fulfilling his promise to convey him safely out of
the country, and then, when he had crossed the Border,
arresting and bringing him back to Edinburgh to be tried
and executed. In his later years he went to Spain, became
a Roman Catholic, and took part in the wars of Philip II.

. against the States of Holland.

His son, Archibald, the eighth Earl and first and last
Marquess, for a time held supreme power in Scotland.
Known as Gillespie Grumach, and as the Glied or
squinting Marquess, he was at the head of the Covenanting
Party, and had for his great rival and opponent the
Royalist Marquess of Montrose. In 1633 he resigned

| into the hands of Charles I. the whole Justiciarship of

Scotland except that over his own lands, and in 1641 was
raised to the rank of Marquess of Argyll by that king.
Nevertheless he was the chief opponent of Cl}\'arles in the
Civil War in Scotland. In the field he was no match for
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his brilliant opponent Montrose. At Kilsyth his army
was completely defeated, and at Inverlochy, where he took
to his barge and watched the battle from a safe distance,
he saw the Royalist general cut his army to pieces, and
slay fifteen hundred of his clan. Among his acts in the
war was the burning of the ‘‘ Bonnie House o’ Airlie,”
the home of Montrose’s follower, the chief of the
Ogilvies ; for which act Montrose marched across the hills
and gave Argyll’s own stronghold, Castle Campbell in
the Ochils above Dollar, to the flames. ‘When Montrose
was at last defeated at Philiphaugh, the captured Royalists
were slain in cold blood in the courtyard of Newark Castle
and elsewhere, and when Montrose himself was captured
later, Argyll watched from a balcony in the Canongate as
his enemy was led in rags up the street to his trial and
execution. Then Argyll sent the army of the Covenant
to destroy those old enemies of his family, the MacDonalds
of Kintyre, and the MacDougalls of Dunolly, slaughtering
the three hundred men of the garrison of Dunavertie, and
burning the MacDougall strongholds of Dunolly and
Gylen, while in Cowal he plundered the lands of the
Lamonts, and had over two hundred of the clan butchered
at Dunoon. When the young Charles II. came to
Scotland in 1651 Argyll himself placed the crown on his

head, and is said to have planned to get Charles to marry"

his own daughter, Anne. But after Cromwell’s victory at
Dunbar he assisted in proclaiming him as Protector, and
engaged to support him. It could be no marvel, therefore,
that at the Restoration in 1660 Charles II. resisted his
advances, and that he was presently seized at Carrick
Castle on Loch Goil, carried to Edinburgh, and tried and
beheaded for his acts.

James Campbell, a younger half-brother of the
Marquess, was created Earl of Irvine in 1642, but as he
had no family the peerage expired with him.

The Marquess’ son, Archibald, was restored to the
earldom and estates in 1663, but in 1681, having refused
to conform to the Test Act, he was condemned and
imprisoned in Edinburgh Castle. He made a romantic
escape disguised as a page holding up the train of his
stepdaughter, Lady Sophia Lindsay. But four years
later, in concert with Monmouth’s invasion of England,
he landed in Loch Fyne, raised a force, and was marching
upon Glasgow when, his force having dispersed, he was
seized, disguised, at Inchinnan in Renfrewshire, and
carried to execution at Edinburgh. A famous picture of
the occasion commemorates ‘‘ the last sleep of Argyll.”
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Of the Earl’s four sons the second, John Campbell of
Mamore, was forfeited for taking part in his father’s
expedition, but had his forfeiture rescinded at the Revolu-
tion in 1689, and represented Argyll in the Scottish
Parliament in 1700 and Dunbarton in the first Parliament
of the United Kingdom. The third son, Charles, forfeited
and reinstated in the same way, represented Campbel-
town in the Parliament of 1700. He married Lady Sophia
Lindsay, the stepdaughter who had helped his father to
escape from his first imprisonment in Edinburgh Castle.
The fourth son, James, of Burnbank and Boquhan, in
1690 forcibly carried off Mary Wharton, an heiress of
thirteen, and married her. The marriage was annulled by
Act of Parliament, and oné of Campbell’s accomplices,

. Sir John Johnston, Bart., of Caskieben, was executed at

Tyburn ; but the chief perpetrator escaped to Scotland, to

. become a colonel of dragoons and represent Camgbeltown

|

{

in Parliament. He afterwards married the Hon. Margaret
Leslie, daughter of Lord Newark.

Meanwhile the eldest son, Archibald, was one of the
commissioners sent to offer the crown to William of

Orange. The attainder against his father was reversed

{ at the Revolution, and he was by King William created

Duke of Argyll, with remainder to his heirs male whatso-
ever. He raised a Highland regiment which distinguished

| itself in King William’s continental wars.

His son, John, the second Duke, was one of the
l greatest men of his time. A rival of Marlborough in the
{ continental wars of Queen Anne, he commanded George
I.’s army at the battle of Sheriffmuir in 1715, and through
his energy and ability preserved Scotland for that king.
In 1719 he was made Duke of Greenwich, and in 1735
Field-Marshal commanding all the forces of the kingdom.
A great statesman as well as a soldier, he is referred to
by Pope :
‘“ Argyll, the state’s whole thunder born to wield,

And shake alike the senate and the field.”

And it is he who figures in Sir Walter Scott’s Heart of
Midlothian, as the minister to whom Jeanie Deans appeals
to secure the pardon of her erring sister, Effie. Among
his honours he was a Knight of the Garter and a Knight
of the Thistle, and his monument remains in Westminster
Abbey.

_ As the Duke had no son his British titles died with
1um, and he was succeeded in the Scottish honours by his
srother, Archibald, Earl of Islay. The third Duke had
VOL. I. C
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served under Marlborough and studied law at Utrecht.
He became Lord High Treasurer of Scotland in 1705 and
promoted the Union with England. He was made Lord
Justice General in 1710, and Lord Register in 1714. He
raised Argyllshire for George I. and fought under his
brother at Sheriffmuir. He became Walpole’s chief
adviser in Scotland, and keeper successively of the privy
seal and the great seal. For long he was the greatest
man in Scottish affairs, and it was he who rebuilt
Inveraray Castle on its present site. In his time the
strength of the clan was estimated at 5,000 fighting
men, and it sent a contingent to fight against Prince
Charles Edward at Culloden.

After him the dukedom went to his cousin, John
Campbell of Mamore, son of the second son of the ninth
earl. His second son was killed at the battle of Langfeldt
in 1747 and his third son became Lord Clerk Register of
Scotland. His eldest son, John, the fifth Duke, married
Elizabeth Gunning, widow of the sixth Duke of Hamilton,
one of the three sisters who were celebrated beauties at
the court of George III. She was the wife of two dukes,
and the mother of four, and was created Baroness
Hamilton in her own right in 1776. Her second and third
sons by the Duke of Argyll became successively sixth and
seventh Dukes. The latter was a friend of Madame de
Staél, who pictured him as Lord Nevil in her famous
novel, Corinne. His son, George, the eighth Duke, was

the distinguished statesman, orator, scholar, and author

of Queen Victoria’s time. Three times married, and three
times Lord Privy Seal, he also filled the offices of
Postmaster-General, Secretary for India, Chancellor of St.
Andrew’s University, and Trustee of the British Museum.
Among his honours he was K.G., K.T., P.C., D.C.L,,
L.L.D., and F.R.S., and among his writings were

|

valuable works on science, religion, and politics. He |

bequeathed Iona Cathedral to the Church of Scotland.

He and his eldest son, John, the ninth Duke, inherited
much of the personal beauty of their ancestor, Elizabeth
Gunning, and when the latter in 1871 married H.R.H. the
Princess Louise, fourth daughter of Queen Victoria, the
pair were as distinguished for their fine looks as for their
high rank. For ten years, as Marquess of Lorne, he
represented Argylishire in the House of Commons, and
for a term he was Governor-General of Canada. He held
many honours, and was the author of some interesting
literary works.

The present Duke, Niall Diarmid, is the son of his

-
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next brother. His Grace is deeply interested in Highland
affairs, and faithful to all the traditions of a Highland
Chief.

Apart from members of the main Campbell line,
members of the race have been famous in many arenas.
Thomas Campbell, the poet, was of the Kilmartin family,
a Campbell of Stonefield and a Campbell of Succoth have
been Presidents of the Court of Session. The Army, the
Navy, politics, the Church, and probably most other
spheres of national service and distinction, have derived
lustre from members of this great clan, and round the
world there is no name better known than that of the sons
of Diarmid of the Boar.

Serrs OF CLAN CAMPBELL

Bannatyne Burns
Denoon Caddell
Loudon Calder
MacDermid Connochie
MacGibbon - Denune
MaclIsaac MacConochie
Maclvor MacDiarmid
MacKessock Macglasrich
MacNichol MacKellar
MacOwen MacKissock
MacTavish MacOran
MacUre MacTause
Thomas MacThomas
Thompson Tawesson

Ure

Thomason
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BADGE : Roid (Sweet Gale) or Garbhag an t-sleibh (lycopodium
selago) Fir club moss. ‘ ot

SLOGAN : Siol Diarmid an tuirc, The race of Diarmid of the
Boar !

PiBrOCH : Bodach na briogais.

ProBaBLY no Highland family has been so prolific in cadet
branches of distinction as the great race of the Campbells.
From the earliest date at which authentic history dawns
upon their race they are found multiplying and establish-
ing new houses throughout the land. At the present hour
scions of the name hold the earldoms of Cawdor and
Loudon as well as the baronies of Blythswood and
Stratheden, and no fewer than seven separate baronetcies.
The steps in the growth of this great house are in every
generation full of interest, and involve in their narration no |
small part of the romance of Scottish history. |

The rise of the family began with a fortunate marriage
in the twelfth century. With the hand of Eva, daughter
of the O’Duibhne Chief, Gillespie Campbell acquired the
lordship of Lochow, and brought into his family the blood
of the Ossianic hero Diarmid of eight centuries earlier
still. In 1280 Colin Campbell, the chief of the name,
was knighted by Alexander III. He was the ‘‘ Great ™
Colin from whom the chiefs of the family of the later times
have taken the name of ‘‘ MacCailein Mor.”” He fell in
conflict with the MacDougals on the Sraing of Lorne,
and his body lies in the little kirkyard of Kilchrennan,
above Loch Awe. His eldest son was that Sir Nigel or
Neil Campbell who joined Robert the Bruce at the begin-
ning of his great struggle, and was rewarded with the hand
of the king’s sister, and the forfeited lands of the Earl of
Atholl. His eldest son, again, the second Sir Colin Camp-
bell of Lochow, helped the High Steward of Scotland,
afterwards King Robert II., to recover the Castle of
Dunoon from the adherents of Edward Baliol—the first
stroke in the overthrow of that adventurer; and in con- (
sequence was made hereditary governor of that royal
stronghold. His grandson, still another Sir Colin, married
Margaret, daughter of Sir John Drummond of Stobhall,
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and sister of Annabella, Queen of Robert 1II., and, partly
through this royal connection his eldest son, Duncan, was
made, first, Lord Lieutenant of Argyll by his cousin James
I., and in 1445 was raised to the peerage as Lord Campbell
by James II. He linked his family still more closely to the
royal house by marrying Lady Marjorie Stewart, daughter
of Robert, Duke of Albany, and granddaughter of King
Robert II. On the death of his eldest son, Celestine, at
school, he begged a burying-place at Kilmun from the
Lamont Chief because the snows were too deep for the
body to be carried to Lochow; and from that time to this
Kilmun has been the burying-place of the Campbell chiefs.

While the main stem of the family was carried on by
Lord Campbell’s second son’s son, Colin, who became
1st Earl of Argyll in 1457, it was his third son, another
Sir Colin, who founded the greatest of all the branches
of the Campbells, that of Glenorchy and Glenfalloch, the
head of which is now Earl of Breadalbane. So well
had the heads of the house improved their fortunes that
Lord Campbell was probably the richest noble in Scotland.
When he became one of the hostages for the redemption
of James 1. in 1424, his annual revenue was stated to be
fifteen hundred merks. He was well able, therefore, to
endow his third son with the lands of Glenorchy and Glen-
falloch in 1432.

Sir Colin Campbell of Glenorchy was one of the ablest
men of his time. As guardian of his nephew, afterwards
Earl of Argyll, he built for him the castle of Inveraray,
and married him to the eldest daughter and co-heir of
John Stewart, Lord of Lorne. He himself had married,
first, Mariot, daughter of Sir Walter Stewart, eldest son
of Murdoch, Duke of Albany, grandson of Robert II.;
and on her death he married Margaret, the second daughter
of the Lord of Lorne. By these marriages uncle and
nephew not only acquired between them the great estates
of the Stewart Lords of Lorne, but also placed upon their
shields the famous lymphad, or galley, which betokened
descent from the famous Somerled, Lord of the Isles.

Sir Colin, who was born about the year 1400, was a
famous warrior, fought in Palestine, and was made a
knight of Rhodes. The tradition runs that while he was
away his wife built for-him the castle of Kilchurn on its
peninsula at the end of Loch Awe. He was so long absent
that it was said he was dead, and the lady, like Penelope in
the classic tale, was besieged by suitors. = After long delays
a neighbouring baron, MacCorquodale, it is said, forced
her to a marriage. While the marriage feast was going
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on, a beggar came to the door. He refused to drink the
health of the bride unless she herself handed him the cup.
This she did, and as the heggar drank and returned it
she gave a cry, for in the bottom lay Sir Colin’s signet
ring. The beggar was Sir Colin himself, returned just in
time to rescue his wife.

After the assassination of James I. at Perth, Glenurchy
captured one of the assassins, Thomas Chalmer of Lawers,
on Loch Tay side, and as a reward he received a grant
of the murderer’s forfeited estate. His son and successor,
Sir Duncan Campbell of Glenurchy, further added to the
importance of his family by acquiring the estates of Glen-
lyon, Finlarig, and others on Loch Tay side. When he
married Margaret, daughter of George, fourth earl of
Angus, in 1479, he obtained with her a dowry of six
hundred merks, and he fell with James IV. at Flodden in
1513.

His eldest son and successor, again, Sir Colin Campbell
of Glenurchy, married Marjorie Stewart, daughter of John,
Earl of Atholl, half brother of James II., her mother being
Margaret Douglas, that Fair Maid of Galloway, who, as
heiress of her ancient house, played such a strange
romantic part in the story of her time.

Sir Colin, the youngest of the three sons who succeeded
him, sat in the Scottish Parliament of 1560, and played an
active part in furthering the Reformation. Till his time
the lands of Breadalbane had belonged to the Carthusian
Monastery at Perth founded by James I. Sir Colin first
* obtained a tack of these lands, and afterwards had them
converted into a feu holding. He was a great builder of
houses, and besides a noble lodging in Perth erected
Edinample on Loch Earn, and in 1580 founded at the
eastern end of Loch Tay the splendid family seat of
Balloch, now known as Taymouth Castle. The site of
this stronghold is said to have been settled in a curious
way, Sir Colin being instructed in a dream to found his
castle on the spot where he should first hear the blackbird
sing on making his way down the strath. According to
the family history written in 1598 he also added the corner
turrets to Kilchurn Castle. Kilchurn and much of the
other Breadalbane territory had once been possessed by
Clan Gregor, but when feudal tenures came in, the chiefs
of that clan had scorned to hold their land by what they
termed *‘ sheep-skin rights,’” and elected to continue hold-
ing them by the ancient ‘‘ coir a glaive,” or right of the
sword. As a result, when disputes arose they had no
documents to show; the effort to vindicate their claims
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by the power of the sword got them into trouble; and
the Campbells and other neighbours easily procured
against them powers of reprisal which in the end led to the
conquest and transference of most of the MacGregor
territory. Sir Walter Scott put the plight and feelings of
the clansmen concisely in his famous lament:

Glenorchy’s proud mountain, Kilchurn and her towers,
Glenstrae and Glenlyon no longer are ours;
We’re landless, landless, landless, Gregalach!

Accordingly we find in the Breadalbane family history
that Sir Colin ‘‘ was ane greate Justiciar all his tyme,
throch the quhilk he sustenit that deidly feid of the Clan
Gregor ane lang space. And besydis that, he causit
execute to the death mony notable lymmars, and beheided
the Laird of Mac Gregor himself at Keanmoir, in presence
of the Erle of Atholl, the Justice Clerk, and sundrie uther
nobillmen.”’

Sir Duncan Campbell, the eldest son and successor of
this redoubtable chief, is remembered in popular tradition
by the names of ‘‘ Black Duncan,” or ‘ Duncan with the
cowl.” Like his father he added greatly to his family
possessions by acquiring feus of the church lands which
were then extensively in the market as a result of the
Reformation. At the same time he was perhaps the most
enlightened landowner of his age. At any rate he was
the first of Highland lairds to turn attention to rural
improvement. Among other matters he was a great
planter of trees, and also compelled his tenants to plant
them. Many of ‘the noble trees which “still surround his
stronghold of Einlarig, at the eastern end of Loch Tay,
were no doubt of his planting. Like his father also he
was a notable builder of strongholds, and besides Tay-
mouth, Edinample, and Strathfillan, he possessed Finlarig,
Loch Dochart, Achalader, and Barcaldine. From this
partiality he obtained the further sobriquet of ¢ Duncan
of the Castles.”” When he began to build Finlarig some-
one is said to have asked why he was placing it at the
edge of his property, and he is said to have replied, in
characteristic Campbell fashion, that he meant to ** birse
yont.”” He was knighted by James I. in 1590; was made
heritable keeper of the forest of Mamlorn in 1617, and
afterwards Sheriff of Perth for life. Finally, when the
order of Baronets of Nova Scotia began to be created in
1625, he was one of the first to have the dignity conferred
upon him. His first wife was Jean, daughter of John
Stewart, Earl of Atholl, Chancellor of Scotland, and a few

3 WEST
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years ago the effigies of the pair were discovered on the
under side of two stones which for centuries had been
used as a footbridge across a ditch at Finlarig. At Fin-
larig are also still to be seen the gallows tree and the fatal
pit in the courtyard, to which prisoners came from the
Castle dungeon by an underground passage, to be gazed
at by the laird’s retainers before placing their head in the
hollow at the side still to be seen, to be lopped off by the
executioner. The heading axe of these terrible occasions
was till 1922 preserved among other interesting relics at
Taymouth Castle. Since 1508 the chapel at Finlarig has
been the burying-place of the chiefs of the house.

Black Duncan’s eldest son and successor, Sir Colin,
was a patron of the fine arts, and encouraged the painter
Jameson, the ¢ Scottish Vandyck.” His brother Robert,
who succeeded him as third Baronet, and was previously
known as ‘‘ of Glenfalloch,” represented Argyllshire in
the Scottish parliaments of 1643, 1646, and 1647, the
period of the civil wars of Charles I. and the exploits of
the Marquess of Montrose.

This chief, the third baronet of Glenurchy, had by his
two wives a family of no fewer than fifteen, of whom
more anon. Meanwhile his eldest son’s son, Sir John
Campbell, fifth baronet of Glenorchy, was to make history
in more ways than one, both for his family and for the
country. From his swarthy complexion he was known
as Ian Glas. He was a clever and unscrupulous politician,
and it was said of him that he was ‘‘ cunning as a fox,
wise as a serpent, and slippery as an eel.”” By his first
wife, the Lady Mary Rich, daughter of the first Earl of
Holland, beheaded in 1649, he received a dowry of
410,000, and it is said that after the marriage in 1657 he
conveyed her from London to the Highlands in simple
fashion, the lady riding on a pillion behind her lord, while
her marriage portion, which he made sure was paid in
coin, was carried on the back of a strong gelding, guarded
on each side by a sturdy, well-armed Highlander. It was
probably this money which helped him to one of the most
notable actions of his career. At any rate it appears that
among other investments he lent large sums of money to
George, sixth Earl of Caithness. The Sinclairs have
stories to tell, which may or may not be true, as to
questionable methods by which these burdens of the Earl
of Caithness were increased. One is that Charles II.
obtained the earl’s security for large sums, and then
pledged it with Glenurchy. In any case in 1572 the Earl
of Caithness found his debts overwhelming, and, being
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pressed by Glenurchy as his chief creditor, conveyed to
him in wadset the whole property and titles of the
Earldom, the possession of which was to become absolute
if not redeemed within six years. The redemption did not
take place, and on the death of the Earl, Glenurchy pro-
cured from the king in 1677, in right of his wadset, a new
charter to the lands and title of Earl of Caithness. The
lheir to the Earldom also claimed the title and estates, and
Glenurchy proceeded under legal sanction to enforce his
rights by strength of arms. For this purpose he sent his
kinsman, Captain Robert Campbell of Glenlyon, with a
strong body of men, into the north. The Sinclairs also
gathered in armed force, and the two parties came face to
face, with a stream between them. Glenlyon is said by
the Sinclairs to have used the strategy of sending a convoy
of strong waters where he knew it would be captured by
the Sinclairs, and at night, when the latter had enjoyed
themselves not wisely but too well, the Campbells marched
across the stream and utterly routed them. It was on this

. occasion that the Campbell piper composed the famous

pibroch of the clan ‘‘ Bodach na Briogais,’”’ the Lad of
the Breeches, in ridicule of the Sinclairs, who wore that
garment ; and it is the event which is commemorated in the
famous song ‘‘ The Campbells are Coming.”’” In the end,
however, by the legitimate heir, George Sinclair of
Keiss, the Campbells were driven out of the country, and
Charles II., being at length persuaded of the injustice of
his action, induced Glenurchy to drop the Caithness title,
and compensated him in 1681 by creating him Earl of
Breadalbane and Holland, with a number of minor
dignities. Cunning as ever, Glenurchy procured the right
to leave his titles to whichever of his sons by his first wife
he should think proper to designate, and in the end, as
a matter of fact, he passed over the elder of the two,
Duncan, Lord Ormelie, who eventually died unmarried
ten years after his father.

Glenurchy’s first wife died in 1666, and twelve years
later Glenurchy, probably by way of strengthening his
claim to the Caithness title, married Mary, Countess
Dowager of Caithness. This lady was the third daughter
of the notorious Archibald, Marquess of Argyll, who,
strangely enough, like the father of Glenurchy’s first wife,
had been beheaded after the Restoration.

Possibly Breadalbane was inspired by his father-in-
law’s example to adopt sinister methods. At any rate we
know that he was the chief mover in the transaction known
in history as the Massacre of Glencoe. In this transaction
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he showed his usual cunning. Glencoe appeared a
desirable addition to the estate. So also did Glenlyon.
He had left Campbell of Glenlyon to bear the expense
of the great Caithness expedition, and he now took
advantage of Glenlyon’s impecuniosity to induce him
to act as his catspaw in the affair of Glencoe. In that affair
Glenlyon had also a personal revenge to satisfy, for the
MacDonalds of Glencoe, on their way home after the
battle of Killiecrankie, had raided and thoroughly
destroyed his lands. At any rate it was Captain Robert
Campbell of Glenlyon, with a company of Campbells, who
carried out the notorious massacre. What his feelings
towards his chief may have been at a later day we do not
know, when, upon riding into Edinburgh to redeem a
wadset on his lands of Glenlyon cnly in the nick of time,
he encountered his kinsman and chief in the act of closing
the wadset and ousting him from his heritage. Such a
personage was Ian Glas, first Earl of Breadalbane and
Holland. The wily old chief lived till 1717. Two years
before his death he sent 500 of his followers to join the
Jacobite rising of the Earl of Mar, but escaped without
serious consequences of the act.

Curiously enough as a result of the massacre Highland
superstition has associated a curse with the house both of
the prime mover Breadalbane and with that of his agent,
Glenlyon. Sir Walter Scott tells the story of how at a
later day a Campbell of Glenlyon was the officer in com-
mand of a firing party entrusted with the carrying out
of the death sentence of a court martial. The intention
was to reprieve the culprit, but the reprieve was not to be
made known to the latter till the very moment of execution.
Glenlyon had arranged that the signal to fire should be
his drawing his white handkerchief from his pocket.
When all was ready, and the firing party was in position,
he put his hand into his pocket to produce the reprieve.
Unfortunately his handkerchief came with it. This was
taken by the soldiers as the appointed signal, the muskets
rang out, and the prisoner fell. At that Glenlyon is said
to have struck his forehead with his hand, exclaiming,
‘1 am an unfortunate ruined man; the curse of God and
Glenlyon is here! ”’ and forthwith to have retired from
the service.

The second Earl of Breadalbane was Lord Lieutenant
of Perthshire and a representative peer. In his time
occurred the Jacobite rising of 1745, when it was reckoned
that the Earl could put a thousand men into the field.
The third Earl was a Lord of the Admiralty and an
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ambassador to the Danish and Russian courts. By his
third wife the Earl had a son John, Lord Glenorchy, who
died before him childless in 1971. His widow Willielma,
daughter and co-heir of William Maxwell of Preston, was
the famous Lady Glenorchy whose peculiar religious views
induced her to found chapels for her followers in Edin-
burgh, Carlisle, Matlock, and Strathfillan.

On the death of the third Earl himself in 1782, the
male line of the notorious Ian Glas became extinct. The
patent, however, included heirs male general, and the
peerage accordingly went to a grandson of Colin of
Mochaster, third son of Sir Robert Campbell, third
baronet of -Glenorchy. This grandson, John Campbell,
succeeded as fourth Earl of Breadalbane. He was Major-
General and a representative peer, and was made Marquess
of Breadalbane and Earl of Ormelie in 1806. His only
son, John, was, according to Peter Drummond of Perth
(Perthshire in Bygone Days), the hero of a curious
romance. While a student at Glasgow University he fell
in love with Miss Logan, daughter of Walter Logan of
Fingalton, near Airdrie, and partner in the firm of Logan
and Adamson, who lived in West George Street, the
ground floor of the house now occupied by Messrs.
Paterson’s music warehouse. The young lady was a great
toast and strikingly handsome. Every time she entered
the Theatre Royal in Queen Street it is said the audience
rose to a man and cheered wildly. Alas, however, the
match was considered unsuitable and was broken off, and
\ the lady died unmarried in 1856.

Lord John meanwhile had succeeded as second
Marquess and fifth Earl on the death of his father in 1834,
and became a Knight of the Thistle, a Knight of the
Black Eagle of Prussia, Lord Lieutenant of Argyllshire,
and president of the Royal Society of Antiquaries of
Scotland. In his time Queen Victoria paid her famous
first visit to Scotland, and on that occasion was entertained
at Taymouth with the most splendid hospitality. With
huntings and Highland games by day and feastings and
balls at night, the royal entertainment was ‘‘ more like
the dreams of romance than reality.”

The Marquess died without issue at Lausanne in 1862,
when there ensued one of the most famous peerage cases
on record. The Earldom was claimed by John Alexander
Gavin Campbell of Glenfalloch, as great-great-grandson of
William, fifth son of Sir Robert Campbell, third baronet
of Glenorchy. There was, however, a question as to his
legitimacy. His grandfather, it appeared, a younger son
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of the Glenfalloch of his time, had, while an officer in the
army, run away with the wife of an apothecary at Bath,
and though the apothecary presently died, it was
questioned whether a union so begun could afterwards be
accepted as legitimated by a Scottish marriage and so
legitimize the offspring of the union. Glenfalloch’s claim
to the Earldom was accordingly disputed by the repre-
sentative of his grandfather’s younger brother, Campbell
of Borland. In the end, however, it was shown that the
gay young officer and the lady of Bath had been received
at Glenfalloch by the young officer’s father and mother,
who were strict in their religious views, and unlikely to
have countenanced the lady unless they regarded her as
really their son’s wife. The House of Lords accordingly
decided in favour of Glenfalloch’s claim, and he became
sixth Earl of Breadalbane. His eldest son, the late head
of the house, who succeeded in 1871, held several high
positions in the royal household. He was a Lord-in-
Waiting from 1873 to 1874, Treasurer of the household
1880-5, Lord Steward of the household 1892-5, also A.D.C.
to the King and Lord High Commissioner to the General
Assembly of the Church of Scotland in 1893-4-5. He was
created Baron Breadalbane in the peerage of the United
Kingdom in 1873, and advanced to the Earldom of Ormelie
and Marquessate of Breadalbane in 1885. He was also
a Knight of the Garter and a Privy Councillor, and was
Keeper of the Privy Seal of Scotland from 1go7. He
married in 1872 Lady Alma Graham, youngest daughter
of the fourth Duke of Montrose. In 1921, when, in the
stringency after the great war, many of the great land-
owners of Scotland parted with their estates, he disposed |
of Taymouth Castle, the town of Aberfeldy, and the
lands at the lower end of Loch Tay. On the Marquess’s
death in 1922 he was succeeded in the Earldom and older
titles by his nephew, lain E. H. Campbell, but that
nephew himself died in May, 1923. At his death it was
discovered that he had been married for seven years.
Should he have no son the titles and estates will devolve
upon the former competitor’s son, Captain Charles W.
Campbell of Borland.
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BADGE : Raineach (filix) Fern.
PiBrocH : Failte Siosalaich Strathglas.

ONE of the most remarkable episodes among the adventures
of Prince Charles Edward in the West Highlands,
between the time of his escape from Benbecula by the aid
of Flora MacDonald and his final setting sail for France
on board the Doutelle, was that of his shelter and
protection by the Seven Men of Glen Morriston. The
names of these seven men, as given in the Lyon in
Mourning, were Patrick Grant, commonly called Black
Peter of Craskie, John MacDonnell alias Campbell,
Alexander MacDonnell, Grigor MacGregor, and three

| brothers Alexander, Donald, and Hugh Chisholm. These
. seven were afterwards joined by an eighth, Hugh

Macmillan. These men had been engaged in the Jacobite
rising, and, as a result, their small possessions had been
burned and destroyed. Seventy others of their neighbours
who had surrendered they had seen sent as slaves to the

| colonies, and in desperation they had bound themselves

by a solemn oath never to yield and never to give up their

. arms, but to fight to the last drop of their blood. Several

of their deeds are recounted in the work already referred
to. About three weeks before the Prince joined them,

| four of them, the two Macdonnells and Alexander and

Donald Chisholm, attacked a convoy of seven soldiers
carrying provisions from Fort Augustus to Glenelg, shot
two of the soldiers dead, turned loose the horses, and
carried the provisions to their cave. A few days

. later, meeting Robert Grant, a notorious informer from

Strathspey, they shot him dead, cut off his head, and set
it up in a tree near the high road, where it remained for
many a day, a terror to traitors. Three days later, word
reached them that an uncle of Patrick Grant had had his
cattle driven off by a large party of soldiers. Near the
Hill of Lundy, between Fort Augustus and Glenelg, they

| came up with the raiders and demanded the return of the
| cattle. The three king’s officers formed up their party for
| defence and continued to drive away the cattle; but the
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seven men, moving parallel with the party, kept up a
running fire two by two, and finally, in a narrow and
dangerous pass, so beset the soldiers that they fell into
confusion and fled, leaving the cattle, as well as a horse
laden with provisions, to the assailants.

To these men the Prince was introduced as young
Clanranald, but they instantly recognised him, and
welcomed him with the utmost enthusiasm and devotion.
They took a dreadful oath to be faithful to him, and kept
it so well, that not one of them spoke of the Prince having
been in their company till a twelvemonth after he had
sailed to France. Charles told them they were the first
privy council who had sworn faith to him since the battle
of Culloden, and he lived with them first for three days in
the cave of Coiraghoth, and afterwards for four days in
another of their fastnesses two miles away, the cave of
Coirskreaoch.

John Home, in his history of the Rebellion, quoting
the narrative of Hugh Chisholm, says that ‘‘ when Charles
came near they knew him and fell upon their knees.
Charles was then in great distress. He had a bonnet on
his head, a wretched yellow wig, and a clouted hand-
kerchief about his neck. He had a coat of coarse
dark-coloured cloth, a Stirling tartan waistcoat much
worn, a pretty good belted plaid, tartan hose, and Highland
brogues tied with thongs, so much worn that they would
scarcely stick upon his feet. His shirt (and he had not
another) was of the colour of saffron.” The outlaws
undertook to procure him a change of dress. This they
did by waylaying and killing the servant of an officer,
conveying his master’s baggage to Fort Augustus.

On 6th August, learning that a certain captain of
militia, named Campbell, factor to the Earl of Seaforth,
was encamped within four miles of his hiding-place,
Charles determined to remove, and, during the night,
attended by his rude but faithful bodyguard,.he passed
over into Strathglass, the country of The Chisholm. The
Prince stayed in Strathglass for four days, then passed
over into Glen Cannich, hoping to hear of a French vessel
that had put into Poolewe. Disappointed in this, how-
ever, he returned across the Water of Cannich, and,
passing near young Chisholm’s house, arrived about two
in the morning of 14th August at a place called Fassana-
coill in Strathglass, where the party was supplied with
provisions by one, John Chisholm, a farmer. Chisholm
was even able to furnish a bottle of wine, which had been
left with him by a priest. It was not till the 1gth of
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August that the Prince passed from Glen Morriston to
Glengarry. On finally parting from his faithful protectors
at a wood at the foot of Loch Arkaig, the Prince gave their
leader, Patrick Grant, twenty-four guineas, being nearly
all the money he possessed. This made an allowance of
three guineas for each man, which cannot be considered a
preposterous acknowledgment, seeing that any one of them
could, at any moment during the Prince’s stay among
them, have earned for himself the reward of £30,000
| offered by Government for his capture.

Of one of these seven men, Hugh Chisholm, in later
days, an interesting account is given by Sir Walter Scott.
Towards the close of the century he lived in Edinburgh
and became known to Scott, then a young man at college,
who subscribed to a trifling annuity for him. Scott says
““ he was a noble commanding figure of six feet and
upwards, had a very stately demeanour, and always wore
the Highland garb. . . . He kept his right hand usually
in his bosom, as if worthy of more care than the rest of
his person, because Charles Edward had shaken hands
with him when they separated.”” In the end he returned
| to his native district, and died in Strathglass some time
after 1812.

The humble clansmen who appear thus heroically in
Scottish history in the eighteenth century, were members
of a race whose origin is lost in the mists of antiquity.
By some the family is believed to have taken its name
originally from a property on the Scottish Border, and to
have been transplanted thence at an early date to the
district of Strathglass in Inverness-shire. Another theory
is that the Chisholms, whose Gaelic name is Siosal, are
derived from the English Cecils. If either of these
theories be correct, the case is little different from that of
. many others of the most notable Scottish clans, whose
| progenitors appear to have settled in the north in the time
. of Malcolm Canmore and his sons, much in the same way
as Norman and Saxon knights were settled in the
Lowlands by these monarchs, and probably for the same
| reason, to develop the military resources and ensure the
loyalty of their respective districts.

Whatever its origin, the race of the Chisholms appears
early enough among the makers of history in the north.
Guthred or Harald, Thane of Caithness in the latter part
of the twelfth century, is stated by Sir Robert Gordon to
have borne the surname of Chisholm. His wife was the
daughter of Madach, Earl of Atholl, and he was one of
the most powerful and turbulent of the northern chiefs,
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till William the Lion at last defeated and put him to death,
and divided his lands between Freskin, ancestor of the
Earls of Sutherland, and Magnus, son of Gillibreid, Earl
of Angus. Upon that event the chiefs of the Chisholms,
it is conjectured, sought a new district, and about the
year 1220 settled in Strathglass. From that time to this
they have been located in the region, and to an early
chief the saying is attributed that there were but three
persons in the world entitled to be called ‘‘ The "’—the
King, the Pope, and The Chisholm.

In the Ragman Roll of 1296 appear the names of
Richard de Chesehelm, in Roxburghshire, and John de
Cheshome, in Berwickshire, but it cannot be supposed
that these individuals had any but the most remote
relationship with the Clan Chisholm of the north. In
1334 the chief of the Chisholms married the daughter and
heiress of Sir Robert Lauder of Quarrelwood, presumably
the estate of that name in the parish of Kirkmahoe in
Dumfries-shire, who was at that time Constable of the
royal castle of Urquhart at the foot of Glen Morriston on
Loch Ness. Robert, the son of this marriage, succeeded
through his mother to the estate of Quarrelwood, and
became keeper of Urquhart Castle. He was one of the
knights who was taken prisoner along with the young
King David II. at Neville’s Cross in 1346, but procured
his freedom, and left a record of his piety at a later day by
bestowing six acres of arable land within the territory of
the old Castle of Inverness upon the kirk there. The
deed, dated in 1362, is still preserved, and the ground,
still the property of the Kirk Session, has its revenue
devoted to the relief of the poor, and is known on that
account as the Diribught, ‘ Tir na bochd,’’ or poor’s land.

By way of contrast to this piety, Sir Robert Chisholm,
Lord of Quarrelwood, was accused in 1369 of having
wrongously intromitted with some of the property belong-
ing to the bishopric of Moray, and twenty-nine years later
John de Chesehelm was ordered to restore the lands of
Kinmylies, which belonged to the church. In the Register
of Moray, under the date of 1368, is preserved the record
of an act of homage performed to the Bishop for certain
lands by Alexander de Chisholme, presumably a son of
Sir Robert. ‘‘ In camera domini Alexandri, Dei gratia
Episcopi Moraviensis apud Struy, presente tota multitudine
Canonicorum et Capellanorum et aliorum, ad prandium
ibi invitatorum, Alexander de Chisholme fecit homagium,
junctis manibus et discooperta capite, pro eisdem terris,”’
etc.
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The main residence of the chiefs of that time appears
to have been Comar, and in an indenture dated 1403
Margaret de la Aird is stated to be the widow of the late
chief, Alexander Chisholm of Comar. This indenture was
for the settlement of the estates between the widow,
Alexander’s successor Thomas, and William, Lord Fenton,
as heirs portioners, and it detailed the family property as
lying not only in the shires of Inverness and Moray, but
also in the counties of Aberdeen, Forfar, and Perth.

At the end of the fourteenth century the chief of the
time, John Chisholm, had an only child, Morella, or
Muriel. By her marriage to Alexander Sutherland, baron
of Duffus, a large part of the property of the chiefs was
carried out of the family, and John’s successor was left
with little more than the original patrimony of his
ancestors in Strathglass. Muriel also carried into her
husband’s family the Chisholm insignia of the Boar’s
head as an addition to its coat of arms.

Somewhere during those centuries occurred a tragic
incident which has retained a place among the traditions of
the clan. One of the Chisholm chiefs, it appears, carried
off a daughter of the chief of the Frasers. To ensure her
safety he placed her on an island on Loch Bruaich. But
her father’s clan having mustered in force, traced her to
"’this retreat. A fierce struggle followed, and in the course
tof it the young lady was accidentally slain by her own

brother’s hand. The incident is the subject of a well-
\known Gaelic song, and around the spot are still to be seen
‘the burial mounds of those who fell in the battle.

¢ For some two centuries Comar appears to have
iremained the residence of the chiefs. In 1513 amid the
'.ltroubles which followed the defeat and death of James IV.
iat Flodden it is recorded that Uilan of Comar, along with
\ |Alastair MacRanald of Glengarry, stormed the royal
. lcastle of Urquhart. And again in 1587, when the chiefs
' of the Highland clans were called upon to give security
{ ffor the peaceful behaviour of those upon their lands, the
( ‘[name of ‘‘ Cheisholme of Cummer "’ appears on the roll.
{| Within the next century, however, Erchless Castle had
)| become their main stronghold, and at the Revolution it
{|vas garrisoned for King James. After the battle of
;| (Killiecrankie it was deemed important enough to call for
| special effort at reduction, and General Livingstone found
10 little difficulty, though he besieged it with a large
|orce, in capturing the place and preventing the clansmen
rom regaining possession.

Among the Highland chiefs who signed the loyal
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address to King George I., which was presented to that
monarch by the Earl of Mar on his landing at Greenwich |
in 1714, appears Ruari or Roderick Maclan, the Chisholm
chief of the time. George l., as all the world knows,
treated the address and its bearer with scant courtesy, and |
by that proceeding directly brought about the rising of the
Jacobite clans under the Earl of Mar in 1715. In that
rebellion the clan was led by Chisholm of Cnocfin, and in
consequence, after the defeat at Sheriffmuir, his estates
were forfeited and sold. In 1727, however, the veteran
procured a pardon under the Privy Seal. The lands had
meanwhile been acquired by MacKenzie of Allangrange.
On the pardon being granted he conveyed them to
Chisholm of Mucherach, who, in turn, conveyed them to
Roderick’s eldest son, with an entail on his heirs male.

In 1745 the clan again turned out in support of the
Jacobite cause, and was led on the occasion by Colin, the
youngest son of the chief. The protection afforded Prince
Charles Edward by the seven men of Glen Morriston
during the critical days of his wandering in the Chisholm
country and its neighbourhood, was only part of the
devoted effort put forth by the clan on that memorable
occasion.

Alexander Chisholm, who succeeded to the chiefship in
1785, and died in 1793, left an only child, Mary, who
married an Englishman, James Gooden, and settled in
London. The chiefship and estates then passed to his
youngest brother, William. This chief married the eldest
daughter of MacDonnell of Glengarry, and his elder son
and successor, Alexander, sat as M.P. for Inverness-shire.
On the death of the latter in 1838 the estates and chiefship §.
passed to his brother Duncan. The clan is fortunate in §{;
still possessing a chief of its name well known for his };
public spirit in Highland affairs, while Erchless Castle, the
ancient family seat, remains one of the most beautiful and §.
picturesque of Highland residences. Near the Castle, on |
a green mound surrounded by ancient trees, a number of
the early chiefs were buried, and here also, by his own f¢
desire, lies Alexander William, the chief who died in 1838;
but the burying-place of most of the family was at Beauly
Priory, where a tablet set up by his only daughter, Mrs.
Gooden, commemorates Alexander, the chief who died
in 1793.

From an early date a branch of the clan was settled at
Cromlix, or Cromlics, in Perthshire, which includes the
episcopal city of Dunblane. At the Reformation, this
branch produced in succession three. bishops, all of the
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name of William, each of whom strenuously opposed the
tenets of the Reformation. The first of these, who died
in 1564, was notorious for his moral shortcomings, and
seized the pretext of the Reformation, when church lands
were being cast into the melting pot, to alienate the
episcopal estates of Dunblane to his illegitimate children.
The second of these bishops, who was appointed co-adjutor
to his uncle in 1561, and succeeded him as Bishop in 1564,
{ acted as envoy for Mary Queen of Scots from 1565 to
1 1567. Before 1570, like several other Catholic Scottish
bishops, he withdrew to France, where he was appointed
' Bishop of Vaison. In 1584 he became a monk of the
® Chartreuse, and latterly was prior of the Chartreuse at
Lyons and Rome. This bishop also was succeeded by a
nephew, who became bishop of Vaison in 1584. He was
notorious for his intrigues in Scottish affairs in 1602,
when, in the interest of the Scottish Catholics, he
* endeavoured to obtain the cardinalate. He was rector of
Venaissin from 1603 till his death in 1629. Finally, by
the marriage of Jane, only daughter of Sir James Chisholm
of Cromlix, to James, second son of David, second Lord
Drummond, who afterwards became Lord Maderty, the
lands were carried into the family of that nobleman, and
gave his descendant, Viscount Strathallan, his second title,
1which is still carried by his descendant, the Earl of Perth,
though the superiority of the lands afterwards passed to
the Earl of Kinnoul.

Two other Catholic prelates of the name were person-
ages of importance in the Highlands. The elder of these,
YJohn Chisholm, was educated at Douai, was made a
orelate as titular Bishop of Oria in 1792, and became
Vicar Apostolic of the Highland district in the same year.
e was succeeded by his clansman, Aeneas Chisholm, who,
- hfter an education at Valladolid, became tutor at Douai in
1786, and priest in Strathglass three years later. After
»eing raised to the prelacy as titular bishop of Diocaesarea
n 1805, he became Vicar Apostolic of the Highland
¢ Mlistrict in 1814.




CLAN COLQUHOUN

BADGE : Braoileag nan con (arbutus uva ursi) Bear berry.
SLOGAN : Cnoc Ealachain (or Cnoc an t-seilich).
PiBROCH : Caismeacha Chloinn a’ Chompaich.

Ir the battle of Glenfruin remains the most outstanding,
triumphant, and disastrous landmark in the history of
Clan Gregor, it remains also the most notable in that of
their old enemies, the Colquhouns. Every day, all
summer through, a great stream of tourists makes its way
up the silver reaches of Loch Lomond, and strangely
enough the two interests which most engross the attention
of the pilgrims are the associations with Rob Roy on the
eastern shore of the loch and the memories of the great
battle which the Colquhouns fought with the MacGregors
in Glenfruin on the western side. This wide * Glen of
Sorrow,”’ as its name means, opens away among the hills!
some three miles above Balloch, at the southern end of the
loch, and, while its ‘ water *’ has become famous amongl
anglers within recent years, the interest of the glen to
most passers-by must remain for all time that of the greatl
clan conflict in which the Colquhouns suffered so severely
at the hands of their invading enemies.

Sir Walter Scott, who, it is said, had been treated with
somewhat scant courtesy on the occasion of a visit which
he paid to the residence of the Colquhoun chief, has put
the triumph of the clan’s old enemies into a nutshell in
his famous MacGregor. boat-song in Rob Roy:

Proudly our pibrochs have thrilled in Glenfruin,
And Bannochar’s groans to our slogan replied;

Glen Luss and Rossdhu they are smoking in ruin,
And the best of Loch Lomond lie dead on her side.

Widow and Saxon maid

Long shall lament our raid,

Think of Clan Alpin with fear and with woe;

Lennox and Leven glen

Shake when they hear again

Roderich vich Alpin dhu, Ho ierce!

The ultimate result of the battle was very different from
what might have been expected. While the MacGregors
were hunted and harried through all -their fastnesses, the
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Colquliouns quietly settled again on their lovely loch shore,
and their subsequent fortunes illustrated well the old
saying, ‘‘ Happy is the nation that has no history.”” From
the foot of Glenfruin to the head of Loch Lomond, and
over the hills along the whole side of the Gareloch and
Loch Long to Arrochar, stretch the fair mountain posses-
sions of the Chiefs of Colquhoun at the present hour. On
Gareloch side the fair garden city of Helensburgh has
risen on their estate ; and their possessions include not only
their ancient lands of the time of the battle of Glenfruin,
but also the territories of the Macaulays at Ardencaple,
and of the wild MacFarlanes at Arrochar. There is no
lovelier avenue in the Highlands than that from the south
gateway below Glenfruin, which winds along the silvan
shores of the loch for a mile and a half, to Rossdhu, and
thence for another mile northwards on the road to Luss.
Rossdhu itself stands, a stately seat, on its promontory,
with deer park and noble woods about it; and the
Colquboun village of Luss, at the foot of its own beautiful
glen, remains, in spite of the streams of tourists who pass
it by in steamers and motor cars, one of the most
sequestered and unspoiled spots in all the Highlands.
Curiously enough the original seat of the family was
not on Loch Lomond side at all. Dunglass Castle, just
below Bowling on the opening Firth of Clyde, at the spot
where the old Roman Wall is believed to have had its
western end, was the early seat of the race, and the three-
mile stretch down the western shore of the Firth thence to
Dunbarton rock formed the old barony of Colquhoun
from which the family took its name. Some five centuries
ago, however, the laird of Colquhoun married the heiress
of the older lairds of Luss, and thus by and by the head-
quarters of the family were removed to Loch Lomond side.
Here the heads of the house seem to have steadily
increased in prosperity, and the followers of their name
to have grown in numbers. For the most part they appear
to have been a peaceful race, and it was not until towards
| the end of the sixteenth century that they began to be
\ mixed up in the distressful business of the making of
history. Sir Humphrey Colquhoun, the chief of that time,
in 1582 purchased the heritable crownership or coroner-
ship of Dunbartonshire, to be held blench of the Crown
for the annual fee of one penny; and it was this
Sir Humphrey who, ten years later, first came into con-
| flict with Clan Gregor. In face of an assault by the
MacGregor clansmen from the other side of the loch, he
was forced to take refuge in his strong castle of Bannochra,
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of which the ruin is still to be seen in Glenfruin, and here,
it is said, he fell a victim to the treachery of his servant.
This man, in lighting the chief up the stair at night, so
managed his torch as to throw the light upon his master,
and make him a mark for the arrow of an enemy outside,
by whom Sir Humphrey was shot at and slain.

The story goes that the death of the chief was brought
about by his second brother, John. At any rate an entry
in the diary of Robert Birrell, burgess of Edinburgh, dated
3oth November, 1592, mentions that ‘ John Cachoune was
beheidit at the Crosse at Edinburghe for murthering of
his auen brother the Lairde of Lusse.”” Further confirma-
tion of the tradition that John was the guilty man is to be
found in the fact that Sir Humphrey was succeeded, not
by his second but by his third brother, Sir Alexander
Colquhoun.

This chief, Sir Alexander, was the man who figures in
the great contest with the MacGregors at Glenfruin. In
his introduction to Rob Roy Sir Walter Scott lays the
blame of beginning the feud upon the Colquhouns. His
narrative runs, ‘‘ Two of the MacGregors, being
benighted, asked shelter in a house belonging to a
dependent of the Colquhouns, and were refused. They
then retired to an outhouse, took a wedder from the fold,
killed it, and supped off the carcase, for which they offered
payment to the owner. The Laird of Luss, however,
unwilling to be propitiated by the offer made to his tenant,
seized the offenders, and by the summmary process which
feudal barons had at their command, caused them to be
condemned and executed.”” Sir Walter adds that * the
MacGregors verified this account of the feud by appealing
to the proverb current among them, execrating the hour
when the black wedder with the white tail was ever
lambed.” There is at the same time another and probably
a truer account of the outbreak of the trouble. It would
appear that the MacGregors were instigated to attack the
Colquhouns by Archibald, Earl of Argyll, who had his
own ends to serve by bringing trouble on both clans. As
a result of the constant raids by the MacGregors, thus
brought about, Sir Alexander Colquhoun in 1602 obtained
a licence from James VI. to arm his clan. On the 7th of
the following February the two clans, each some three
hundred strong, came face to face in battle array in Glen-
fruin. The battle was so much a set affair that Alastair
MacGregor divided his force into two parties, he himself
attacking the Colquhouns in front, while his brother John
came upon them in the rear. The Colquhouns defended
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themselves bravely, killing among others this John Mac-
Gregor; but, assailed on two sides, they were at last forced
to give way. They were pursued to the gates of Rossdhu
itself, and 140 of them were slain, including several near
kinsmen of the chief and a number of burgesses of Dun-
barton who had taken arms in his cause.

According to a well-known tradition, some forty
students and other Dunbarton folk had come up to witness
the battle. As a watch and guard MacGregor had set one
of his clansmen, Dugald Ciar Mhor, over these spectators.
On the Colquhouns being overthrown, MacGregor noticed
Dugald join in the ‘pursuit, and asked him what he had
done with the young men, whereupon the clansman held
up his bloody dirk, and answered, ‘ Ask that! >’

The MacGregors followed up the defeat of the
Colquhouns by plundering and destroying the whole
estate. They drove off 600 cattle, 8oo sheep and goats,
and 14 score horses, and burned every house and barn-
yard and destroyed the ‘* Haill plenishing, guids, and
gear of the four-score pound land of Luss,’”” while the
unfortunate chief, Sir Alexander Colquhoun, looked on
helpless from within the walls of the old castle of Rossdhu,
the ruin of which still stands on its rising ground behind
the modern mansion.

Retribution, swift and terrible, however, was visited
upon the MacGregors. Some sixty Colquhoun widows
in deep mourning, carrying their husbands’ bloody shirts
on poles, appeared before James VI. at Stirling. It has
been suggested that this parade was not all genuine, that
these women were not all widows, and that the blood
on the shirts had not been shed in Glenfruin. But the
King was sufficiently moved, and forthwith letters of fire
and sword were granted against the MacGregors. Their
very name was proscribed and the sheltering of one of the
clan was made a crime punishable with death. While his
men were hunted with dogs along the hills, the chief,
Alastair Gregor, was induced across the Border by the
promise of his false friend, Argyll. The latter had given
his word that he would see him safely into England,
whither the King had by that time removed his court; but
no sooner was MacGregor across the Border than Argyll
had him arrested and carried back to Edinburgh, where on
20th January, with four of his henchmen, he was tried,
condemned, and hanged at the Cross, while all his
possessions were declared forfeited.

A few years later a drama of another kind was carried
out at Rossdhu. The son of the chief who fought at
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Glenfruin was made a baronet. Sir John Colquhoun
married Lilias Graham, eldest sister of the great Marquess
of Montrose, and he returned the King’s favour by. proving
a devoted loyalist in the Civil War, for which action he
was fined £2,000 by Oliver Cromwell. Besides this, Sir
John had another trouble in hand. He appears to have
run away with a younger sister of the Marquess of Mon-
trose, Lady Catherine Graham, who had taken refuge at
Rossdhu. He was accused of having used the Black Art
for the purpose of enticing her, and of having employed,
among other witches and sorcerers, one Thomas Carlippis,
whom he kept as his ordinary servant. Along with
certain love philters, he is said to have used a certain
jewel of gold set with divers diamonds, rubies, and other
precious stones, and from this fact one may doubt whether
there was much necromancy after all in the attractions
with which he overcome the scruples of the fair young
lady. As a consequence, however, the gay baronet was
outlawed and excommunicated, and, what with the expense
of his love-jewels, his fines as a Royalist, and other extrava-
gances, he was presently forced to dispose of his life-rent
of the estates, and it was only with difficulty that posses-
sion was recovered by the bargaining of his shrewd
brother, Humphrey Colquhoun.

The male line of the Colquhouns came to an end with
Sir John’s grandson, Sir Humphrey. This laird was a
member of the last Scottish Parliament and an ardent
opponent of the Union with England. He had an only
daughter, Anne, who was married to James Grant of
Pluscardine, second son of the Chief of the Grants. He
was most anxious that his daughter should inherit his
honours and estates, instead of his nephew, John
Colquhoun of Tillie-Colquhoun, now Tilliechewan, near
Balloch. To secure this he resigneéd his baronetcy and
estates into the hands of the King, and in 1704 received a
new charter securing the life-rent of these possessions to
himself and entailing them afterwards upon his daughter
and son-in-law. Then, in order that the name and estate
of Colquhoun should at no time become merged with those
of the Grants, he provided that if at any time the Laird of
Colquhoun should succeed to the lairdship of Grant,
the Colquhoun estate should at once pass to the next
Colquhoun heir.

Curiously enough, Sir Humphrey was not long dead
when his daughter’s husband succeeded his elder brother
as Laird of Grant. Thereupon the Colquhoun estates
passed to Anne’s second son, Ludovic Grant, who forth-
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with took the name and designation of Sir Ludovic
Colquhoun. By and by, however, Sir Ludovic’s elder
brother died, and he himself became Laird of Grant, and
had to resign the Luss estates to his younger brother, the
third son of Anne Colquhoun. Then came a curious
incident. A poacher was charged at Dunbarton Sheriff
Court with trespass on the lands of Sir James Colquhoun,
Bart., of Colqubhoun and Luss. The lawyer who defended
him pleaded that the indictment was irrelevant, as the
accuser was not Sir James Colquhoun, Bart., and he won
his case. The fact was that in arranging for the succes-
sion to the estates, Sir Humphrey Colquhoun had failed to
provide for the simultaneous succession to the baronetcy,
which now really belonged to the descendant of his
nephew, John of Tillie-Colquhoun. The Laird of Luss,
however, was made a baronet of Great Britain in 1786, and
by the failure of the line of Tillie-Colquhoun, the original
baronetcy afterwards returned to his descendant.

In more recent days the Lairds of Luss have played a
not less distinguished part in Scottish affairs. They have
been members of Parliament and Lords Lieutenant; one
was a Principal Clerk of the Court of Session, and another
a Sheriff Depute of Dunbartonshire, while one member of
the family, John Colquhoun, was author of the well-known
open-air book, The Moor and the Loch, and his daughter,
Mrs. L. B. Walford, is one of the best-known novelists of
our time. In 1847, when Queen Victoria visited Dun-
barton Castle, she was received by Sir James Colquhoun
as Lord Lieutenant. The carriage in which he drove her
Majesty from and to the landing-place is still kept in the
coach-house at Rossdhu, and a picture representing Sir
James in the act of receiving her Majesty still hangs in the
hall.

Alas! this same Sir James, twenty-six years later, came
to his end in a way which is recalled yet as one of the
most tragic of Loch Lomond’s memories. On the 18th of
December, 1873, with five of his keepers he had gone to
the Colquhoun deer island of Inch Lonaig to secure
Christmas fare for his tenants and friends. On his return
in the heavily-loaded boat he had reached Inch Tavanach,
the ‘“ Monk’s Island,” off Luss, when, in a sudden storm
the boat was swamped and all on board perished.

Sir Iain Colquhoun, the present possessor of the estates
and holder of the title, is the third successor since then.

|| Before the war he held a commission in the Scots Guards,

and was a noted athlete, winning the light-weight boxing
championship of the British army. On the outbreak of
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war in 1914 he went to the front in France, where he
greatly distinguished himself, won the D.S.O. -with bar,
was mentioned in dispatches and held the rank of Major.
He is now Lord-Lieutenant of Dunbartonshire.

SepPTS OF CLAN COLQUHOUN

Cowan Kilpatrick
Kirkpatrick Macachounich
MacCowan
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CLAN COMYN
BADGE : Lus mhic Chuimein (cuminum) Cumin plant.

THERE was no greater name in Scotland towards the end
of the thirteenth century than that of Comyn. With their
headquarters in Badenoch the chiefs and gentlemen of the
clan owned broad lands in nearly every part of Scotland,
and the history of the time is full of their deeds and the
evidences of their influence.

Writers who seek to derive this clan from a Celtic
source cite the existence of two abbots of Iona of the name
who held office in the years 597 and 657 respectively. The
later of these was known as Comyn the Fair, and from one
or other of them the name of Fort Augustus, ‘‘ Kil
Chuimein,’’ was probably derived. Another origin of the
family is recounted by Wyntoun in his Cronykil of
Scotland. According to this writer there was at the court
of Malcolm III. a young foreigner. His occupation was
that of Door-ward or usher of the royal apartment, but, to
begin with, he knew only two words of the Scottish
language, ‘‘ Cum in,”” and accordingly became known by
that name. He married the only daughter of the king’s
half-brother Donald, and his descendants therefore
represented the legitimate line of the old Celtic kings of
Scotland, as against the illegitimate line descending from
Malcolm III. The Comyns themselves claim descent
from Robert de Comyn, Earl of Northumberland, who
fell along with Malcolm III. at the battle of Alnwick in
1093. That Robert de Comyn, again, claimed descent,
through the Norman Counts de Comyn, from no less a
personage than Charlemagne. The probability appears
to be that a scion of the house of Northumberland came
north in the days of Malcolm III., and obtained lands in
the county of Roxburgh, where one of the name is found
settled in the reign of Malcolm’s son, David I.

No record is left of the family’s rise to influence and
power, but in the course of the next two hundred years
the Comyns managed to make themselves by far the most
powerful house in Scotland. Richard de Comyn stood
high in the service of William the Lion,- and his -son
William, marrying Marjory, Countess of Buchan, became
lord of that great northern earldom. In the days of King
Alexander II., Comyn, the great lord of Kilbride, and his

&
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wife, were the chief builders of Glasgow cathedral. By
this fact appears to hang a pretty and ‘pathetic tale. When
the great work was half done Comyn died. His wife,
however, in loving faithfulness completed the building,
which may be taken, almost as it stands to-day, as a monu-
ment of her wifely love and faith. It is an interesting fact
that there exist in the lower church which they built two
fine likenesses of the Comyn Lord of Kilbride and his lady,
carved in stone. Along with them is a life-like carved head
of Alexander II. himself, and the three are believed to be.
the earliest existing portraits of historic personages in
Scotland. The building of Glasgow cathedral above
referred to took place about the year 1258, and some idea
of the enduring quality of the work may be gathered from
the fact that the oaken timbers of the roof, taken down
some few years ago, remained as sound as on the day when
the Lord of Kilbride and his lady saw them placed in
position on the shrine.

A few years later, in the reign of Alexander III., there
were in Scotland, according to the historian Fordun,
three powerful earls, Buchan, Menteith, and Atholl, and
no fewer than thirty-two knights of the name of Comyn.
There was also Comyn, Lord of Strathbogie. As Lords
of Badenoch they owned the formidable stronghold of
Lochindorb in that district, and a score of castles through-
out the country besides. Stories of their deeds and
achievements wellnigh fill the annals of the north of that
time. In the boyhood of Alexander III., when Henry III.
of England was doing his best by fraud and force to
bring Scotland under his power, it was Walter Comyn,
Earl of Menteith, who stood out as the most patriotic of
all the Scottish nobles to resist the attempts of the English
king. When Henry, at the marriage of his daughter to
the boy-king of Scots, suggested that the latter should
render fealty for the kingdom of Scotland, it was probably
Walter Comyn who put the answer into Alexander’s mouth
“ That he had come into England upon a joyful and
pacific errand, and would not treat upon so arduous a
question without the advice of the Estates of his realm.”
And when Henry marched towards the Scottish Border at
the head of an army, it was Walter Comyn who collected
a Scottish host, and made the English king suddenly
modify his designs. Alas! at the very moment when he
seemed to have achieved his purpose, when the English
faction had been driven out, and Alexander and the
Comyns, with the queen-mother, the famous Marie de
Couci, had established a powerful government in Scot-
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land, the Earl of Menteith suddenly died. The incident
was tragic. In England it was said his death had been
caused by a fall from his horse, but the truth appears to
be that an English baron named Russell had won the
affections of Comyn’s wife, and that she poisoned her
husband to make way for her paramour. It is agreeable
to know that Russell and the faithless countess were shortly
afterwards hounded from the kingdom. From that time
the Earldom of Menteith appears to have passed into other
hands, successively Bullocks, Stewarts, and Grahams.

On the death of the Maid of Norway, the infant queen
of Scotland, in the year 1290, John Comyn, Lord of
Badenoch, known popularly as the Black Comyn, was one
of the twelve claimants to the Scottish throne, and the
tradition of the marriage of the young Comyn of Malcolm
II1.’s time with the daughter of Donald, King Duncan’s
legitimate son, is proved to be authentic by the fact that
the Lord of Badenoch’s claim to the throne was based
upon that descent. He was among the knights who
supported King John Baliol against Edward 1.’s invasion
in 1297, but was one of those forced to surrender in the
castle of Dunbar after the defeat of the Scots at that place.

On the patriot Wallace giving up the governorship of
Scotland after his defeat at the battle of Falkirk, John
Comyn, the younger of Badenoch, otherwise the Red
Comyn, was chosen as one of the two governors of Scot-
land, and in 1302, he, along with Sir Simon Fraser,
defeated three English armies in one day at the famous
battle of Roslin, By way of reprisal Edward, a few
months later, marched another army into the north, and
took Comyn’s great stronghold of Lochindorb. Comyn,
nevertheless, afterwards bravely carried on a guerilla
warfare against several invasions by the English king.
Finally, however, defeated at the passage of the Forth,
where Wallace had won his great victory of Stirling
Bridge, Comyn was forced to surrender.

In these wars against Edward of England the Red
Comyn had a very personal interest. His mother was
Marjory, sister of King John Baliol, and accordingly he
had an immediate claim to the throne of Scotland should
anything happen to King John’s sons, the young Edward
and Henry Baliol, at that time minors and captives. This
claim was superior to that of Robert the Bruce, and
inevitably brought these two great families, the Comyns
and the Bruces, into bitter conflict. Comyn had further
reason to look with hope on his chance of succeeding to
the crown. He had married Johanna, daughter of
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William de Valence, Earl of Pembroke, whose mother
was Isabella, widow of John, King of England, grand-
father of Edward 1.

There were also other immediate causes of feud between
the Comyns and the Bruces. After the crown had been
awarded to Baliol the Bruces kept apart from public
affairs, maintained allegiance to Edward I., and, living
mostly in England, kept possession of their great estates.
Baliol and the Comyns, on the other hand, fighting hard
for the independence of Scotland, suffered both in liberty
and land. Resenting Bruce’s inaction, Baliol confiscated
his estate of Annandale, and gave it to John Comyn, Earl
of Buchan, who forthwith seized and occupied Bruce’s
great stronghold of Lochmaben. This insult the Bruces
never forgave. At the same time it probably rankled in
the Red Comyn’s mind that, while he himself, who had
the better claim to the throne, and had done and suffered
so much for Scotland, was regarded with disfavour, the
Bruces, who had consulted only their own ease and
interest, and had maintained allegiance to the English
king, should have been practically promised the reversion
of the Scottish crown by Edward 1.

Matters were in this state when, according to Wyntoun, .
the two barons found themselves riding together from
Stirling. The question of the claim to the throne was
broached, and Bruce, it is said, made the proposal that
one of them should give his estates to the other, and be
supported by that other in an attempt for the crown.
Comyn, Wyntoun says, agreed to give up his claim to the
throne and accept Bruce’s lands, and, as a result of the
compact, became acquainted with the plans and alliances
Bruce was forming for his attempt. Then, when Bruce .
was at the English court, Comyn revealed the matter to
Edward I.

This may be merely a popular tale, but nothing else has
been brought forward to account for what followed.

Bruce, it is said, questioned at court by Edward I.,
asked leave to go to his lodging for papers proving his
innocence. There he received a warning from his young
kinsman, the Earl of Gloucester, who sent him a feather
or a pair of spurs, and forthwith he fled to the north. Five
days later, as he crossed the Border, he met a messenger
of Comyn’s on his way to the English court. The man
was slain and the letter seized upon him proved the
treachery of Comyn. A few days later—it was in the
month of February, 1305—the two great barons met at the
Justice Ayre in Dumfries. To discuss their difference



COMYN, LORD OF KILBRIDE
CONTRIBUTOR TO THE BUILDING OF GLASGOW CATHEDRAL, A.D. 1258

Facing page 62.







CLAN COMYN 63

they retired to the church of the Minorites, which had been
built by Comyn’s grandmother, the famous Devorgilla,
heiress of the ancient Lords of Galloway. There, as all
the world knows, question, reproach, and retort ended in
Bruce losing his temper, drawing his dagger, and stab-
' bing the Red Comyn in the throat. The deed was
. completed by Bruce’s henchman, Kirkpatrick of Close-
' burn, with the unforgotten exclamation *‘ I mak siccar,”’
and Sir Robert Comyn, uncle of the slain man, who
rushed in to save him, met the same fate.
, It was this act which drove Bruce to open war, and
' brought about the ultimate freedom of Scotland; but
during the struggle which ensued the king again and again
paid bitterly for the rash deed he had done at the high
altar of the Minorites in Dumfries. Alexander of Argyll
had married the Red Comyn’s daughter, and for that
reason his son, John of Lorne, was Bruce’s bitterest foe,
and more than once put the king to the utmost peril of
his life. John of Lorne, of course, was overcome at last,
' and his descendants survive only as private gentlemen,
the MacDougalls of Dunolly. The same fate sooner or
later overtook all the other connections of the great house
} of Comyn. The Comyns themselves, under the leader-
ship of Comyn, Earl of Buchan, were finally defeated by
Bruce at the battle of Inverury. For many days, sick to
death, the king had been carried about in a litter, and the
hearts of his followers had begun to fail, when the Earl of
Buchan and Sir David of Brechin made the attack; where-
upon the king, calling for his warhorse, mounted, led his
little force to battle, and vanquished his sickness and his
enemies the Comyns at the same time. Buchan fled to
England, while Bruce burned his earldom from end to end
to such effect

That eftir that, weile fifty yheir, !
Men menyt ¢ the Heirschip of Bouchane.”

The son of the Red Comyn was the last of his line, and
about the time of his death the collateral branch which
held the earldom of Buchan also became extinct.
In the churchyard of Bourtie is to be seen the effigy of
a knight said to have been one of the Comyns slain in the
battle of Inverury.
Gradually throughout the country the Comyns were
supplanted by other families. An instance of this is the
| occurrence enshrined in the tradition regarding the trans-
ference of Castle Grant on Speyside to the family of its
|| present owners. According to tradition a younger son of
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Grant of Stratherrick eloped with a daughter of a Macgregor
chief. With thirty followers the pair fled to Strathspey,
and found a hiding-place in a cavern not far from the
castle, then known as Freuchie. The Comyns naturally
looked with disfavour upon such an invasion, and tried
to dislodge the band, but Grant kept possession of the
cave. Then Macgregor descended Strathspey at the head
of a party of his clan, and demanded his daughter. His
son-in-law was astute. Receiving him with every show of
respect, he contrived in the torchlight and among the
shadows of the wood to make his men appear a much
larger following than his father-in-law had supposed, and
a complete reconciliation took place. Grant then pushed
his advantage farther. He complained of the attacks of
the Comyns, and induced Macgregor to join in an assault
on Freuchie. By stratagem and valour they took the
stronghold ; the chief of the Comyns was slain in the attack,
and his skull remains a trophy in possession of the Earl
of Seafield to the present day.

The Comyns at Dunphail had a similar fate, which is
well told by Mr. George Bain in his book on the Findhorn.
When Bruce’s nephew, Thomas Randolph, was made
Earl of Moray, the Comyns found their old privileges as
Rangers of the king’s forest of Darnaway restricted. By
way of reprisal the Comyns set out, a thousand strong,
under the leadership of young Alastair of Dunphail, to
burn Randolph’s new great hall at Darnaway. The force,
however, was ambushed by the Earl at Whitemire, and
cut to pieces. Young Alastair Comyn fought his way to
the Findhorn. He found the further bank lined by the
Earl’s men, but, throwing his standard among them with
the shout ‘‘ Let the bravest keep it,”’ he leapt the chasm
at the spot wrongly called Randolph’s Leap, and with
four of his followers made his escape. Moray then
besieged Alastair’s father in his Castle of Dunphail, and
brought the garrison to starvation point. On a dark
night, however, the young man managed to heave some
bags of meal from a high bank into the stronghold. Next
day, by means of a bloodhound, he was tracked to a cave
on the Divie. He begged to be allowed out to die by the
sword, but was smoked to death by the Earl’s men. Then
the heads of himself and his companions were thrown into
his father’s courtyard, with the shout ‘‘ Here is beef for
your bannocks.”” The old chief took up the head of his
son. ‘‘ It is indeed a bitter morsel,”’ he said, ‘‘ but I will
gnaw the last bone of it before I surrender.”” In the end
the little garrison, driven by hunger, sallied out and were
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cut to pieces. Early in the nineteenth century the minister
of Edinkilly found the skeletons of young Alastair and his
companions, seven in number, at a spot still known from
the fact as the ¢ grave of the headless Comyns.”’

The Comyns were still powerful, however, after Bruce’s
time. Edward III., when he overran Scotland in the

| interest of Edward Baliol, made David Comyn, Earl of

Atholl, governor of the country. It was he whom Bruce's
brother-in-law, Sir Andrew Moray, overthrew and slew at
the battle of Kilblene, and it was his countess whom Moray
was besieging in the stronghold of Lochindorb when word
arrived that the English king and his army were at hand.
Moray, it is said, put courage into his little force by wait-

.1 ing to adjust his girths, and even to mend a thong of his
.l armour, before retreating. But he knew the passes of the

Findhorn, and led his little company into safety across the
river at Randolph’s Leap.
At a later day the Comyns had descended to be merely

.l'a warring clan among the clans. In their feud with the

| Mackintoshes it was they who attempted to drown the latter
out by raising the waters round the castle in Loch Moy,

I when the attempt was defeated by a Mackintosh clansmen
| issuing on a raft at night, breaking the barrier, and letting
'\ the flood loose upon the besiegers. On another occasion
! the Comyns, pretending peace, invited the Mackintoshes to

| a feast ‘at Rait Castle, where at a secret signal, each Comyn

.kclansman was to stab a Mackintosh to the heart. But
£ Comyn’s daughter had revealed the plot to her Mackintosh
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.Mover; the Mackintoshes gave the signal first, and the

'plotters were hoist with their own petard.
. Still another incident of the long feud with the
‘Mackintoshes arose out of jealousy regarding a fair dame
of the time. Comyn of Badenoch had reason to resent the
lattentions paid to his wife by his neighbour, Mackintosh
of Tyrinie, and the feeling reached its climax when
Mackintosh presented the lady with no less a gift than a
‘bull and twelve cows. Comyn, thinking it time to
interfere, invited Mackintosh and his followers to a feast,
and slew them all. As the Comyns were slowly ousted by
their Mackintosh and Macpherson neighbours they were
driven to wild and lawless deeds, and on one occasion, in
ireprisal, Alexander Macpherson, known as the Revenge-
ﬁful, slew nine of their chief men in a cave to which they
had resorted for hiding.

The Comyns, however, were not altogether ex-

”“ \inguished by the warfare and feuds in which they played
‘|30 striking and unfortunate a part. In the eighteenth

| oL, 1. €
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century their chief was a simple gentleman, Cumming of
Altyre on the Findhorn. He represented the knight who
fell with his chief, the Red Comyn, in the church of the
Minorites at Dumfries. ' That knight was Sir Robert
Comyn, fourth son of John, Lord of Badenoch, who died
about 1275. Early in the eighteenth century, Robert
Cumming of Altyre married Lucy, daughter of Sir|
Ludovic Gordon, Bart.,, of Gordonstown, lineally}|l
descended from William, Earl of Sutherland and his wife|
the Princess Margaret, daughter of King Robert the|
Bruce, and from George, Earl of Huntly, and his wife, the
Princess Jean, daughter of King James I. Robert}
Cumming’s great-great-grandson, Alexander Penrosei:
Cumming, through this connection inherited the estate of
Gordonstown, near Elgin, assumed the name of Gordon,{'
and was created a baronet in 1804. He was M.P. for the‘
Dumfries burghs. The second baronet was member for
the Elgin burghs at the time of the Reform Bill. He
married a daughter of Campbell of Islay and grand-
daughter of John, Duke of Argyll, by his duchess, the
famous beauty, Elizabeth Gunning. His second son was
Roualeyn George, the famous lion-hunter, while his
youngest daughter is the well-known traveller and author,|
Miss Constance F. Gordon-Cumming, and the present|
baronet is his grandson. ',

Sir William Gordon-Cumming, Bart., of Altyre, is the|
fourth holder of the title. He succeeded his father in|
1866, and saw active service as a Captain and Lieut.-|
Colonel of the Scots Fusilier Guards. He holds the medal|
with clasp for the South African Campaign of 1879, the|
medal with clasp and the bronze star for the Egyptian|
Campaign of 1882, and two clasps for the Nile Expedition
of 1884. His possessions in the county, some 38,500
acres, are considerable for a private gentleman, but will|
hardly compare with the vast possessions once owned by
his ancestors, the great chiefs of the Comyns of the days
of King Alexander III.

It should be added that a considerable body of the!
Comyns at one time, taking offence at being refused inter-
ment in the family burial-place, changed their name to
Farquharson, as descendants of Ferquhard, son of
Alexander, sixth laird of Altyre, in the middle of the
fifteenth century.

Ser1s oF CraN COMYN
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BADGE : Lus nam Braoileag (vaccineum vitis idea) Red whortle-
berry.
PIBROCH : Spaidsearach-Chaisteal Thulaich.

AccorpING to the Highland manuscript believed to be
- written by one MacLauchlan, bearing the date 1467, and
containing an account of the genealogies of Highland
clans down to about the year 1450, which was accepted as
authoritative by Skene in his Celtic Scotland, and believed
to embody the common tradition of its time, the origin of
the Davidsons is attributed to a certain Gilliecattan Mhor,
chief of Clan Chattan in the time of David I. This
personage, it is stated, had two sons, Muirich Mhor and
Dhai Dhu. From the former of these was descended Clan
Mhuirich or Macpherson, and from the latter Clan Dhai
| or Davidson. Sir Aeneas Macpherson, the historian of
' the clan of that name, states that both the Macphersons

and the Davidsons were descended from Muirich, parson

of Kingussie in the twelfth century. Against this state-
ment it has been urged that the Roman kirk had no parson
at Kingussie at that time. But this fact need not militate
against the existence of Muirich at that place. The Culdee
church was still strong in the twelfth century, and, as its
clergy were allowed to marry, there was nothing to hinder

Muirich from being the father of two sons, the elder of

whom might carry on his name, and originate Clan

' Macpherson, while the younger, David, became ancestor
1of the Davidsons. Still another account is given in the

Kinrara MS. upon which Mr. A. M. Mackintosh, the
| historian of Clan Mackintosh, chiefly relies: This MS.

names David Dubh as ancestor of the clan, but makes him

‘of the fourteenth century, and declares him to be of the
‘race of the Comyns. His mother, it says, was Slane,

daughter of Angus, sixth chief of the Mackintoshes, and

his residence was at Nuid in Badenoch. Upon the whole,
it seems most reasonable to accept the earliest account, that
contained in the MS. of 1467, which no doubt embodied

{the traditions considered most authentic in its time.

The chiefs of the Davidsons are said to have been

:settled in early times at Invernahavon, a small estate in

‘Badenoch, at the junction of the Truim with the Spey, and
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when they emerge into history in 1370 or 1386 the holders |

of the name appear to have been of considerable number,
and in close alliance with the Mackintoshes from whose
forebears they claim descent.

The event known as the battle of Invernahavon is well
known as a landmark in Highland history. According
to commonly accepted tradition, the older Clan Chattan,
descended from Gilliecattan Mhor of the time of Malcolm
Canmore or David I., saw the line of its chiefs come to an
end in the latter days of the thirteenth century in the
person of an only child, a daughter named Eva. This
heiress in 1291 married Angus, the young sixth chief of the
Mackintoshes, who along with her received from Gilpatrick,
his father-in-law, not only the lands of Glenlui and
Locharkaig, but also the chiefship of Clan Chattan. The
lands of Glenlui and Locharkaig, however, appear to have
been seized and settled by the Camerons, and eighty or
ninety years later the dispute regarding their ownership
came to a head. After many harryings of the Camerons
by the Mackintoshes and of the Mackintoshes by the
Camerons, it appears that in 1370 or 1386—accounts differ
as to the date—a body of some four hundred Camerons
made an incursion into Badenoch. As they returned
laden with booty they were intercepted at Invernahavon
by Lachlan Mackintosh, the eighth chief, with a body of
Clan Chattan which included not only Mackintoshes but
Macphersons and Davidsons, each led by its respective
chieftain. At the moment of attack a dispute arose
between the chiefs of these two septs as to which should
have the honour of commanding Clan Chattan’s right
wing. Macpherson claimed the honour as male represen-
tative of the chiefs of the older Clan Chattan; Davidson,
on the other hand, insisted that he should have the post as
the oldest cadet.

These claims would appear to uphold the account of
the origin of these two septs which derives them, not from
the Mackintoshes but from Gilliecattan Mhor, chief of the
older Clan Chattan.

Mackintosh, forced to decide in the urgency of the
moment, gave the post of honour to the Davidson chief,
and as a result, the Macphersons, highly offended, with-
drew from the battle. As a result of this, the Mackintoshes
and Davidsons, greatly outnumbered, were routed and cut
to pieces. What followed is the subject of a tradition
given by Bishop Mackintosh in his History of Moray.
According to this tradition Mackintosh sent his bard to the

Macpherson camp, where he treated the Macphersons
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round their camp fires to a taunting ballad describing the
cowardice of men who forsook their friends in the hour of
danger. This, it is said, so enraged the Macpherson chief
that he forthwith called his men to arms, and fell upon the
Camerons in their camp at midnight, where he cut them
to pieces, and put them to flight.

This battle at Invernahavon appears to have been one
of the incidents which directl’y led up to the famous combat

’ before King Robert III. on
the North Inch of Perth in 1396. According to the
chronicler Wyntoun, the parties who fought in that combat
were the Clan Quhele and the Clan Kay, and authorities
have always differed as to who these clans were. Accord-
ing to some, the battle was a direct outcome of the mutual
jealousy of the Macphersons and Davidsons following the
rupture at Invernahavon; and the Gaelic name of the
Davidsons, Clan Dhai, which might easily be mistaken
by a Lowland chronicler for Kay, lends some superficial
colour to the claim. It is scarcely likely, however, that
the Macphersons and Davidsons were at that time so
important as to warrant a great national trial by combat
such as that on the North Inch, which has made such a
striking mark in Scottish history. The probability seems
rather to be that the combat within the barriers before
King Robert III. was between Clan Chattan as a whole
and Clan Cameron. According to the Kinrara MS., Clan
' Quhewil was led on the North Inch by a Mackintosh
{ chieftain, Shaw, founder of the Rothiemurcus branch of
| the family. \

Maclan, in his Costumes of the Clans of Scotland, is
evidently seeking a pretext when he asserts that it was
' mortification at defeat on the North Inch which drove the
| Davidsons into obscurity, and finally induced the chief
with some of his followers to remove further north, and
'settle in the county of Cromarty. It seems more likely
that the decimation of their ranks at Invernahavon, and
' the losses caused by subsequent feuds, so reduced the
' numbers of the clan as to render it of small account during
| the succeeding century.

Lachlan Shaw in his MS. history of Moray states that
early in the seventeenth century the Invernahavon family
changed its name from Davidson to Macpherson, the
individual who did so being James of Invernahavon,
commonly called Seumas Lagach, great-grandfather of
John of Invernahavon. But Mr. A. M. Mackintosh, the
historian of Clan Chattan, has ascertained that the James
\of Invernahavon referred to was son of a John Macpherson,
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who, according to Sir Aeneas Macpherson’s MS., had
feued the property. It can thus be seen how Lachlan Shaw
made the mistake of supposing that the Davidsons of
Invernahavon had changed their name.

The historian of Clan Chattan above referred to offers |
another theory to account for the comparative disappear-
ance of Clan Eavndson from the historic page, by pointing
out that two of the name were concerned in the murder of
Lachlan, the fourteenth Mackintosh chief, in 1524. One
of these two, Milmoir MacDhaibhidh, was the chief’s
foster-brother, but believed that Mackintosh had helped
to destroy his prospects of marrying a rich widow, and
accordingly, on 25th March, along with John Malcolmson
and othér accomplices, fell upon the chief and slew him
while hunting at Ravoch on the Findhorn. For this deed
the three assassins were seized and kept in chains in the
dungeon on Loch-an-Eilan till 1531, when, after trial,
Malcolmson was beheaded and quartered, and the two
Davidsons were tortured, hanged, and had their heads
fixed on poles at the spot where they committed the crime.
Mr. Mackintosh also points out that another Davidson,
Donald MacWilliam vic Dai dui, conspired with the son
of the above John Malcolmson against William, the
fifteenth Mackintosh chief in 1550, when the head of that
chief was brought to the block by the Earl of Huntly at
Strathbogie. The Davidsons who did these things,
however, were merely servants and humble holders of the
name, and their acts can hardly have brought the whole
clan into serious disrepute.

That the Davidsons did not altogether cease to play a
part in important events is shown by an entry in the
Exchequer Rolls (iv. 510) in 1429. This is a record of
a distribution of cloth of divers colours to Walter
Davidson and his men by command of the King, and the
gift is taken to be possibly an acknowledgment of the
loyalty of the Davidson chief and his clan during the
Highland troubles of the year.

Later popular tradition has associated the Davndsons
with the estate of Davidston in Cromarty, the laird of
which is mentioned in 1501 and 1508, in the course of a
legal action taken against Dingwall and Tain by the
Burgh of Inverness. Here again, however, the historian
of Clan Chattan has pdinted out that, according to Fraser
Mackintosh’s Invernessiana, pages 175-184, the owners of
the estate of Davidston were a family named Denoon or
Dunound.

In any case, however, the Davidsons had taken root in
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this neighbourhood. In the second half of the seventeenth
century Donald Davidson owned certain land and other
property in Cromarty. His son, Alexander Davidson, was
town clerk of the county town, and his son William
sucoeeded him in the same office. In 1719 this William
Davidson married Jean, daughter of Kenneth Bayne of.
Knockbayne, nephew and heir of Duncan Bayne of
Tulloch. " The son of this pair, Henry Davidson, born in _
1729, made' a great fortune as a London West India
merchant. His wife was the daughter of a shipmaster of
Cromarty, who was son of Bernard MacKenzie, last
Bishop of Ross. In 1763, when the estate of Tulloch was
sold by the creditors of the ancient owners, the Baynes, it
was purchased by Henry Davidson for 410,500, and has
since been the seat of his family.

On the death of Henry Davidson, first of Tulloch, in
1781, he was succeeded by his brother Duncan. This laird
was an energetic and notable man in his day. On the
Tulloch estate he carried out vast improvements, including
the reclamation of a great stretch of land from the sea,
and the construction of the main road from Dingwall to
the North. He was provost of Dingwall from 1784 till:
1786, and M.P. for Cromarty from 1790 to 1796. This
laird’s son, Henry, was, like his uncle, a successful West
India merchant in London, and, like his father, was a
great planter of woods and reclaimer of land. His son,
Duncan, the fourth laird of Tulloch, began life as an
officer in the Grenadier Guards. His first wife was a
daughter of the third Lord MacDonald, and his return to
Parliament as member for Cromarty in 1826 was the
occasion of great celebrations in the countryside. As a
politician he was chiefly noted for his opposition to the
Reform Bill. An enthusiastic sportsman, he was the
reviver of horse racing at the Northern Meeting at
Inverness, and he drove the first coach which ran from
Perth to Inverness, on the Queen’s birthday in 1841. At
his death in 1881 he was succeeded by his eldest son,
Duncan, who married Georgina, daughter of John
MacKenzie, M.B., of the Gareloch family, and in turn
died in 1889. His son, the sixth and present laird, who
was born in 1865, married in 1887 Gwendoline, daughter
of William Dalziel MacKenzie of Farr and of Fawley
Court, Buckinghamshire. He was trained for a com-
mercial career, but after fourteen years in London, his
health breaking down, he retired to live at Tulloch. He
takes an active part in county business, is a J.P., D.L.,
and Honorary Sheriff-Substitute, as well as county
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commissioner for the Boy Scouts and chairman of various
county boards. A keen sportsman and horticulturist, he
takes a lively interest in farming, gardening, shooting,
fishing, and all games, and as a reflection of his tastes the
gardens and policies of Tulloch Castle are among the most
beautiful in the north.

Tulloch is an ancient barony held by rights from the
Crown. The first Davidson lairds took much pleasure in
filling the castle with valuable portraits and works of art,
and it was a cause of much regret when in July, 1845, the
castle was burned down and most of its contents destroyed.

On 25th March, 1909, with a view to the formation of
a Clan Davidson Society, the Laird of Tulloch called a
meeting of holders of the name at the Hotel Metropole in
London. Some sixty members of the clan were present,
when it was proposed, seconded, and carried that Davidson
of Tulloch be recognised and acknowledged as chief of the
clan. The act was questioned in a letter to the Northern
Chronicle, in which the writer pointed out that, while for
a long period of years writers on Highland history had all
pointed to Tulloch as the chief, this must be taken as an
error seeing that The Mackintosh was the only chief of
Clan Chattan. In proof of this statement it was pointed
out that in 1703 twenty persons named Dean alias
Davidson had at Inverness signed a band of manrent
declaring that they and their ancestors had been followers,
dependents, and kinsmen to the lairds of Mackintosh, and
were still in duty bound to own and maintain the claim,
and to follow, assist, and defend the honourable person of
Lachlan Mackintosh of that ilk as their true and lawful
chieftain. A long correspondence followed pro and con,
but it was pointed out by later writers that the acknowledg-
ment of Mackintosh by twenty Davidsons as supreme head
of the Clan Chattan confederacy did not prevent the
Davidson sept from possessing and following a chief of
their own. As a matter of fact, history shows them to have
had a chief at the battle of Invernahavon, and by all the
laws of Highland genealogy the clansmen were fully
entitled to meet and confirm the claim of their present
leader and head. ]

Two other landed families of the name in the north are
the Davidsons of Cantray and the Davidsons of Inchmarlo.
The former are believed to have been settled on the lands
of Cantray, an ancient property of the Dallases, for at
least two hundred years. In 1767-8 the lands of Cantray
and Croy were purchased by David Davidson, son of
William Davidson and Agnes MacKercher, who afterwards
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added Clava to the estate. This laird married Mary,
daughter of George Cuthbert of Castlehill, Sheriff-
Substitute of Inverness, and is alluded to in the statistical
account of 1842 as ‘‘ a man of singular sagacity, of most
active powers of mind, and practical good sense,’’ and as
“ a liberal-minded and fatherly landlord.” His son,
another David, was knighted by King George III., and his
grandson, Hugh Grogan, the fifth laird, was convener of
the country of Inverness. His son, Hugh, the present laird,
as an officer of the Seaforth Highlanders, served through
the Afghan War of 1880, for which he holds a medal.

Inchmarlo, again, was purchased in 1838 by Duncan
Davidson, son of John Davidson of Tilliechetly and Dess-
wood on Deeside. The present laird of Inchmarlo is his
grandson, Duncan, while his youngest son’s son is
Francis Duncan Davidson, late captain in the Cameron
Highlanders and now owner of Desswood.

It should be added that Davidson of Tulloch is
hereditary keeper of the royal castle of Dingwall.

Among notable holders of the name of Davidson
mention must be made of the redoubtable provost of
Aberdeen, Sir Robert Davidson, who led the burghers of
the city at the battle of Harlaw in 1411, and gallantly fell
at their head. It is said to be his armour which is still
treasured in the vestibule of the City Chambers at
Aberdeen, and when the great old church of St. Nicholas
in that city was being repaired a generation ago his
skeleton was recognised by a red cloth cap with which he
had been buried.

Another notable clansman was John Davidson, Regent
of St. Leonard’s College at St. Andrews in the days of
Queen Mary, and afterwards the minister of Liberton near
Edinburgh, who quarrelled with the Regent Morton,
. opposed the desire of James VI. to restore prelacy, excom-
municated Montgomerie, Bishop of Glasgow, at the desire
of the General Assembly in 1582, and was author of
. Memorials of His Time.

All of the name of Davidson are not necessarily
members of the clan, but those of Highland descent are
still numerous enough to afford a handsome following for
their chief at the present hour.

SEPTS OF CLAN DAVIDSON

Davie Davis
Dawson Dow
Kay Macdade

Macdaid MacDavid



CLAN DRUMMOND

BADGE : Lus mhic Righ Bhreatinn (thymis syrpillum) mother
of thyme. :

PiBrocH : Spaidsearachd Duic Pheart, the Duke of Perth’s March,
and the Lady Sarah Drummond. :

IN view of the recent devastating war with Austria-
Hungary, it is curious to remember that, according
to tradition, one at least of the great historic houses of
Scotland derives its descent from Hungarian stock. The
commander of the vessel in which Edgar the Atheling,
with his mother and his sisters Margaret and Isabella, set
sail for Hungary to escape the usurpation of Harold, is
said to have been Maurice, son of George, son of Andrew,
King of Hungary. As every Scotsman knows, the
vessel was driven into the Firth of Forth, and the Princess
Margaret presently became the wife of the mighty
Canmore, Malcolm III., King of Scots, with far-reaching
effects on the subsequent history of Scotland. The King,
it is said, made Maurice Steward or Thane of Lennox, a
title still held by the Drummond chief, and bestowed upon
him the lands of Drymen on the Endrick, from which his
descendants took their name, and which they continued to
possess for some two hundred years. It is said to have
been in commemoration of their ancestor’s achievement in
bringing Queen Margaret to Scotland that, when coats of
arms came into existence, the Drummonds adopted the
device of three bars wavy, or and gules, represent-
ing the sunset waves of the North Sea. In the time of
Alexander II., Maurice’s great-great-grandson, Malcolm
Beg Drummond, further secured the status of his family
by marrying Ada, daughter of the Earl of Lennox, and
granddaughter of the High Steward of Scotland; and his
grandson, Sir John Drummond of that ilk, Thane of
Lennox, appears in history as a stout defender of Scottish
liberty against the usurpation of Edward 1. of England.
He was summoned to Parliament as one of the greatest
barons of the kingdom. It was his son, again, Sir
Malcolm Drummond, who suggested to King Robert the
Bruce the strewing of caltrops in the way of the English
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cavalry at the battle of Bannockburn. *‘ Gang warily,”
the family motto adopted by his descendants, is said to
bear reference to that suggestion. For his services on that
occasion he obtained from the King certain lands in
Perthshire, which had the effect of removing the family
seat from Loch Lomondside to the central district of
Scotland.

It was a few years later that the house made its first
alliance with the Royal family. Margaret Logie, the
beautiful, imperious second wife of Bruce’s son, David 1.,
was a daughter of the house of Drummond.. Though she
was the widow of John de Logie, who had been executed
for his part in the great Soulis conspiracy against King
Robert the Bruce, King David was infatuated with the
spell of her beauty, and could refuse her nothing; and
with her extravagant pilgrimages to Canterbury and the
satisfaction of such personal spites as that by which she
induced the King to cast the Steward and his sons into
prison, she led David a pretty dance, till he divorced her
at Lent in 1369. Hereupon she collected her wealth,
betook herself to the Papal Court at Avignon, and
continued to make trouble till her death shortly afterwards.

Meantime, by the marriage of Sir John Drummond,
grandson of the Drummond who fought at Bannockburn,
to Mary the daughter and heiress of Sir William de
Montifex, the family had come into possession of Stobhall
on the Tay and large possessions in Perthshire, and a
further alliance with the royal house was made when
Sir John’s eldest daughter Annabella became the wife of
King Robert III., and was crowned with him at Scone
in September, 1390. Through this marriage all the
succeeding Kings of Scotland and of Britain have been
descended from the House of Drummond, and there is

-Drummond blood in the veins of most of the crowned

heads of Europe.

Annabella’s elder brother, Sir Malcolm, married Isabel
Countess of Mar, sister of the Earl of Douglas who fell at
Otterburn. Sir Malcolm was murdered by Alexander
Stewart, natural son of the fierce Wolf of Badenoch and
grandson of Robert II., who forcibly married the Countess
and assumed the title of Earl of Mar, fighting under that
name at Harlaw and Inverlochy. Annabella’s younger
brother, Sir John, who succeeded as Chief of the Drum-
monds, was Justiciar of Scotland.

But the house had not yet reached the summit of its
fortunes. The Justiciar’s great-grandson, another Sir
John Drummond, of Cargill and Stobhall, was a dis-
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tinguished statesman in the reign of James III., and for
his services as Ambassador Extraordinary to England, to
arrange the marriages of the King and his sons with
princesses of the House of York, was made a Lord of
Parliament in 1487.

Drummond, however, had secret hopes of seeing
another daughter of his house seated on the Scottish
throne. The King’s eldest son, the Duke of Rothesay,
then a lad of sixteen, had already shown a striking
partiality for Lord Drummond’s eldest daughter, the
Lady Margaret, and when the prince took arms against
his father, Lord Drummond appeared upon his side.
After the fall of James III. at Sauchieburn, the young
prince, now King James IV., embarked with his young
mistress upon a wonderful life of royal revels and
gaiety. At Linlithgow Palace a splendid succession of
shows and theatrical entertainments, of hunting parties by
day and dances and masked balls at night, were got up
for the pleasure of the youthful pair, while James lavished
priceless gifts upon his lovely young mistress. Deeply
enamoured, and in his youthful ardour, James, it is said,
became affianced to the beautiful girl, and intended to
make her his queen, and the advances of the royal lover
appear to have received every encouragement from her
father, Lord Drummond, both at Court and at the family
seat of Stobhall on the Tay. Something of the ardour of
the time and the glamour of the royal love match is to be
read in the stanzas of a poem of the period, ‘* Tayis Bank,"’
preserved in the Bannatyne Manuscript. The poet, who
might be the royal lover himself, describes the spot at
blossom time :

Quhair Tay ran down with stremis stout,
Full strecht under Stobschaw ;

and he describes in the most exuberant language the
charms of the lady herself :

This myld, meik, mansuet Mergrit,
This perle polist, most quhyt,

Dame Natouris deir dochter discreit,
The dyamant of delyt;

Never forniet was to found on feit
Ane figour more perfyte,

Nor non ont mold that did hir meit,
Mycht merk hir wirth and myte.

The nobles of Scotland, however, had other views for
their sovereign’s future. So long as the alliance with
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the fair Lady Margaret remained only a distraction, they
were prepared to regard it as a mere sowing of wild oats,
but when the lady gave birth to a daughter, and it was
rumoured that she had been secretly married to the King,
they became seriously alarmed. Their desire was that
James should marry a daughter of the English royal
house, and when it became clear that the Lady Margaret
Drummond was a definite obstacle to the match, her fate
appears to have been sealed. Lord Drummond was just
then building his new mansion of Drummond Castle in
Strathearn, and one morning after breakfast there, in 1501,
the Lady Margaret, with her sisters, Lady Fleming and
Sybilla, were seized with sudden sickness, believed to
have been caused by poison, and in a few hours were dead.
The three lie buried “ in a curious vault covered with three
fair blue marble stones joined close together about the
middle of the choir of the Cathedral Church of Dunblane."’
At that time the family burying-place at Innerpeffray had
not yet been built.

Whatever his sins in conniving at this affair, Lord
Drummond was to see much sorrow in the years that
remained to him. His eldest son Malcolm died before him
unmarried, and his second son William, Master of
Drummond, had a darker fate. At that time the
Drummonds were endeavouring to set up a barony burgh
of Drummond, and the market cross which they actually
procured for the purpose is still to be seen beside the Town
House of Crieff. But the Murrays of Auchtertyre had a
similar ambition, and the cross of Crieff set up by them is
also to be seen a stone-cast away. The rivalry came to a
head when the Abbot of Inchaffry commissioned Murray
of Auchtertyre to poind some cattle of the Drummonds for
the payment of a debt. William, Master of Drummond,
raised his clan to avenge the insult. He -was met by the
Murrays at the little hill of Knockmary, but, reinforced
by a body of Campbells, the Drummonds put the Murrays
to flight. The latter took refuge in the little kirk of
Monzievaird, at Auchtertyre, and the Drummonds, having

| failed to find them, were on the point of returning to their

own territory, when a Murray, seeing his chance, was
ill-advised enough to shoot an arrow from a window of the
kirk, and kill his man. Thereupon the Drummonds,
heaping brushwood round the little straw-thatched fane,
set it on fire, and burned to ashes the church itself and
eight score of the Murrays concealed inside. For this deed
the Master of Drummond was arrested, tried at Edinburgh,

- and, notwithstanding his father’s importance and influence,
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was duly executed. His son Walter, who, on his father’s
death, also became Master of Drummond, likewise died
before his grandfather, and it was his son David, great-
grandson of the first Lord, who, on the death of the latter
in 1519, succeeded as second Lord Drummond.

Meanwhile a third son of the first Lord, Sir John
Drummond of Innerpeffray, had distinguished himself
among the Scottish soldiers of fortune abroad, and had
become captain of the Scots Guards of Henry II. of
France. Several considerable families of the name are
descended from him, but most interesting perhaps is the
fact that, through the marriage of his second daughter to
the Master of Angus, he became grandfather of the Earl
of Angus of James V.’s time, and, by the marriage of that
Earl of Angus to Queen Margaret, widow of James IV.,
became ancestor of Henry, Lord Darnley, husband of Mary
Queen of Scots, and ancestor of all the later monarchs of
Britain.

To the end of his days the first Lord Drummond con-
tinued to play a highly distinguished part in Scottish
history. He was the ambassador sent to the English
Court by James IV. before the battle of Flodden, to secure
the necessary delay for his master’s warlike preparations;
and, along -with the Earl of Huntly and the Earl
Marischal, after the fall of James, he gave valuable
support to the party of the Regent Queen Margaret and
her husband, the Earl of Angus, against the faction
headed by the Earl of Arran. It must have been with
tragic feelings that, four years before his own death, he
learned of the death on Flodden’s fatal field of James IV.,
whom he had loyally served, and whom he had once
hoped to look upon as a son-in-law.

David, the second Lord Drummond, himself married a
princess of the Scottish royal house, Margaret, daughter
of Alexander, Duke of Albany, and granddaughter of
King James II. By her, however, he had no children.
By his second wife, Lilias, daughter of Lord Ruthven, he
had two sons, Patrick the elder of whom became the third
Lord Drummond, while James the second son was in 1609
created Baron Maderty, and became ancestor of the
Viscounts Strathallan, who were to succeed to the chief-
i<hip of the family through this link three hundred years
ater.

Meanwhile the elder line of the Drummonds was to
continue a highly distinguished and romantic career.
James, the fourth Lord, after acting as ambassador for
James V1. to the Court of Spain, was in 1605 created Earl
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of Perth. The earldom was created with remainder to
heirs male whatsoever, and its first heir was the Earl’s
brother John. This chief of the Drummonds was a
Royalist officer in the short brilliant campaign of the
Marquess of Montrose. He married Lady Jean Ker,
daughter of the first Earl of Roxburghe, through which
marriage his fourth son William became second Earl of
Roxburghe and ancestor of the three first Dukes of that
name. The third Duke of Roxburghe, with whom the line
of Drummond Dukes of Roxburghe ended, was the famous
book collector, after whom a certain well-known book
binding takes its name.

Meanwhile the Earl of Perth’s eldest son James suc-
ceeded to his father’s own earldom. By Lady Anne
Gordon, daughter of the Marquess of Huntly, he had two
sons, both of whom played a distinguished part on the
Jacobite side at the time of the Revolution and after. The
elder brother James, fourth Earl of Perth, was Chancellor
of Scotland, passed with his royal master to France at
the Revolution in 1689, and was created Duke of Perth
by James VII. at St. Germains in 1695. His son James,
Lord Drummond, having taken part in the Earl of Mar’s
rebellion in 1715, was attainted, and therefore could not
succeed to the Earldom of Perth, which accordingly
became dormant at his father’s death in the following
year; but by the Jacobites he was styled the second Duke
of Perth, that title having been confirmed in France by
Louis XIV. in 1701, on the death of King James, at the
same time as the titles of the Dukes of Berwick, Fitz
James, Albemarle, and Melfort, all of which were Jacobite
dukedoms in the same position.

The second Duke had two sons, and it was the elder of
these, James, the titular third Duke, who was head of
the family at the time of the last Jacobite rebellion. He
was living with his mother at Drummond Castle, when it
became known that Prince Charles Edward had landed in
the West Highlands. The Government of George II.
knew his sympathies, and sent an officer, his neighbour,
Captain Murray of Auchtertyre, to effect his arrest. The
family were at dinner when Captain Murray arrived, and
the Duke insisted upon deferring business until the meal
was over. This being done, after a glass of wine the
Duke proposed that they should join the ladies, and
politely opened the door to allow his guest to pass first.
He did not, however, follow him, but, closing the door and
turning the key, escaped by another exit, and in a few
moments was galloping away to join the Prince. He was
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wounded at Culloden, and died on the passage to France
on board the French frigate La Bellone a month later.

Something of the Jacobite ardour of the family can be
gathered from the fact that, after the cause was finally
lost, his mother caused the fine lake at Drummond Castle
to be formed to cover up for ever with its waters the stables
which had been polluted by the Hanoverian cavalry of
the Duke of Cumberland.

The second Duke’s brother, Lord John Drummond, had
also taken an active part on the Prince’s side. Sir John
Cope, who was afterwards to earn unenviable fame by his
defeat at Prestonpans, had encamped in the park of his
house of Ferntower, near Crieff, and on the way north-
ward to Culloden the Prince himself had lodged both at
Drummond Castle and at Ferntower. Lord John was
therefore attainted along with his elder brother, and the
Drummond estates were forfeited in 1746. It was for him
that the famous regiment of Royal Scots in the French
service was raised. He died without issue in 1747, and
was succeeded in turn by his uncles, John and Edward,
as fifth and sixth titular Dukes of Perth. Edward,
however, died without children in 1760, and with him
ended the whole male line of James fourth Earl of
Perth, by the attainder of whose son James, Lord
Drummond, in 1715, the Earldom of Perth had become
dormant.

This title was now revived in the person of James
Drummond, grandson by his first wife of John, second
son of the third Earl. This John Drummond had been
General of the Ordnance and principal Secretary of State
for Scotland in the time of Charles II., and had been
raised to the peerage as Viscount Melfort in 1685 and as
Earl of Melfort in 1686. Like his brother, the fourth Earl
of Perth, he had followed James VII. to France, and had
been made Duke of Melfort at the Jacobite Court in 1692,
with succession to the children of his second wife, the title
being confirmed as above mentioned by Louis XIV. in
1701. By an Act of the Scottish Parliament, the Earldom
of Melfort was attainted and forfeited in 1695, but he
continued to be known as titular Duke of Melfort. His
third son William was Abbé-prieur of Liége, and his
fourth son, a Lieutenant-General in the French Army, and
Grand Cross of St. Louis, was ancestor of three generations
of distinguished officers in the French service who bore
the title of Comte de Melfort.

The Duke’s eldest son by his first wife, James
Drummond of Lundin, as already mentioned, came in as
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chief of the Drummonds in 1760. He was served heir to
the last Earl in 1766, and thereupon assumed the title of
Earl of Perth. His son, James Drummond, eleventh Earl
of Perth, had the Drummond estates in Strathearn restored
to him by the Court of Session and Parliament in 1785.
At his death in July, 1800, however, these estates passed
to his only daughter, Lady Willoughby de Eresby, whose
grandson, the Earl of Ancaster, possesses them at the
present day.

Meanwhile John Lord Forth, eldest son by his second
wife of the first Duke of Melfort, had succeeded as second
titular Duke of Melfort, and inherited the Melfort estates
which had been granted to his father by James VII. He
married the widow of the Duke of Albemarle, who was
countess and heiress of Lussan in her own right, and he
had two sons, the younger of whom, styled Lord Louis
Drummond, was second in command of the Royal Scots
at Culloden, and became a lieutenant-general in the French
service, Grand Cross of St. Louis, and Governor of
' Normandy.

It was his grandson James Louis, fourth Duc de
Melfort, and Comte de Lussan, a general in the French
service, who on the death of the eleventh Earl of Perth in
1800 became twelfth Earl of Perth and Chief of the
Drummonds. He died nine months later, and was
succeeded in all these titles by his brother, Charles
Edward. In 1803 the latter began proceedings in the
Court of Session to assert his claim, but had the action
'dismissed for a technical reason, and, as he was a Roman
Catholic prelate, he could not bring his claim before the
House of Lords. After his death in 1840, however, his
nephew, George Drummond, established his pedigree
before the Conseil d’Etat of France and the Tribunal de la
Seine, and his right of succession to the French honours
of Duc de Melfort and Perth, Comte de Lussan, and
‘Baron de Valrose. He was sixth Duc de Melfort and
fourteenth Earl of Perth, and by Act of Parliament in

111853, was restored to the honours of his house in this

]
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country as Earl of Perth and Melfort, Lord Drummond of

8| |Cargill and of Stobhall and Montifex, Viscount Melfort
:| land Forth, and Lord Drummond of Rickertown, Castle-

maine, and Galstown, Thane of Lennox, and hereditary
Steward of Strathearn.

|  On the death of this Earl at a great age in 1qo2,
lhowever, the entire male line of Patrick, third Lord
[Drummond, became extinct, and the chiefship of the

lan, along with the family honours, was inherited by
VOL. I. F
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Viscount Strathallan, representative of James, Lord
Maderty, second son of David, second Lord Drummond,
of the time of King James III.

The first Lord Maderty was raised to the peerage by
James VI. in 1609, and, like all others of the Drummond
family, his house remained steadfast supporters of the
Stewart cause in Scotland. His second son, Sir James
Drummond of Machany, was Colonel of the Perthshire
Foot in the Engagement to rescue Charles I. in 1648, and
Sir James’s grandson, Sir John Drummond, was forfeited
in 16go for his adherence to the cause of James VII. at
the Revolution. His eldest son William, however, in 1711
succeeded his distant cousin of the elder line as fourth
Viscount Strathallan.

Meanwhile David, the third Lord Maderty, who married
a sister of the Royalist Marquess of Montrose, was also a
supporter of the cause of Charles I.; and William, the
fourth baron, held a high command like his cousin in the
ill-starred Engagement of 1648. Later he fought at
Worcester in the cause of Charles II., and, though taken
prisoner, managed to escape and join the Royalist remnant
in the Highlands, till it was dispersed by Morgan in 1654.
He then joined the army of Russia, and attained the rank
of lieutenant-general, but at the Restoration returned to

this country, and was appointed a Lord of the Treasury |

and General of the Forces in Scotland. As a reward of
his loyalty, he was in 1686 created Viscount Strathallan.
It was at the death of his grandson, the third Viscount,
that William Drummond of Machany succeeded to the
title as above mentioned.

Having taken arms for Prince Charles Edward, this
lord was slain at Culloden, and his name, along with that
of his eldest son, was included in the Bill of Attainder.

It is interesting here to note that, while Strathallan was
thus engaged in the Jacobite turmoils of the North, his
brother Andrew was busy founding the well-known
banking house of Drummond and Company, London,
purchased the estate of Stanmore in Middlesex, and
founded an important family there.

Meanwhile the representation of the family was con-
tinued by the son and grandson of the attainted fifth
Viscount. The grandson, who was a General and
Governor of Dunbarton Castle, in 1810 petitioned
fruitlessly for a restoration of the family honours. At |
his death in 181%, his cousin, James Drummond, son of
William, second son of the fourth Viscount, became |
representative of the Strathallan family. The familyI



CLAN DRUMMOND 83

| honours were restored to him by Act of Parliament in

1824, and a new chapter in the family history opened.
This second son, Sir James Drummond, G.C.B., was a
Lord of the Admiralty, Officer of the Legion of Honour,

land Knight of the Medjedie, while his third son,
| Edmond, was Lieutenant-Governor of the North-West

Provinces of India, and his great-grandson is the eleventh

't Viscount, now Earl of Perth, and Chief of the Drummonds.
(|His lordship succeeded his father, the tenth Viscount
|Strathallan, in 1893, and his cousin, the fourteenth Earl of

Perth, and Drummond Chief, in 1g02.

It is a long and strange tale, this, of a race which
several times intermarried with the Scottish royal house,
and several times ruined itself by giving that house its

¢ lloyal and strenuous support; but there are few families or

clans which, with so long a record, have so little to stain
the honourable blazon of their arms.




CLAN DUNCAN OR ROBERTSON

BADGE : Diuth fraoch (erica cinerea) fine-leaved heath.

SLOGAN : Garg’n uair dhiisgear.

PiBrocH : Failte Tighearn Shruthan, Salute to the Lord of Struan;
and Riban gorm, the Blue Ribbon.

THE MacGregors are not the only Scottish clan entitled
to the proud boast *“ My race is royal.”” Clan MacArthur
can produce a vast deal of presumptive evidence to support
its claim to a descent from the famous King Arthur of
early British history and tradition. And Clan Robertson
was placed in a similar position with regard to descent
from a later monarch by the researches of the historian
Skene, whose own family may or may not be a branch
itself of Clan Robertson. It was formerly the habit of
genealogists to attribute the origin of the Robertson Clan
to the blood of the MacDonalds, but according to the
authorities adduced by Skene in his History of the
Highlanders, the chiefs of the name appear rather to be
descended from Duncan, eldest son of Malcolm III,
the great Canmore of the eleventh century. Common
tradition, again, previously bore that the name Robertson
was derived from the head of the clan in the days of King
Robert the Bruce, who, having had certain signal services
rewarded by that king with a grant of lands on the upper
waters of the Garry, adopted the king’s cognomen as his
family name. It seems well established, however, that
the Gaelic name of the Clan Donnchadh pronounced
Donnachy, and translated Duncan, was derived from an
ancestor of that name, fourth in descent from Conan, son.
of Henry, last of the ancient Celtic Earls of Atholl, while|
the name MacRobert or Robertson takes its origin from
Robert Reoch of the days of James 1. and James II., who
played a prominent part in the dramatic history of his
time.

Towards the end of the fourteenth century, in 1392, a
couple of years after King Robert II1. had ascended the
throne of Scotland, Clan Donnchadh played its part in
one of the fierce transactions characteristic of that wild
time. The savage Earl of Buchan, better known as the
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Wolf of Badenoch, a son of Robert 11., enraged by the
spiritual reproof of the Bishop of Moray, had made a
ferocious descent upon the lands of that prelate, sacking
and plundering his cathedral of Elgin, and giving both
cathedral and town ruthlessly to the flames. Immediately
afterwards, the Wolf's example was followed by one of his
natural sons, Duncan Stewart, who gathered a great force
of the wild mountaineers of Atholl and Badenoch, armed
only with sword and target, and, bursting through the
mountain passes into the fertile plain of Forfar, proceeded
to destroy the country, and commit every sort of ravage
and atrocity. Clan Donnchadh are recorded as among
the wild clansmen who took part in this raid, and from
their situation in the uplands of Atholl and on the borders
of Badenoch itself, it is certain that they must have been,
by force of compulsion if not by actual inclination, among
the most constant followers of the Wolf and his savage
sons. On this occasion Sir Walter Ogilvy, Sheriff of
Angus, along with Sir Patrick Gray and Sir David
Lindsay of Glenesk, rapidly gathered together the forces
of the district, and, though much fewer in numbers, trust-
ing to the temper of their armour, hastened to meet and
repel the invasion. They attacked the Highlanders on the
Water of Isla at a place called Gasklune, but were almost
immediately overwhelmed. The mountaineers rushed
upon them with the utmost ferocity, and before that rush
the knights in steel armour went down like stooks of corn
in a spate. Ogilvy and his brother, with Young of
Auchterloney, the Lairds of Cairncross, Forfar, and
Guthrie, and sixty men at arms, were slain, while Sir
Patrick Gray and Sir David Lindsay, grievously wounded,
were only carried from the field with the greatest difficulty.
The fierceness of the Highlanders on that occasion is
shown by an incident quoted by historians. Sir David
Lindsay had pierced one of them through the body with
his spear and pinned him to the earth, but in his mortal
agony the brawny cateran writhed himself up, and with a
sweep of his sword cut Lindsay through the stirrup and
steel boot to the leg bone, then instantly sank back and
expired.

Strangely enough, this fierce raid was followed by no
punishment on the part of the weak government; but
under the rule of the king’s brother, Robert, Duke of
Albany, this was one of the worst governed and most
turbulent periods in Scottish history.

The next episode in which Clan Donnchadh played
an outstanding part was, curiously enough, on the side of



86 CLAN DUNCAN OR ROBERTSON

law and order, though in connection with one of the most
outstanding crimes which st_ain the historiq page. King
James I. had been murdered in the Black Friars Monastery
at Perth in the early days of 1437, and the murderers, w1.th
their chief, Sir Robert Graham, had escaped into the wild
mountains of Mar. The Earl of Atholl had taken a chief
part in the conspiracy, and the fact that he was the
immediate neighbour of the Chief of Clan Donnchadh
might have led that chief also to become a partner in
the treason. The chief, however, the Robert Reoch
already referred to, remained staunch in_his loyalty to
the Crown, and, along with John Gorm Stewart, effected
the capture of the Master of Atholl, the chief conspirator,
Sir Patrick Graham, and others, who were immediately
afterwards executed with excruciating tortures. For
this service the Robertson chief received an addition to
his family arms of which his successors were always justly
proud.

As already mentioned, it is from this Robert Reoch—
Robert the Swarthy—who is sometimes styled Robert
Duncanson, that in later days the chiefs and members of
the clan took the name of Robertson. :

Alas! the next appearance of the Duncanson or Robert-
son chiefs in the pages of history is much less creditable.
It was seven years after the assassination of James I. The
rapacious nobles, Douglas, Crawford, Hamilton, and
others, had seized the opportunity of the minority of the
infant James II. to satisty their own greed and lawless
desires by all kinds of rapacious deeds. The one true
patriot of the time, Bishop Kennedy of St. Andrews,
ventured to withstand their rapacity, and united with the
former Chancellor Crichton in an effort to restore law and
order. Forthwith the Earls of Douglas and Crawford,
with other fierce nobles, among whom is specially
mentioned as an associate Robert Reoch, gathered
together a great force, and descending on the Bishop’s
lands in Fife and Angus, burned his farms and villages,
committed all kinds of savagery, led his vassals captive,
and utterly laid the country waste. The Bishop retaliated
by laying the fierce marauders under the Church’s ban of
excommunication, and among those who were thus placed
?lll]it:lc\l:o glc? palé: olf1 all Christian hope and brotherhood in

and the n i :
B o ext must have been included the

There may have been those who saw in the downfali,
;en dyea"? later, of the great house of Douglas, the ring-
eader of this great national outrage, a fulfilment of the
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good Bishop’s curse, but so far as is now known, the
Robertson chiefs can have been no more than temporarily
affected by the excommunication. From their chief seat
and possession, Struan or Strowan—Gaelic Sruthan,
‘“ Streamy >’—the chiefs were known as the Struan
Robertsons, the only other Highland chiefs thus taking a
qualification to their family name being the Cluny Mac-
Phersons, whose estate of Cluny lay at no great distance
from that of the Robertsons. Struan was otherwise known
by the name of Glenerochie, and the possession was
erected into a barony in 1451. The chief was also
Dominus De Rannach or Rannoch, and possessed,
further south, the fifty-five merk land of Strath Tay.
Early in the sixteenth century, however, the Robertsons
became involved in a feud with the Stewart Earls of Atholl,
descended from the Fair Maid of Galloway, heiress of the
great house of Douglas, and John Stewart, half brother
of King James II., and son of Queen Joan, widow of
Jemes L., by her marriage with the Black Knight of Lorne.
In this feud, about the year 1510, William, the Robertson
chief, was killed, and, his successor being a child, a great
part of the Robertson lands was seized by the Earl, and
never afterwards recovered. At Struan, however, the
chiefs treasured to the last as an heirloom a mysterious
stone set in silver, which seems to have been a Scots
pebble. This was known as the Clach na Bratach, the
stone of the flag, and was believed to give the Robertsons
assurance of victory in the field.

As became their royal lineage the Robertson chiefs
remained loyal to the House of Stewart throughout the
troubles of the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries.
During the civil wars, under Donald Robertson, son of the
tenth chief, acting for his nephew, then a minor, the clan
joined the standard of the Great Marquess of Montrose, and
took part with distinguished bravery at the battle of
Inverlochy, in which the Campbells were so utterly over-
thrown. For his loyalty Donald Robertson was rewarded
with a pension at the Restoration. Mclan, in his
Costumes of the Clans, inserts a tradition regarding one
of the Robertson warriors who particularly distinguished
himself on this occasion. This indivicﬁxal, who was
known from his occupation as Caird Beag, the little tinker,
had slain, it is said, nineteen of the Campbells with his
own hand. When the conflict was over, he made a fire
and with some comrades proceeded to cook a meal in an
iron pot which he had brought with him. The Marquess
happening to pass, and, being himself without any such
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means of securing a meal, asked the Caird Beag for the
use of the pot. His request was met with a downright
refusal, the clansman declaring that he had well earned
the meal he was preparing, and thought the least favour
that could be allowed him was to be permitted to refresh
himself therewith. Montrose, it is said, took the answer
in good part, exclaiming, ‘I wish that more little
tinkers had served His Majesty to-day as well as you
have done.” !

At the Revolution, again, in 1689, Alastair or
Alexander Robertson of Struan raised his followers, and
took part with Viscount Dundee, King James’ general, in
the short campaign which ended with the death of that
romantic personage at the battle of Killiecrankie in Atholl,
no great distance from the Robertson country. As a con-
sequence, in the following year, Struan Robertson suffered
the forfeiture of his estates. He, however, escaped to
France, and obtained a remission in 1703, and, when the
Earl of Mar, in the autumn of 1715, raised the standard
of ‘“ James VIII. and III.”” at Braemar, he was joined by
the Robertson chief. The military force of the clan at that
time was reckoned to be 800 men. At Sheriffmuir, Struan
Robertson was taken prisoner, but managed to escape,
again obtained a remission in 1731, and again, in 1743,
was among the most notable Jacobites who joined the
standard of Prince Charles Edward. His clansmen were
then said to number 700, though only 200 of these resided
on the estates then actually owned by the chief. In con-
sequence of his repeated risings in the Jacobite cause,
Struan Robertson finally lost his estates, which were
annexed to the Crown in 1752. Apart from his military
escapades, this chief, Alexander, the thirteenth of his line,
remains a notable figure in the history of the Highlands.
He was no mean poet, and a published collection of his
pieces, including a curious genealogical account of his
family, has been described as ‘‘ very creditable to his
literary acquirements.”” In private life he was marked by
a conviviality of feeling and humour which is said to have
bordered on eccentricity.

At a later day, in 1785, part of the old Struan property,
including the seat of the family, was restored to a repre-
sentative, and finally came into possession of Major-
General Duncan Robertson, descendant. of Donnchadh
More of Druimachinn, third son of Robert, the fifteenth
chief. General Robertson had his residence at Dunal-
laistair in Rannoch. The oldest cadets of the family were
the Robertsons of Lude, while the Robertsons of Inches in
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Inverness-shire traced their descent from the house of
Struan at a very early period, and from them sprang,
about 1540, the Robertsons of Ceanndace and Glencalvy
in Ross-shire. The Skenes of Skene have also been
thought to be a branch of the Robertsons. According to
this tradition Donnchadh More an Sgian—Great Duncan
of the Dirk—migrated from Atholl to Strath Dee, and
there founded this family. The fact that the head of this
house who signed the Ragman Roll in 1296 did so as
John le Skene, seems to favour the tradition of the
personal origin of the name, while the dirks in the coat
armour and the Highland supporters in antique costume
also maintain the theory. But it seems more likely that
the family of Skene took its name from the parish than
that the parish took its name from the family.

Many distinguished men of the name have added lustre
to the clan. Eben William Robertson, High Sheriff and
Deputy Lieutenant of Leicestershire, who died in 1874,
was the author of Scotland under her Early Kings and
other historical works of importance. James Robertson,
Professor of Hebrew at Edinburgh University in the latter
half of the eighteenth century, was the author of a well-
known Hebrew grammar. James Burton Robertson (1800-
1877) was translator of Schlegel’s Philosophy of History.
Sir John Robertson, an Australian squatter, was five times
Premier of New South Wales. Patrick Robertson, who
died in 1855, was the distinguished Scottish judge whom
Sir Walter Scott nicknamed Peter o’ the Painch. Thomas
W illiam Robertson, 1829-1871, was a well-known actor
and dramatist who acquired fame as the writer of Caste,
School, Owurs, and other society plays of the mid-
Victorian period. And, greatest of all, there was
William Robertson the historian (1721-1793), who, when
minister of Lady Yester’s Chapel at Edinburgh in 17509,
attained enormous success with his History of Scotland.
He was appointed Principal of Edinburgh University
three years later, appointed historiographer of Scotland,
and elected Moderator of the General Assembly in 1763,
and attained a European reputation with his History of
Charles V. in 1769. His introduction to the last-named
work, which comprised an estimate of the Dark Ages, was
among the first successful attempts in this country to found
larger theories of history upon considerable accumulations
of fact. His latest work, A History of America, published
In 1777, was not less valuable than fascinating, but was

never completed owing to the outbreak of the revolutionary
war in America.
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SePTSs OF CLAN DUNCAN OR ROBERTSON

Collier Colyear
Donachie Duncan
Duncanson Dunnachie
Inches MacConachie
Macinroy MacDonachie
MacRobbie- Maclagan
MacRobert Reid

Roy Stark

Tonnochy
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BADGE : Muilleag (Oxycoccus palustris) Cranberry bush.
SLOGAN : Loch Sloidh.
PiBROCH : Spaidsearachd Chlann Pharlain.

ONE of the loveliest regions in the West Highlands at the
present hour is the district about the heads of Loch Long
and Loch Lomond, which was for some five centuries the
patrimony of the Chiefs of the MacFarlan Clan. With
the waves of one of the most beautiful sea lochs of the
Clyde rippling far into its recesses, and the tideless waters
of the Queen of Scottish Lochs sleeping under the birch-
clad slopes on another side, while high among its
fastnesses, between the towering heights of Ben Arthur
and Ben Voirlich, shimmers in a silver lane the jewel-like
Loch Sloy, this ancient territory could not but in the
course of centuries produce a race of men instinct with the
love of the mountains and the moors, and all the chivalrous
qualities which go to make the traditional character of the
Highlanders of Scotland. This is nothing less than fact
in the case of Clan Farlan, for in origin the Clan was not
Highland at all, and only became so, like a number of
others, by long residence among the mountains and the
lochs, and by intermarriage with native families of Celtic
descent.

It is true that many tellers of the story of the clan
seek to derive its origin amid the silver mists of a mythical
Celtic past. According to one account, the clan takes
descent from a hero who arrived in Ireland with the first
colonists from Spain, and whose descendants afterwards
settled in Scotland. Maclan, who mentions this tradition,
wisely concludes that it ¢ must be classed among the
Milesian Fables.”” This tradition was amplified in a paper
read by the Rev. J. MacFarlane Barrow at a meeting of
the London branch of the Clan Society, and printed in
the Clan MacFarlane Journal for January, 1914. Quoting
from a MS. of the monks of Glenmassan, this writer
declared that in the veins of the MacFarlans ran ‘¢ the
blood of Earls, and not Earls only, if it came to that, but
of Kings, for was not Alwyn Mor, first Earl of Lennox,
the great-grandson of Mainey Leamna, the son of Corc,

(*) §
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King of Munster, who was fifth in descent from Con of the
Hundred Battles, King of Ireland ?

To descend from these misty altitudes of vague
tradition, however, to the realm of ascertained fact. It is
recorded by the greatest of Scottish archeologists,
Chalmers, in his Caledonia, quoting from the twelfth-
century Simeon of Durham, that the ancestor of the family
was the Saxon Arkil, son of Egfrith. This Arkil, a
Northumbrian chief who fled to Scotland to escape the
devastations of William the Conqueror, received from
Malcolm Canmore the custody of the Levanax or Lennox
district, and became first founder of the family bearing
that title. Alwyn, son of Arkil, was a frequent witness to
the charters of David I. and Malcolm IV., and was created
Earl of Lennox by the latter King. The son, another
Alwyn, of the first Earl of Lennox being a minor at his
father’s death, William the Lion gave the earldom in ward
to his brother David, Earl of Huntingdon, but the young
Earl recovered possession before the year 119g9. When he
died in 1224, he left no fewer than eight sons. Of these,
Malduin, the eldest, became third Earl of Lennox, and
Gilchrist, the fourth son, obtained from the latter in 1225
a charter of the lands of Arrochar, and became ancestor of
the MacFarlans. Along with Clan Donachy, the Mac-
Farlans are said to have been the earliest of the clans to
hold their lands by feudal charter. Like other vassals of
the Earls of Lennox, the MacFarlan chiefs exercised their
rights under the stipulation that all criminals condemned
by them should be executed on the Earl’s gallows at Catter.

One of the earliest traditions connected with the family
has to do with the great Norse invasion of Hakon, which
ended at the battle of Largs in 1263. Previous to that
battle, Hakon sent Olaf, King of Man, with sixty ships,
up Loch Long. The Norsemen drew their vessels across
the narrow isthmus of the MacFarlan country, between
Arrochar and Tarbet on Loch Lomond, and the spot is
pointed out, at the milestone midway, where the Laird of
Arrochar hid his family from the fierce Norse raiders.
Duncan, the second Laird of Arrochar, married Matilda,
sister of Malcolm, fifth Earl of Lennox—he who was the
friend of Wallace and Bruce, who fought at Stirling
Bridge and Bannockburn, and fell at Halidon Hill, and
there is reason to believe that the Laird of Arrochar and
his followers fought under the Earl of Lennox at Bannock-
burn. It was to the country of Duncan of Arrochar that
Bruce escaped on the memorable occasion when he crossed
the narrow waters of Loch Lomond, and recited to his men
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the great romance of Fierabras; and it is pretty certain
that Duncan would be one of the little group of the Earl’s
hunting party which shortly afterwards met the King,
and hospitably entertained him and his little army, in the
hour of their need, with the fruits of the chase.

The son of Duncan and Matilda was named Malcolm,
probably after his uncle the Earl; and Malcolm’s son, the
fourth Laird, was named Pharlan, which has been trans-
lated Bartholomew. It is from this individual that the
family have since taken their surname of MacFarlan.
Pharlan’s son Malcolm had a charter confirming him in
possession of the lands of Arrochar in 1354, and his son
Duncan, the sixth Chief, married Christian, daughter of
Sir Colin Campbell of Lochow, and died shortly before
1460. His son John married a daughter of Sir James Mure
of Rowallan, and sister of Elizabeth Mure, first wife of
King Robert II. The next Chief, Duncan, was served
heir to his father in 1441, and the next, Walter, married
a daughter of the second Lord Livingstone.

Meanwhile the original house of Lennox had suffered a
tragic catastrophe. Donald, the sixth Earl, had left only
a daughter, Margaret. She married her cousin, Walter de
Fassalane, on the Gareloch, who, as the earldom appears
to have been a female fief, became seventh Earl in right
of his wife. The son of this pair, Duncan, eighth Earl,
was again the last of his line. His daughter Isabella
became the wife of Murdoch Stewart, Duke of Albany,
grandson of King Robert II., and for a time Regent of
Scotland. On the return of James I. from his long
captivity in England, Duke Murdoch, his two sons,
Walter and Alexander, and his father-in-law Duncan,
Earl of Lennox, were all arrested, tried, and executed on
the Heading Hill at Stirling. Afterwards, on the death
of the Duchess Isabella in 1460, her youngest son’s son,
Lord Evandale, held the earldom in liferent till his death.
Upon that event occurred the Partition of the Lennox;
one-half of the territory went to the daughters of Earl
Duncan’s second daughter, Margaret. These daughters
were married respectively to Napier of Merchiston and
Haldane of Gleneagles. The other half went to Elizabeth,
Earl Duncan’s youngest daughter, married to Sir John
Stewart of Darnley. In 1473 Darnley obtained a royal
precept declaring him heir, not only of half the lands, but
of the title of Earl of Lennox.

Meantime the heir-male of the old Earls of Lennox was
the Chief of MacFarlan, and some writers on the Clan
suppose that the latter took the field in order to assert his
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claim, and suffered the loss of his territory in consequence.
But there appears to have been no break in the line of
the Chiefs. The idea that a cadet assumed the chieftainc
appears to have arisen from a later Latin charter in whic
Sir John MacFarlan was styled ‘‘ Capitaneus de Clan
Pharlane.”” This, Skene in his Highlanders of Scotland
took to mean Captain of Clan Farlan, but Dr. MacBain,
editor of the latest edition of the work, points out that
Capitaneus is really the Latin for Chief. As a matter of
fact, Andrew MacFarlan of Arrochar married a daughter
of John, first of the Stewart line of the Earls of Lennox,
and his successor, Sir John MacFarlan already alluded to,
was knighted by James IV. and fell along with the Earl
of Lennox himself at Flodden Field.

The Chiefs of MacFarlan, indeed, appear to have been
zealous supporters of the Lennox Earls. It was probably
in this character that, shortly after Flodden, the Mac-
Farlans attacked the castle of Boturich on the south shore
of Loch Lomond, which was part of the ancient property
of the earldom that had fallen to the share of Haldane
of Gleneagles. The incident is narrated in Sir David
Lindsay’s well-known poem, ‘‘ Squyer Meldrum.”” The
Laird of Gleneagles had fallen at Flodden, and the Squyer
was making love to his widow in Strathearn when news
came that her castle of Boturich was being attacked by
the wild MacFarlans. Forthwith the valiant Squyer got
his forces together, and rode to the rescue, driving off the
marauders and securing the fair lady’s property.

The next Chief, Andrew the Wizard, has recently been
made the hero of a romance, The Red Fox, by a member
of the Clan. He married a daughter of the Earl of
Glencairn, and his son Duncan, who married a daughter
of Lord Ochiltree, was an active supporter of the Regent
Lennox during the childhood of Queen Mary. The Mac-
Farlans, indeed, were among the first of the Highland
clans to accept the Protestant form of worship. When
Lennox, afterwards father of Queen Mary’s husband,
Darnley, took arms in 1544 to oppose the Regent Arran
and the Catholic party, the MackFarlans, under Walter
MacFarlan of Tarbet, joined him with 140 men. These
were Cearnich or light-armed troops, provided with coats
of mail, two-handed swords, and bows and arrows, and it
is recorded that they could speak both English and Erse,
or Gaelic. Three years later, in 1547, the Chief himself
fell, with a large number of his Clan, at the battle of
Pinkie.

It was the next Chief, Andrew, who became famous by
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the part he played in fighting on the side of the Regent
Moray at the battle of Langside in 1568. According to
the historian Holinshed, ‘‘ The valiance of ane Heiland
gentleman named MacFarlan stoode the regent’s part in
great stede, for in the hottest brunte of the fighte he came
up with 200 of his friendes and countrymen, and so man-
fully gave in upon the flankes of the Queen’s people, that
he was a great cause to the disordering of them. This
MacFarlane had been lately before condemned to die for
some outrage by him committed, and obtayning pardon
through the suite of the countess of Moray he recompensed
that clemencie by this piece of service now at this batayle.”
MacFarlan’s neighbours, Colquhoun of Luss and the Laird
| of Buchanan, also fought on the side of the Earl of Moray
| at Langside. For his part, MacFarlan received from the

Regent the right to wear a crest consisting of a demi-
| savage proper, holding in one hand a sheaf of arrows, and
| pointing with the other to a crown, with the motto, ‘“ This
I’ll defend.”

This was the most turbulent period of the Clan’s
history, when the frequent raids made by its members upon
the lowlands brought them an unenviable notoriety.
From the fact that these raids usually took place on clear
nights, the full moon came to be known over a considerable
part of the western lowlands as ‘‘ MacFarlan’s lantern.”
Further, the Clan’s ‘‘ gathering’ was significantly
“ Thogail nam Bo,” *‘ lifting the cattle.”” The slogan of
the Clan was ‘‘ Lochsloidh,’’ *‘ The Loch of the Host,’’ so
named from the fact that the gathering-place of the Mac-
Farlans was upon the shores of that sheet of water. The
Laird of MacFarlan appears in the rolls of chiefs made out
in 1587-94 with a view to enforcing the law which made
each chief accountable for the peaceful conduct of his
followers. In the latter year they appear along with the
MacGregors in the statute for the punishment of theft, reiff,
oppression, and sorning. The MacFarlans also have been
accused of a part in the assassination of Sir Humphrey
Colquhoun in his castle of Bannachra in Glenfruin in 1592,
though, according to the diary of Robert Birrell, burgess
of Edinburgh, quoted in' Irving’s History of Dunbarton-
shire, the assassination was the work of Colquhoun’s own
brother John.

In July, 1624, many of the Clan were tried and
convicted of theft and robbery. Some were punished,
some pardoned, and a number were removed to the
uplands of Aberdeenshire and to Strathaven in Banfishire.
Among other septs of the Clan are the Allans or Mac-
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Allans, settled in Mar and Strathdon, and a large number
of others are enumerated by the Loch Lomondside
chronicler, Buchanan of Auchmar. They assumed the
names of Stewart, M‘Caudy, Greisock, Mac]James,
M-*Innes, and others.

The origin of one of the names of septs of the Clan,
that of the Mac-an-Oighres or Macnaires of the Lennox, is
said to have been as follows. One of the chiefs left his
second wife a widow with one son, while the heir by his
first wife was vain and a little weak-minded. The younger
brother owned a beautiful grey horse, and on one occasion,
the elder, setting out for Stirling, desired to ride it in order
to make a good appearance. The stepmother, a Highland
Rebecca, refused the loan on the pretext that the steed
might not come safely back, and at last the young Laird
signed a deed agreeing to forfeit the lands of Arrochar
to his half-brother if the horse were not returned. The
stepmother thereupon bribed the groom to poison the
horse while away. This was done, and her son entered
upon possession of the estate. The Clan, however,
refused to accept him as their Chief, and some years later
the treacherous document was legally annulled and the
lands restored to the rightful heir. From this incident
certain MacFarlans were known to a recent time as Sloichd
an Eich Bhain, ‘‘ descendants of the white horse,”’ while

those who supported the heir took the name of Clann an
Oighre.

John, the son and successor of the Chief who fought at i
Langside, founded an almshouse at Bruitfort on Loch
Lomondside, opposite Eilean Vow, and endowed it as a |

hostelry for passing travellers. His son Walter was a ||

strong supporter of Charles I. in the Civil War, and in
consequence had his castle destroyed by Cromwell’s men,
and was fined 3,000 merks. John, the grandson of Walter,
again, took part against the Stewarts in the Revolution of
1688, and was Colonel of a volunteer force raised in his
neighbourhood. His son and successor, Walter, was
famous as an antiquary, and among other works the
Lennox Chartulary survives only in his transcript. When
he died in 1767, his library was purchased by the Faculty
of Advocates, and is still of much use to antiquarian
students. His materials were used by Douglas in his
Peerage of Scotland, and his portrait hangs in the museum
of the Society of Antiquaries. Alexander MacFarlan, the
brother of the antiquary, was a successful merchant in
Jamaica, becoming one of the assistant judges of the
island, and a member of the Legislative Assembly. He
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was an eminent mathematician and Fellow of the Royal
Society, and at his death in 1755 left an interesting
collection of instruments to Glasgow University.

William, the Chief who succeeded the antiquary Walter
in 1767, was a physician in Edinburgh. He had three
sons and three daughters. John, the eldest, who suc-
ceeded, married Katharine, daughter of James Walkinshaw
of Walkinshaw, and, among others of a family, he had
Margaret Elizabeth, who died 12th May, 1846, aged 29.
A monument on the west side of Grey Friars Church,
Edinburgh, narrates that ‘‘ at the period of her decease
she was the lineal representative of the ancient and
honorable house of MacFarlan of that Ilk.”

It was in 1785, in the time of the last-named Chief,
John, that the Arrochar estate was brought to a judicial
§sale. It was purchased by Ferguson of Raith for
428,000, and at a later day was acquired by Colquhoun of

Luss for £7%8,000.
'} The extinction of the house of the Chiefs is associated
y tradition with a curious incident. MacFarlan, it is
id, had on the waters of Loch Lomond a famous flock
fof swans with which the luck of the family was associated.

In the time of the last Chief, one Robert MacPharrie, who
-fhad the second sight, declared that the days of the Chiefs
of Arrochar were numbered, and that the sign of this
event would be the coming of a black swan to settle among
MacFarlan’s swans. Strangely enough, soon afterwards,
fa black stranger was seen among the other birds on the
Yloch, remaining for three months before it disappeared,
and it was very shortly after this that the barony passed
ut of the hands of the MacFarlan Chiefs for ever.
Among the many distinguished later members of the
"¥lan was Principal Duncan M‘Farlane of Glasgow Uni-
" Wersity, Moderator of the Church of Scotland at the time
"®f the Disruption, who had the honour of conducting
*$Jueen Victoria over Glasgow Cathedral and College in
“$#842. While he was minister of Balfron, he was among
‘tthe guests invited to meet Sir Walter Scott at Ross Priory
“hn Loch Lomondside. On that occasion he happened to
{}arrate to the novelist a folk-rhyme connected with

1;! 3uchlyvie, then part of his parish. This ran:

11

‘“ Baron of Buchlyvie,

it May the foul fiend drive thee

{ And a’ to pieces rive thee

d For building sic a toun,

‘H Where there’s neither horse meat nor man’s meat,

Nor a chair to sit deun.”
VOL. I. G
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The authorship of the Waverley novels was then a secret ;
a few weeks later, when Rob Roy was published, and Mr.
MacFarlane saw his verses at the head of the twenty-
third chapter, he must have had a shrewd guess as to the
authorship.

The main stronghold of the Chiefs of MacFarlan was of
course the castle of Arrochar, nothing of which now
remains but a fragment of wall. The later Arrochar!
House, by which it was replaced, is still to be seen,i
embedded in the modern mansion of the name on the sho
of Loch Long. Besides this stronghold the Chiefs owned
castles on the island of Inveruglas and on Eilean Vow i
Loch Lomond, fragments of both of which still remain.

The most recent chapter in the history of the Clan ha
been the formation of a Clan MacFarlan Society in
Glasgow and London. The Society has Mr. Walte
MacFarlan, D.L., Glasgow, as its Honorary Vice
President, while its acting President is Mr. Jam
MacFarlan, representative of the Gartartan branch of th
ancient family of the Chiefs, descended from Sir Joh
MacFarlan, who fell at Flodden. One of the tasks whic
the Society has set itself is the investigation of claims t
the chiefship, which has been obscure for more than

century.

Serrs OF CLAN FARLAN
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CLAN FARQUHARSON

BADGE : Lus nam braoileag (vaccineum vitis idea) Red whortle-
berry.
SLOGAN : Cairn na chuimhne.

IT is said of an Earl of Angus, chief of the great house of
Douglas, in the days of James V., that at Douglas Castle,
far in the Lanark fastnesses of Douglasdale, he laughed
at the threats of Henry VIII. of England. *‘ Little knows
my royal brother-in-law,”’ he said, ‘‘the skirts of
Cairntable. I could keep myself here against all his
English host.”” With much more justification might the
Farquharson chiefs of bygone centuries have laughed at
the threats of their most powerful enemies. Upper
Deeside, which was their clan country, was so surrounded
with a rampart of the highest mountains in Scotland, and

4 so narrow and few were the approaches to it through the

defiles of the hills, that even the kings of Scotland them-
selves must have hesitated to attack so formidable a
fastness.

In the earliest times, as it is to-day, Upper Deeside was

t a favourite resort of royalty. Just as Queen Victoria and
' King Edward and King George have made their way
# thither in the autumns of more recent years, for the
| hunting and the fishing and other Highland delights

which the district affords in royal abundance, the early
Scottish kings are said to have resorted thither in their
time. Craig Coynoch, or Kenneth, is said to take its
name from the fact that from its summit in the ninth
century Kenneth II. was wont to watch the chase; and
not far off, at the east end of the bridge over the Cluny,
stood Kindrochit Castle, the residence of Malcolm Canmore
and later kings, from which the neighbouring village took
its nmame of Castletown of Braemar. Among other
traditions of royal visits at that time the great Highland
\Gathering still held here each autumn is said to have been
founded by the mighty Malcolm, who offered a prize of a
purse of gold, with a full suit of Highland dress and arms,

to the man who could first reach the top of Craig Coynoch.
‘Here Clan Farquhar, or Finlay, has been settled from the
{days at least of King Robert the Bruce.

9
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According to tradition and family history the chiefs of
the Farquharsons were lineally descended from the great
ancient Thanes of Fife. They emerge into the limelight
of history early in the fourteenth century in the person of
a redoubtable ‘Shaw MacDuff of Rothiemurchus. It was |
the time when the great house of Comyn, previously
all-powerful in many quarters of Scotland, was going down
before the might of the Bruces, their junior competitors
for the Scottish crown. The Comyn chiefs had their
headquarters in Badenoch, and Shaw MacDuff with his
followers performed prodigies of valour in driving them
out of that country. As a reward King Robert the Bruce
is said to have appointed him hereditary chamberlain of
the royal lands of Braemar, about the upper waters of the
Dee, on the other side of the Cairngorms from his original
patrimony. Here ever since, with vicissitudes more or
less dramatic and romantic, the Farquharson chiefs have
remained settled.

The son of Shaw MacDuff, founder of the family, was
a certain Fearchar who lived in the reigns of Robert II.
and I1I. From him the clan takes its name of Mac’earchar,
or Farquharson. He married a daughter of Patrick
MacDonachadh, ancestor of the Robertsons of Lude. His
son Donald also married a Robertson, of the family of
Calveen; and his son again, another Fearchar, married a
daughter of Chisholm of Strathglas. This Fearchar left a
large family, several of whom settled in the Braes of Angus,
and became ancestors of respectable families there. From |
Finlay Mor, the grandson of this Fearchar, the clan took
its name of Finlay, otherwise MacKinlay or Finlayson. |

The clan was a member of the great Highland
confederacy of Clan Chattan, and of course played a part |
in the many feuds in which that confederacy was |
embroiled. Constantly in those early days the Crois- |
tarich, or Fiery Cross, was sent hurrying through these |
glens of the Upper Dee, and brought the Farquharson |
clansmen racing hotfoot to their immemorial gathering- |
place at the foot of Glen Feardar, where still stands their =
famous ‘‘ Cairn of Remembrance,’’ Cairn-a-Quheen. As |
late as the end of the eighteenth century, according to the
writer of the Old Statistical Account, “ Were a fray or a |
squabble to happen at a market or any public meeting, |
such influence has this word over the minds of the country /|
people that the very mention of Cairn-na-cuimhne would |
In a moment collect all the people in this ‘country whe
happened to be at said meeting to the assistance of the
person assailed.”’ &

:



CLAN FARQUHARSON 101

The Cairn of Remembrance is said to have had its
origin in a curious custom of the clan. Each man, as he
came to the gathering-place at the summons of his chief,
brought with him a stone, which he laid down a little way
off. On returning after the raid of battle each survivor
lifted a stone and carried it away. The stones which were
left were then counted and added to the cairn. In this
way the number of the dead was ascertained. Each
stone on the great heap, therefore, represents a Farquhar-
son who fell long ago in some one of these forgotten
encounters. .

The slogan of Cairn-a-Quheen played its part in rousing
the clan not only in many of the local clan feuds, but in
not a few of the great battles of the country. Finlay Mor,
already referred to, carried the royal standard at the battle
of Pinkie, where he fell with many of his clan, in 1547.
From this fact Finlay Mor’s second son Donald got the
name of Mac-an-Toisach, or ‘‘ son of the leader.”” From
him descended the Farquharsons of Finzean, who, on the
death without male issue of James Farquharson, tenth
chief in succession from Fearchar, son of Shaw, succeeded
to the chiefship of the clan. The present Farquharsons of
Invercauld are descended from Catherine, the surviving
daughter and heiress of this house, who was known, in

. Scottish fashion, as Lady Invercauld. This lady married

Captain Ross, R.N., who again, by the custom of Scotland,
took the name of the heiress, and so handed on the ancient
name of the Farquharson chiefs.

When the civil wars between Charles I. and his English
and Scottish Parliaments broke out, towards the middle of
the seventeenth century, the Farquharsons were from the
first on the side of the king. The National Covenant was
signed in 1638 as a protest against the king’s attempts
to force the English Liturgy upon Scotland. To this
Covenant the Farquharsons were opposed, and Donald
Farquharson of Monaltrie raised several hundreds of the
clan and joined the Gordons who were defending the town
of Aberdeen against the Earl of Montrose, who was then
leader of the Parliament troops on the side of the Cove-
nant. Six years later Montrose, who had refused to sign
the second or Solemn League and Covenant, of 1643, and
who was now a Marquess, took up arms on the side of the
King and was joined by the Farquharsons ‘‘ with a great
number of gallant men.” Later, in 1651, when Montrose
had perished on the scaffold, and the young Charles II.
had come to Scotland to make a bid for the throne of his
ancestors, the Farquharsons joined that prince, and,
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following him to England, took part in the battle of
Worcester, where he was defeated.

Fifteen years later there occurred on Deeside an
incident which illustrates well the fierce spirit which still
survived among the gentlemen of the clan at that time.
The event is commemorated in the well-known ballad,
“ The Baron o’ Brackley,” and the leading personages
were John Gordon of Brackley, near Ballater, and John
Farquharson of Inverey, above Braemar. According
to the Gordons Brackley had, in execution of legal
warrant, poinded some of Farquharson’s cattle. There-
upon Farquharson raised his followers, marched down to
Brackley, and proceeded to drive away both his own and
Gordon’s cattle. Upon Brackley sallying forth to prevent
this, the Farquharsons fell upon him and slew him and his
brother. The ballad makes out that Brackley and his
brother were the only men in the house, and that they
sallied out as a result of the taunts of Brackley’s wife, a
daughter of Sir Robert Burnet of Leys, who forthwith
engaged in a shameless liaison with Farquharson. The
ballad concludes :

O fy on you, lady! how could Fe do sae?
You opened your yetts to the fause Inverey.

She ate wi’ him, drank wi’ him, welcomed him in;’
She welcomed the villain that slew her baron.

She kept him till morning, syne bade him be gane,
And shawed him the road that he shouldna be ta’en.

* Through Birss and Aboyne,” she said, *‘ lyin’ in a tour,
Ower the hills o’ Glentanar you’ll skip in an hour.”

There is grief in the kitchen, and mirth in the ha’;
But the Baron o’ Brackley is dead and awa’.

For this deed Inverey was prosecuted, and lay in
outlawry for many years.” He is said to have been fierce,
daring, and active, and is remembered on Deeside as ** the
Black Colonel.”

When the revolution took place the Farquharsons
turned out, Inverey among them, and joined Viscount
Dundee. After the battle of Killiecrankie, in which
Dundee fell, Inverey had again to go into hiding. On
this occasion his castle was burned and he himself only
escaped'm his shirt. His hiding-place, still known as the
Colonel’s Cave, may be seen in a glen above the village of
Inverey. ¥

The Farquharson country, however, was presently to
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see a still greater and more famous event. About the end
of the reign of Mary Queen of Scots, the Farquharsons
had effected an excambion with the Earl of Mar, by which
they exchanged the Haugh of Castletown, near Braemar,
for the lands of Monaltrie farther down the valley. Soon
after this transaction the Earl built on the haugh the
stronghold now known as Braemar Castle. After the
battle of Killiecrankie King William’s government placed
a garrison in this stronghold to-keep the country in sub-
jection; but the clansmen rose, besieged the place, forced
the soldiers to retire under cover of night, and, to prevent
a similar encroachment in the future, burnt the Castle.
The Earl, however, had it restored, and it was here that
in 1715, insulted by the new Hanoverian king, George I.,
he summoned the Highland chiefs for the great hunting-
party at which the rising in favour of James VII. and II.
was planned. Braemar Castle was crowded to overflowing
on that occasion, and the principal meetings were held
at the neighbouring house of the Farquharson chief,
Invercauld. It was accordingly from the dining-room at
Invercauld, still preserved in the modern mansion, that
the fiery cross was sent through the glens preparatory
to the raising of that ‘‘ standard on the Braes of Mar,’’ on
the little mount in Castletown at hand which was to mean
so much of sorrow and disaster for the clans and their
chiefs. As an immediate result in this neighbourhood,
Braemar Castle was again burned by Argyll’s forces in
1716, after the battle of Sheriffmuir.

Meanwhile the Farquharsons had formed part of Mar’s
army which, under Brigadier Mackintosh, was thrown
across the Forth, and marched into England as far as
Preston. A noted figure on that march was Fearchar
gaisgach liath, ‘‘ the Grey Warrior.”” This hero had taken
part as a lad with the Marquess of Montrose in the Jacobite
victories of 1645, and he lived to see his last remaining
son fall, and the hopes of the Jacobites extinguished, at
the battle of Culloden a hundred years later. After that
event, at the extreme age of 115, he wandered the country,
desolate and forlorn, visiting the graves of those who had
fallen in the last conflict, and known far and near by the
name above given him. On the way into England in 1715
in the attempt to defend the house of a widow from
plunder from a band of Lochaber men he received a wound,
but this did not prevent him going on with the expedition.

At Preston, when Brigadier Mackintosh and the little
Jacobite army found itself on the eve of being attacked by
Major-General Willis and the Government troops, John
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Farquharson of Invercauld, at the head of a hundred
chosen Highlanders, took up position at the long narrow
bridge over the Ribble, and there is little doubt he would
have made good its defence against his assailants long
enough to afford the Jacobites time to effect their
retreat. His force was, however, recalled, and the
calamitous surrender of the little Jacobite army in the town
soon followed.

The Farquharsons were again out at the rising of 174s.
They were mainly instrumental in defeating the Macleods
at Inverury, and gave an excellent account of themselves
at the battles of Falkirk and Culloden. The disastrous
issue of the rising at the latter battle brought sorrow and
ruin to many of the clan. After that event, Charles
Farquharson, the ‘‘ Meikle Factor of the Cluny,” was
forced to take refuge in the cave known as the Charter
Chest, in the face of Craig Cluny above Invercauld. It
was the place in which the chiefs in time of danger were
wont to conceal their most precious possessions, and so
secure was the spot that for ten months Farquharson lay
concealed in it while his house, within earshot below, was
occupied by soldiers of King George.

Evidently the Government was impressed by the need
for laying a strong hand on the Farquharson country.
About 1720 the forfeited Mar estates had been purchased
from Government by Lords Dun and Grange, the latter
being a brother of the Earl of Mar. Ten years later, how-
ever, Farquharson of Invercauld had purchased the lands
of Castletown from these owners. About 1748 he leased
Braemar Castle, with fourteen acres about it, to the
Government for ninety-nine years at a rental of 414, and
they proceeded to repair the house, build a rampart
around it, and place a garrison within its walls. Four

ears later that shrewd and intrepid pacifier of the

ighlands, General Wade, carried his great military road
through Deeside, and in the course of doing so built
across the Dee what js now known as the Old Bridge of
Invercauld.

But there were to be no more Jacobite rebellions, and
from that day to this the Farquharson country on Deeside
has remained in steady repute as a peaceful and law-
abiding district. The days were over when the laird of
Invercau}d could undertake, for the payment of certain
blackmail by the city of Aberdeen, to keep three hundred
men in arms for the landward protection of the burgesses.
Successive chiefs have devoted themselves to the extensive
improvement of their estates. In the first half of the
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nineteenth century one of them, in the course of a long
possession, planted no fewer than sixteen million fir trees
and two million larch on his estates, besides building as
much as twenty miles of good roads throughout the
neighbourhood ; and since the coming of the Royal family
to the neighbouring estate of Balmoral in 1848 Invercauld
has seen the constant entertainment of Royalty itself.
Among other alliances, the Farquharson chiefs have twice
inter-married with the ducal house of Atholl.

While there have been many distinguished cadet
houses of the clan, it should be noted that a number
bearing the name in the counties of Aberdeen, Banff, and
Moray are in reality descendants of the Comyns, having
changed their name after the final overthrow of their
house, and adopted that of Farquharson as descendants of
Fearquhard, son of Alexander, the sixth laird of Altyre.

SEPTS OF CLAN FARQUHARSON

Coutts Farquhar
Finlay Finlayson
Greusach Hardie
Hardy Lyon
MacCaig acCardney
MacCuaig MacEarachar
MacFarquhar Machardie
MacKerracher MacKerchar
Mackinlay Reoch

Riach
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BADGE: Ros-greine (belium thymum mari-folium) Little sun-
flower.

ABouT the year 19oo the present writer, in his quiet
dwelling in 'the neighbourhood of Loch Lomond, was
surprised one evening by a visit from a handsome young
Highlander in a grey kilt, who stated that he had walked
all the way from Keppoch in Lochaber in the hope of
finding employment. At a venture the writer suggested
that his visitor might be of the well-known race of the
MacDonalds of Keppoch; but the suggestion was met
instantly with the somewhat disconcerting reply : ** Mac-
Donald! The MacDonalds have only been in Keppoch
for four hundred years; my people have been there for
many many hundred years before that.”” On being asked
who his people might be, the young adventurer replied
that his name was MacFhearguis. At the request to write
down the name, he had some difficulty in doing it, but he
had no difficulty whatever in describing a long line of
ancestry which stretched back through Fergus, son of
Erc, and a long line of Irish kings, to no less a person
than Scota, the daughter of Pharoah himself. The young
man explained that a large part of the district now held by
Cameron of Lochiel had originally belonged to his race,
and that the original Cameron, who was not a Gael but a
Briton from Dunbartonshire, who had got his name,
‘¢ Cam-shron ”’ or ‘‘ crooked nose,’’ from damage to that
feature accruing from his warlike disposition, had origin-
ally acquired a footing in the country by fighting the
battles, and marrying a daughter, of the MacFhearguis
chief. The immediate ancestor of the young man from
Keppoch, it appeared, had fought at Culioden, and, being
exiled to America, there married an Indian princess.
The son of the pair had returned to this country and had
become the ancestor of the midnight rambler.

At present (1923) there is living in New York a
_(:!almant to the Chiefship of the clan, who signs himself

Clann Fhearguis of Strachur,’”’ who has been the hero
of many strange adventures, and avers that his ancestors
possessed lands on Loch Fyneside.

1006
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Whatever the authority for the various parts of the
statement as given by the astonishing young Highlander
above mentioned, it is certain, so far as Gaelic tradition
can go, that the first important settlement on these shores
from the north of Ireland was made ‘in the year 503 by
three brothers, Lorn, Fergus, and Angus, sons of Erc, of
the Royal Scottish race; so Clan Fergusson can claim a
sufficiently high antiquity for its name, though it may be
difficult to prove direct descent from these early Scoto-
Irish chiefs.

This traditional origin of the clan name was turned to
amusing and useful account on one historic occasion. In
1583, after the escape of King James VI. from the Earl of
Gowrie and other lords of the English faction who had
made him prisoner at the Raid of Ruthven, he summoned
a number of hostile ministers of the Kirk to appear before
him at Dunfermline. Their reception was anything but
friendly, and the situation was only saved by the quaint
humour of one of them, Mr. David Ferguson. The King,
he averred, ought to listen to him if no other, for he had
relinquished the crown in his favour. Was not he,
Ferguson, the descendant of Fergus, the first Scottish
king, and had he not cheerfully resigned the title to his
Grace, as he was an honest man, and had possession.
By this, and more to like effect, mixed with some subtle
flatteries of the King’s literary performances, he turned
James’s wrath aside and secured a peaceful dismissal.

In the sixth century a holder of the name played a part
which has had far-reaching effect upon the later Christian
history of Scotland. In the early Life of St. Mungo or
Kentigern, it is related how in the year 543 that Saint,
himself a member of the royal British race, having left the
household of his early protector, St. Serf, at Culross,
came, at Carnock near Stirling, to the door of a certain
holy man, Fregus or Fergus, then on the point of death.
This holy man directed Kentigern to place his body after
death upon a car, to harness to it two unbroken bullocks,
and to take it for burial whither the bullocks might lead.
With his sacred charge Kentigern made his way to a place
then known as Cathures, now Glasgow, and at a little
burying-ground on the banks of the Molendinar, which
had been consecrated by St. Ninian 150 years before,
he buried the body. The spot is now covered by
Blackadder’s Aisle, on the south side of Glasgow
Cathedral, which is otherwise known, from the fact just
narrated, as Fergus’ Aisle. Within a few yards of it
Kentigern raised his early chapel and cell, and from that
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spot spread the Christian gospel through the whole
province of the Strathclyde Britons, before he died in 603.

Meantime there had been at least one other King of
Scots of the name of Fergus, which, as a matter of fact,
is said to be derived from the Gaelic Fear, a man,
Gais, a spear, and to be cognate to the English name
Shakespeare; so the Clan Fergus might claim descent
from several royal forebears, as well as from Fergus, Lord
of Galloway, in 1165, whose wife was a daughter of
Henry 1. of England. The first solid mention of the
name in more modern history, however, is in the charter
by which King Robert the Bruce conferred certain lands
in Ayrshire on ‘ Fergusio filio Fergusii,”” who was
ancestor of the family of Kilkerran, of which Lieut.-
General Sir Charles Fergusson is the head at the present
hour. Families of the name, it is true, were to be found
in other parts of the country, and Thomas, Earl of Mar,
granted a charter of the lands of Auchenerne in Cromarty
to Eoghan or Ewen Fergusson, who appears in the
confirmation granted by David II. at Kildrummie Castle
in 1364 as “ Egoni Filio Fergussii.”” There have been
Fergusons for six centuries in Balquhidder, represented
now by those of Immerveulin and of Ardandamh, the latter
in Laggan on Loch Lubnaig in Strathyre. Fergussons weré
also to be found in Mar and Athol, where, in the clan map
included in Brown’s History of the Highlands, the neigh-
bourhood of Dunfallandie is given as the country of
Baron Fergusson. Dunfallandie is still in possession of
this ancient family, who have owned it since the time
of King John Baliol.

It is difficult to say who claimed the chiefship in those
early centuries, although in the roll drawn up in 1587 the
Fergussons appear among the *‘ clanis that hes capitanes,
cheiffis, and chiftanes quhome on they depend.” The
most notable family of the name, however, since the days
of Bruce has undoubtedly been that of Kilkerran.
Another noted family has” been that of Fergusson of
Craigdarroch in Glencairn parish, one of whom remains
famous as the victor in the tremendous drinking bout
celebrated in Robert Burns’ poem, ‘‘ The Whistle.”
This family definitely claims descent from Fergus, the
powerful Lord of Galloway of the twelfth century, already
mentioned.

. From the Fergus Fergusson of Robert the Bruce's
time, the lands of Kilkerran descended to Sir John
Fergusson, Knight, of the days of Charles 1., when the
family suffered considerable "reverses of fortune, and
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had their lands alienated. Presently, however, John
Fergusson, son of Simon Fergusson of Auchinwin, the
youngest son of Sir John, acquired great reputation and
fortune as an advocate, advanced the funds for clearing
the family estate, and in 1703 was created a Baronet of
Nova Scotia. Sir James, the eldest son of the first
baronet, was also a noted lawyer, who became a judge of
the Court of Session and Court of Justiciary in 1749,
under the title of Lord Kilkerran. He married the only
child of Lord Maitland, son of the fifth Earl of Lauder-
dale, and grandson of the twelfth Earl of Glencairn, and
of his nine sons and five daughters, the fourth son George
also became a Lord of Session as Lord Hermand. The
eldest son, Sir Adam Fergusson, who was an LL.D.,
represented Ayrshire in Parliament for eighteen years and
the city of Edinburgh for four.

Sir Adam’s nephew and successor, Sir James
Fergusson, married the second daughter of the famous Sir
David Dalrymple, Bart., Lord Hailes, who himself had
married a daughter of Sir James Fergusson, Bart., Lord
Kilkerran, and his eldest son and successor, Sir Charles,
married the second daughter of the Right Hon. David
Boyle, Lord Justice General of Scotland, and aunt of the
seventh Earl of Glasgow. The son of this pair was the
late Right Hon. Sir James Fergusson, Bart.,, P.C.,
K.C.M.G., of Kilkerran, who, among his many dis-
tinguished offices was Governor of Bombay, Governor of
South Australia, and of New Zealand, as well as M.P. for
Ayrshire and Under-Secretary of State for India and for
the Home Department. To the end of his life he took an
active part in public affairs, and was chairman of a
commission for the furtherance of cotton-growing in the
British colonies when he was killed in the great earthquake
at Jamaica in 1907. His wife was a daughter of the
Marquess of Dalhousie, and his son, Lieut.-General Sir
Charles Fergusson, Bart., of Kilkerran, the present head
of the family, is a very distinguished soldier.

Sir Charles joined the Grenadier Guards in 1883,
became Adjutant in 18go, and, at the outbreak of the
Sudan War in 1896, transferred to the Egyptian army, and
served with the 1oth Sudanese Battalion throughout the
campaign of 1896-7-8. During this campaign he was
severely wounded at Rosaires, was five times mentioned
in despatches, had the brevets of Major, Lieut.-Colonel,
and Colonel, and received the D.S.0O. and the medal with
eight clasps. He commanded the 6th Sudanese Battalion
in 1899, and the garrison and district of Omdurman in
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1900, and closed his record in Egypt as Adjutant-General
from 1901 to 1go3. Afterwards he commanded the 3rd
Battalion of the Grenadier Guards from 1g9o4 till 1907, -
was Brigadier-General on the General Staff of the Irish
Command from 1907 till 1908, and Inspector of Infantry
from 1909 till 1913. He is a Justice of the Peace, a Deputy
Lieutenant of Ayrshire, and a Commander of the Bath.
In 1901 he married Lady Alice Mary Boyle, second
daughter of the Earl of Glasgow, by whom he has three
sons and one daughter. At the outbreak of the great
European War Sir Charles was appointed to the command
of the Second Division of the British Expeditionary Force
in France, receiving the rank of Lieut.-General, and he was
throughout actively and gallantly engaged in the arduous
work of the campaign at the Front.

Among other celebrated people of the name of
Fergusson a few out of a long list may be noted here.
One of the most famous was David Ferguson, the
Reformer, already referred to, who died in 1598, who was
first a glover, then a minister at Dunfermline, who
preached before the Regent against the taking away of
church property, was Moderator of the General Assembly
twice, and one of a deputation which administered one of
the numerous admonishments to King James VI. He com-
piled a collection of Scottish proverbs, and wrote a curious
critical analysis of the Song of Solomon. There was
Robert Ferguson, ‘‘ the Plotter,”” who died in 1714. He
took an ardent part in the controversy about the legitimacy
of the Duke of Monmouth, was one of the chief contrivers
of the Rye House Plot, was chaplain to Monmouth’s army,
and accompanied William of Orange in his landing in 1688.
He afterwards became a Jacobite, and was committed to
Newgate, but never brought to trial. More famous still
was Robert Fergusson, the Scottish poet and exemplar of
Burns, who died in 1774, and for whom Burns erected a
tombstone in Canongate Churchyard. There was also
Adam Fergusson, the Professor of Philosophy at Edin-
burgh, in whose house, the Sciennes at Edinburgh, Sir
Walter Scott as a boy had his memorable meeting with
Robert Burns. At the death of Robert Burns’ friend, the
Earl of Glencairn, in 1796, Professor Ferguson made a
claim to the earldom before the House of Lords as lineal
descendaqt of and heir general to Alexander, created Earl
of Gle‘ncal‘rn in 1488, and to Alexander, Earl of Glencairn,
who died in 1670, through the latter’s eldest daughter, Sir
Adam’s great-grandmother, Lady Margaret Cunningham,
wife of John, Earl of Lauderdale, and mother of James,
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Lord Maitland, above referred to. But the Lords decided
¢“ although Sir Adam Ferguson has shown himself to he
heir general to Alexander, Earl of Glencairn, who died in
1670, he hath not made out a right of such heir to the
dignity of the Earl of Glencairn.”

Last who may be noted was Sir Adam Ferguson, son
of the above and long a familiar friend of Sir Walter Scott,
who as a Captain of the 101st Regiment read the Sixth
Canto of The Lady of the Lake to his company in the
lines of Torres Vedras, afterwards became keeper of the
Regalia of Scotland, and was knighted in 1822. - Regard-
ing him Lockhart in his Life of Scott recounts an amusing
incident in which the poet Crabbe was concerned. He
quotes the Life of Crabbe, in which that poet describes
how on this occasion he met ‘‘ Lord Errol, and the
MacLeod, and the Fraser, and the Gordon, and the
Ferguson,” and conversed at dinner with Lady Glengarry.
In a note regarding the allusion to Fergusson, Lockhart
says :

v Sir Walter’s friend, the Captain of Huntly Burn, did
not, as far as I remember, sport the Highland dress on
this occasion, but no doubt his singing of certain Jacobite
songs, etc., contributed to make Crabbe set him down for
a chief of a clan. Sir Adam, how<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>